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JEAN-PIERRE SOMMADOSS!, PH]
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFIC
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l HEPATITIS B VIRUS (HBV)

Tyzeka?/Sebivo?
{telhivudine)

HEPATITIS C VIRUS (HCV)

Nucleotide Prodrugs
IDX 184 (IDX102)

Protease inhibitors
IDXSCA, IDXSCB

non-nucleoside
Polymerase Inhibitors

B

NNRTI
1DX89%

*TyzekarSebivo was co-developed by Idenix and Novartis Pharma AG. Novartis has exclusive
worldwide commercialization rights 10 Tyzekassebivo.




“In 2007, idenix experienced a great deal of change, which enabled us to re-assess the
strategic direction of our company and re-evaluate our focus. I am very pleased to
report that the company continues to be grounded by a strong scientific foundation
that enables us to rapidly discover novel antiviral drug candidates.”

Jean-Pierre Sommadossi, Ph.D., Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of ldenix a

Dear Shareholder,

In 2007, Idenix experienced a great deal of change.
ldenix began 2007 with a strong research and
development group and an aspiring commercial
organization, with our first approved product for the
treatment of hepatitis B. We spent the better part of
the year engaged in the continuing development of our
commercial presence in the United States, following
regulatory approval of Tyzeka® {telbivudine) at the end
of 2006, and began building our commercial franchise
in the European Union in anticipation of EU regulatory
approval for Sebivo® {telbivudine), In the first quarter of
2007, Sebivo was approved in China, followed shorily
thereafter by approval in the EU.

By the end of the second quarter of 2007, we were

wizll on our way to achieving our corporate mission of
becoming a feading antiviral franchise. Tyzeka/Sehivo
was being approved by regulatery authorities around
the world for the treatment of HBV and we had & robust
pipeling, including a phase Il drug candidate for the
treatment of hapatitis C and an early-stage HIV drug
candidate.

Change is a difficult thing for an organization - but what
emerges on the other side of a game-changing event
scys a great deal about the strength of an organization's
foundation. For Idenix, that game-changing event was
the discontinuation of the development of valopicitabine,
or NM283, in the third quarter of 2007, which had been
our lead drug candidate for the treatment of hepatitis C.
i am extremely proud of how our company responded to
this challenge, We re-assessec the strategic direction of
our company, re-gvaluated our focus and implemented
a strategic restructuring. As part of the restructuring,
Novartis Pharma AG assumed full responsibility for the
development, manufacturing and commercialization
activities relating to Tyzeka/Sebivo effective October 1,
2007 in exchange for a royalty on worldwide product

sales, As a result of these changes, we reduced

our workforce by approximately 100 positions, the
majority of which supported the development and
commercialization of TyzekasSebivo in the United States
and Eurcpe. The restructuring was difficult - it was hard
to part ways with very talented people who had given
their all to Idenix - and on a personal level, it was one of
the toughest points in my tenure as CEO.

I am very proud of the company's efforts on Tyzeka/
Sebivo - to bring a drug from an investigational new
drug application (IND} to United States Food and Drug
Administration approval in just over six years and have
the drug approved in more than 50 countries within

12 months of U.S. approval is quite an achievement,
That experience is not common ameng biotechnology
companies; having succeeded once, | am confident that
we will be able to do it again.

We are fortunate that since Idenix’s beginning, we have
been grounded by an exceptional scientific foundation
that has enabled us to quickly discover novel antivirals.
For the past two years, we have dedicated a great deal
of time and energy to the discovery of drug candidates
for the treatment of HCV and HIV. By year-end 2007,

we had expanded our pipeline to include several novel
direct-acting HCV product candidates and advanced
our novel non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor
{NNRTI} development program for the treatment of HIV,

HIV DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM

IDX899, a non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase inhibitor,
is our lead drug candidate for the treatment of HIV-1.
During 2007, we filed a traditional IND for this compound
and advanced IDX899 into man, first in healthy
volunteers and then into a phase ib/lla proof-of-concept
clinical study in H\v-infected individuats who had not
been exposed to prior therapy (alsc known as treatment-
naive patients).
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As we begin 2008 and approach the anniversary of our tenth year in business, we are
a stronger, leaner organization that will devote all of our resources to the discovery
and continued development of antiviral drugs for the treatment of HCV and HIV.

There are several needs that exist today within
the HIV treatment market and we believe

that a drug must have three key attributes to
ultimately be successful:

* First, a new drug should have an excellent
resistance profile. For many HIV patients
today, treatment is chronic. Since resistance
will build to any antiviral drug if the virus is
not completely suppressed, it is important
with chronic therapy that such resistance
occur only after extended treatment.

New drugs should be active against the
resistant strains that emerge from previous
generation therapies.

« Second, a new drug should be potent and
safe to effectively treat patients as a long-
term chrenic therapy.

s Third, the drug should be conveniently
dosed; ideally once-per-day in & low
milligram formulation that could be
administered as part of a single pill
combination therapy.

Based on data from the studies we have
conducted to date, we are very excited about
the emerging profile of IDX8%% as we believe
it could provide advantages over currently
approved and emerging NNRTIS in all of these
areas.

HCV DISCOVERY PROGRAM

Idenix has a comprehensive HCV discovery
program that began to show promise in late
2007. We are actively pursuing compounds
from all three major classes of direct-acting
HCV antivirals, but have focused our immediate
attention on two of these classes: next-generation
nuclecside/nucleotide polymerase inhibitors
and protease inhibitors, as we believe that
these two drug classes could be ideally suited
for combinaticn therapy.

Our HCV nucleoside polymerase inhibitor
program comprises two novel nucleotide
prodrugs, IDX184 and IDX102, which are based
on our proprietary liver-targeting technology.
Our liver-targeting technology delivers high
levels of nucleoside triphosphate in the

liver, potentially maximizing drug efficacy

and limiting systemic side effects. Based on
preclinical data, we expect to submit an IND in
the United States and & CTA in Europe for at
least cne of these product candidates in 2008.

We also have made significant progress in
our protease inhibitor discovery program,
with the identification of two major chemical
macrocyclic scaffolds with activity against

the HCV protease. The scaffold is the master
chemical structure that can be medified into
a variety of different compounds. Our talented




chemists have generated a comprehensive
library of potential clinical candidates that have
demonstrated potent and selective antiviral
activity in preclinical studies tc date.

Qur second-generation HCV drug candidates
could offer improvements over direct-acting
compounds currently in chinical development.
For example, in preclinical studies, our second-
generation polymerase inhibitor, IDX184,
delivered multi-log viral load reductions in HCV
genotype-1 infected chimpanzees in just four
dzys - in line with the antiviral activity reported
to ¢ate from protease inhibitors currently in
development. We look forward to filing an IND
ard advancing IDX184 into the clinic in 2008 to
evaluate this drug candidate in HCV-infected
petients,

HCV nucleosides/nucleotides and HCV
protease inhibitors act at different stages of
HCV replication. We intend t0 assess the
cembination of these two classes given that
such combination may result in a treatment
more potent and durable than any one class
as a stand-alone drug.

CONTINUED PROGRESS

As we begin 2008 and approach the anniver-
sary of our tenth year in business, we are a
stronger organization that will devote all of
our resources to the discovery and continued
development of antiviral drugs for the
treatment of HCV and HIV. Within the next 12

months, we look forward to continuing the
clinical development of IDX899, partnering
our HIV program, and advancing our HCV
nuclectide prodrug and macrocyclic protease
inhibitor programs into the clinic. If the
promising preclinical data generated to

date are also seen in HCv-infected patients,
the combination of our second-generation
polymerase and protease inhibitors could lead
to very exciting changes in the HCV treatment
paradigm.

I wolld like to take this opportunity to thank
our employees, board members and trusted
advisors. Without them, and your continued
support, Idenix could not have re-emerged
from a difficult year in a position of such
strength. 1 look forward to sharing with you our
progress throughout the year.

Sincerely,

Jean-Pierre Sommadossi, Ph.D.
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

March 31, 2008
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Cautionary Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 2 LE of the Securities Exchange Act, as amended, concerning
our business, operations and financial condition, including statements with respect to the expected timing and
results of completion of phases of development of our product candidates, the safety, efficacy and potential benefits
of our product candidates, expectations with respect to development and commercialization of telbivudine and our
other product candidates, the timing and results of the submission, acceptance and approval of regulatory filings, the
scope of patent protection with respect to these product candidates and information with respect to the other plans
and strategies for our business. All statements other than statements of historical facts included in this Annual
Reporton Form 10-K regarding our strategy, future operations, timetables for developrent, regulatory approval and
commercialization of product candidates, financial position, costs, prospects, plans and objectives of management

SE IS

are forward-looking statements. When used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K the words “expect”, “anticipate”,
“intend”, “may”, “plan”, “believe”, “seek”, “estimate”, “projects”, “will”, “would” and similar expressions or
express or implied discussions regarding potential new products or regarding future revenues from such products,
potential future expenditures or liabilities or by discussions of strategy, plans or intentions are intended to identify
forward-looking statements, although not all forward-looking statements contain these identifying words. Because
these forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties, actual results, performance
or achievements could differ materially from those expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements for a
number of important reasons, including those discussed under “Risk Factors”, “Management’s Discussion and
Analyiis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. In
particular, management’s expectations could be affected by, among other things, uncertainties involved in the
development of new pharmaceutical products, including unexpected clinical trial results; unexpected regulatory
actions or delays or government regulation generally; the company's ability to obtain or maintain patent or other
proprietary intellectual property protection; competition in general; government, industry and genera! public
pricing pressures; and uncertainties regarding necessary levels of expenditures in the future. There can be no
guarantee that development of any product candidates described will succeed or that any new products will obtain
necessary regulatory approvals required for commercialization or otherwise be brought to market. Similarly, there
can be no guarantee that we or one or more of our current or future products, if any, will achieve any particular level
of revenue.’

You should read these forward-looking statements carefully because they discuss our expectations regarding
our future performance, future operating results or future financial condition, or state other “forward-looking”
information. You should be aware that the occurrence of any of the events described under “Risk Factors” and
elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K could substantially harm our business, results of operations and
financial condition and that upon the occurrence of .any of these events, the price of our common stock could
decline.

We cannot guarantee any future results, levels of activity, performance or achievements. Should one or more of
these risks or uncertainties materialize, or should underlying assumptions prove incorrect, actual results may vary
materially from those described in this Form 10-K as anticipated, believed, estimated or expected. The forward-
looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K represent our expectations as of the date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K and should not be relied upon as representing our expectations as of any other date.
Subsequent events and developments will cause our expectations to change. However, while we may elect to update
these forward-locking statements, we specifically disclaim any obligation to do so, even if our expectations change.




PART 1

Item 1. Business.
The Company

Idenix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is a biopharmaceutical company engaged in the discovery and development of
drugs for the treatment of human viral and other infectious diseases with operations in the United States and Europe.
Our current focus is on diseases caused by hepatitis C virus, or HCV, and human immunodeficiency virus, or HIV.

References to “we,” “us,” “our” and similar expressions mean Idenix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and our consol-
idated subsidiaries.

2007 Developments
HBY

Prior to October 1, 2007, we developed, commercialized and manufactured telbivudine for the treatment of
patients with chronic hepatitis B. Certain of these activities were done with Novartis Pharma AG, or Novartis.
Telbivudine is marketed as Tyzeka® in the United States and Sebivo® outside the United States. In April 2007,
Sebivo® was approved in the European Union for the treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B. At
December 31, 2007, Tyzeka®/Sebivo® was approved in more than 50 countries world-wide, including China.

In September 2007, we entered into an amendment to the development, license and commercialization
agreement dated May 8, 2003 between us and Novartis, which we refer to as the 2007 Amendment. When we refer
to the development and commercialization agreement, we mean the 2003 original agreement, the 2007 Amendment
and all prior amendments. We and Novartis also entered into a transition services agreement, or aTSA, as part of the
2007 Amendment. Pursuant to the 2007 Amendment, we transferred to Novartis our development, commercial-
ization and manufacturing rights and obligations pertaining to telbivudine (Tyzeka®/Sebivo®) on a worldwide basis.
Effective October 1, 2007, we began receiving royalty payments equal to a percentage of net sales of Tyzeka®/
Sebivo®, with such percentage increasing according to specified tiers of net sales. The royalty percentage varies
based upon the territory and the aggregate dollar amount of net sales.

In conjunction with the 2007 Amendment, we announced a restructuring of our operations and we initiated a
plan to enact a workforce reduction of approximately 100 positions, the majority of which had supported the
development and commercialization of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® in the United States and Europe. The restructuring was a
strategic decision on our behaif to focus our resources on our HCV and HIV discovery and development programs.

In the third quarter of 2007, we also decided not to continue with the development of valtorcitabine, our other
product candidate for the treatment of hepatitis B virus, or HBV.

HCV

In July 2007, we announced that the U.S. Food and Drug Administration, or FDA, had placed on clinica! hold
in the United States our development program of valopicitabine, or NM283, for the treatment of HCV based on the
overall risk/benefit profile observed in clinical testing. We subsequently discontinued the development of
valopicitabine.

Our HCV discovery, program is focused on three classes of drugs for the treatment of HCV, which include
nucleoside/nucleotide polymerase inhibitors, protease inhibitors and non-nucleoside polymerase inhibitors. We
currently have two next-generation nucleoside/nucleotide polymerase inhibitors, IDX102 and IDX184, in late-
stage preclinical development.

HIV

In April 2007, we filed an investigational new drug application, or IND, for IDX899; our lead HIV product
candidate and recently completed our first cohort in an ongoing phase /Il study in HIV-infected, treatment-naive
patients.



Overview

We believe that large market opportunities exist for new treatments for HCV and HIV. Chronic hepatitis C is an
inflammatory liver disease associated with HCV infection. The World Health Organization has estimated that
approximately 170 million people worldwide are chronically infected with HCV, including over 2.7 million people
in the United States. The World Health Organization has estimated that approximately 40 million people worldwide
are chronically infected with HIV, including more than | million people in the United States.

In May 2003, we entered into the collaboration with Novartis, relating to the worldwide development and
commercialization of our product candidates. Simuitaneously, Novartis purchased approximately 54% of our
outstanding capital stock from our stockholders for $255.0 million in cash, with an aggregate amount of up to
$357.0 million contingently payable to these stockholders if we achieve predetermined development milestones
relating to an HCV product candidate. Including shares acquired in 2005 from its affiliate, Novartis BioVentures
Ltd., and shares acquired as a result of the exercise of its stock subscription rights, as of March 3, 2008 Novartis
owns approximately 56% of our outstanding common stock. In connection with its initial purchase of our common
stock, Novartis agreed not to acquire additional shares of our voting stock unless a majority of our independent
directors approves or requests the acquisition. These restrictions will terminate on May 8, 2008.

" As part of the development and commercialization agreement between us and Novartis, Novartis has an option
to license any of our development-stage product candidates, generally 90 days after early demonstration of activity
and safety in a proof of concept clinical study. Novartis will have an option to license IDX899, our lead product
candidate for HIV.

In July 2007, we announced that the FDA had placed on clinical hold in the United States our development
program of valopicitabine. We subsequently discontinued the development of valopicitabine. As a result, we do not
expect to receive any additional license fees or milestone payments for valopicitabine from Novartis. Under the
development and commercialization agreement, Novartis agreed to pay us up to $500.0 million in license fees and
regulatory milestone payments for an HCV product candidate. Of this amount and prior to our discontinuation of
valopicitabine, wé received a $25.0 million license payment from Novartis, an additional $25.0 million milestone
payment based upon results from our phase I clinical trial and Novartis provided clinical development funding for
valopicitabine.

As a direct result of the transfer of our development, commercialization and manufacturing rights and
obligations to telbivudine on a worldwide basis to Novartis, on September 28, 2007 we announced a restructuring of
our operations and a workforce reduction of approximately 100 positions, including the termination of our sales
force in the United States and Europe. We continue to have co-promotion and co-marketing rights with Novartis in
the United States, United Kingdom, France, Germany, Italy and Spain on all other products that Novartis licenses
from us that are successfully developed and approved for commercial sales. Novartis has the exclusive right to
promote and market these licensed products in the rest of the world.

We have incurred significant losses since our inception in May 1998, While our operating expenses for 2008 will
be considerably less than that for 2007, we expect that operating expenses for 2009 and beyond may increase as we
expand our drug discovery and development efforts.

We maintain a web site with the address www.idenix.com. We are not including the information contained on
our web site as part of, or incorporating by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make available free
of charge on or through our web site our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K and all amendments to those reports as soon as practicable after such material is electronically
filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC. In addition, copies of our reports filed
electronically with the SEC may be accessed on the SEC’s web site at www.sec.gov. The public may also read and
copy any materials filed with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC
20549, Information on the operation of the Public Reference Room may be obtained by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330. We intend to disclose on our web site any amendments to, or waivers from, our code of business
conduct and ethics that are required to be disclosed pursuant to rules and regulations promulgated by the SEC.

We are a Delaware corporation. OQur principal offices are located at 60 Hampshire Street, Cambridge,
Massachusetts 02139. The telephone number of our principal executive offices is 617-995-9800. Idenix is one of
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our registered trademarks or service marks. All other trademarks, service marks, or tradenames referenced in this
Annual Report on Form 10-K are the property of their respective owners.

In this Annual Report, all references to Tyzeka® (trade name of telbivudine in the United States), Sebivo®
{trade name of telbivudine for countries other than the United States) and Tyzeka®/Sebivo® refer to telbivudine.

Products and Product Candidates

We believe that our product candidates may have one or more therapeutic features that we believe will afford
competitive advantages over currently approved therapies. Such therapeutic features may include efficacy, safety,
resistance profile or convenience of dosing. The product candidates that we are developing are selective and
specific, intended for convenient oral administration, and we believe may be used in combination with other
therapeutic agents to improve clinical benefits.

Hepatitis C
HCV Discovery Program

We have a comprehensive HCV discovery program that is focused on small molecule anti-HCV compounds
from each of the three relevant drug classes: nucleoside/nucleotide polymerase inhibitors, non-nucleoside poly-
merase inhibitors and protease inhibitors. The key objective of our HCV discovery program is to identify and
develop products that we believe will be competitive by offering significant improvements when combined with or
compared to currently approved therapies with regard to safety, efficacy, resistance or convenience of dosing. Our
efforts are focused on the discovery of product candidates that we expect will be active against various strains of
HCYV, including the genotype 1 strain of HCV, which is responsible for more than 70% of HCV infections in the

United States and Japan and almost 65% of HCV infections in Europe.
]

Our most advanced program is next-generation nucleoside/nucleotide polymerase inhibitors. We have
identified two candidates, IDX 102 and IDX 184, which are in late stage preclinical testing. We are in discussions,
with Novartis regarding the clinical development of these product candidates. With respect to IDX102 and IDX 184,
we expect to submit an IND in the United States and a clinical irial authorization, or CTA, in Europe for at least one
of these product candidates in 2008. We have also identified several promising protease inhibitor compounds and
project to file an IND and/or CTA from this program sometime during the first quarter of 2009. We believe that
successful development of two or more HCV product candidates that may be used as part of a muitiple-drug
combination therapy would enable us to establish a franchise in this therapeutic area by offering treatments to a
broad HCV population, including those patients who cannot be treated with interferon-based therapies, those for
whom drug-related adverse side effects and inconvenient dosing regimens of existing therapies reduce compliance,
or those for whom existing treatment regimens have been ineffective.

Nucleoside and nucleotide inhibitors are classes of small molecule compounds that have a proven record of
success as antiviral agents. Nucleosides/nucleotides are small, natural chemical compounds that function as the
building blocks of human and viral genetic material, commonly referred to as deoxyribonucleic acid, or DNA, or
ribonucleic acid, or RNA. Nucleoside/nucleotides inhibitors are small molecules that effectively target viral
polymerases, the enzymes that replicate viral genetic information. Mimicking'the role of natural nucleosides,
antiviral nucleoside inhibitors are incorporated by viral polymerases into replicating viral genomes. This event
leads to chain termination preventing the virus from reproducing its genetic material. As drugs, nucleosides and
nucleotides generally offer selectivity, antivirat activity, long duration of action and convenient oral administration.
As a result, nucleosides and nucleotides may be particularly well suited for the treatment of chronic viral diseases.

Viral proteases are required for viral replication. The HCV virus proteins are initially created as one long
protein which is then cut into smaller proteins by the HCV protease enzyme. These smaller proteins then join
together to form a replication complex to reproduce the viral genetic material. HCV protease inhibitors block the
cutting of the initial large protein and thus block the formation of the replication complex preventing the virus from
reproducing.



Since HCV nucleosides/nucleotides and HCV protease inhibitors act at different stages of HCV replication,
the combination of these two classes may result in a potent combination treatment. Combining drugs from two
different ciasses of HCV inhibitors could lead to a more potent blockade of HCV replication and prevent the
emergence of drug resistance to either drug.

Valopicitabine

In July 2007, we announced that the FDA had placed on clinical hold in the United States our devefopmenl ‘
prograrn for valopicitabine for the treattment of HCV, based on the overall risk/benefit profile observed in clinical
testing. As a result of the clinical hold, the development of valopicitabine was discontinued.

HIV

In addition to our HCV discovery and development program, we are also engaged in efforts 10 develop
therapeutics for the treatment of HIV-1 from the class of compounds known as non-nucleoside reverse transcriptase
inhibitors, or NNRTIs. This class of drugs is being evaluated for once-a-day oral administration. We filed an IND for
IDX8%% in 2007 and completed a phase I dose escalation study in healthy volunteers. The phase 1 study was
designed to assess the safely and pharmacokinetics of IDX899 in healthy volunteers. In this study, IDX899
gppeared 1o be well tolerated at single doses up to 1200 mg and multiple doses up to 800 mg daily over a seven day

eriod. No serious or clinically significant adverse events were reported for the 65 IDX899-treated volunteers in this
study. One healthy volunteer, after the 400 mg single dose administration of this study, experienced a single

nconfirmed QTc elevation. We believe this is not a significant clinical finding as it is within the expected
variability of multiple QTc measurements in a healthy volunteer study. Two volunteers discontinued from the study
due to adverse events.

We are currently evaluating IDX899 in a 7-day proof of concept study in HIV-infected treatment-naive
atients. In the first dosing cohort, eight HIV-1 infected treatment-naive patients receiving 800 mg of IDX899 once-
aily achieved a median reduction in virus level of approximately 2 logs or 99% after seven days of treatment. No
erious adverse events or pattern of laboratory abnormalities were observed. No patients discontinued from the
00 mg cohort.

epatitis B
Telbivudine
Transition to Novartis

On October 25, 2006, the FDA approved Tyzeka® for the treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B in the
nited States. In addition, Sebivo® has been approved in more than 50 countries outside the United States, including
witzerland, China and the European Union for the treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B. Effective
ctober 1, 2007, we transferred to Novartis our development, commercialization and manufacturing rights and
bligations related to telbivudine on a worldwide basis in exchange for royalty payments equal to a percentage of
et sales, with such percentage increasing according to specified tiers of net sales. Beginning in the fourth quarter of
007, Novartis is sclely responsible for clinical trial costs and related expenditures associated with telbivudine. We
1s¢ transitioned to Novartis all ongoing clinical trials and commercial activities for telbivudine.

The original worldwide marketing applications for telbivudine were based on one-year data from a two-year
nternational phase 111 clinical trial that we refer to as the GLOBE study. The final two-year results from the GLOBE
tudy were submitted to the FDA in December 2007 as a supplementary NDA, or sNDA, and are expected to
rovide additional information intended for supplemental product labeling regarding the effects of longer-term
reatment with telbivudine. An additional NDA for an oral solution formulation of telbivudine was also submitted in
ecember 2007 for the primary purpose of allowing for more appropriate dose adjustments in patients with renal
mpairment.

In an effort 1o broaden the label to include patients with decompensated liver disease, there is an ongoing
ovartis-sponsored phase HI clinical trial in HBV-infected patients with decompensated liver disease. If com-
letion and analysis of this study yields positive results, we expect that an sNDA will be submitted to the FDA.
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Phase HIB/IV Clinical Trials

Prior to the transfer to Novarlis, we were also conducting several clinical trials to help further establish the
product profile of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®. We refer to these studies as phase IlIb or phase IV trials. These trials were
designed to provide additional information regarding the antiviral effects and clinical benefit of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®
compared to currently available treatments for HBYV, as well as to assess the potential benefit of combining Tyzeka®
Sebivo® with adefovir dipivoxil, as well as tenofivir. As a result of the 2007 Amendment, Novartis is now
responsible for completion of these phase IlIb and phase 1V trials.

Valtorcitabine

We had been developing a second HBV preduct candidate, valtorcitabine, as a potential combination therapy
with telbivudine in a phase IIb clinical trial. Following receipt of data from this clinical trial in the third quarter of
2007, we, with Novartis, decided not to advance this combination into phase Il development.

Antiviral Research

Qur scientists have a highly developed set of skills in compound generation, target selection, screening and
lead optimization and pharmacology and preclinical development. We are utilizing these skills and capabilities in
our discovery and development of antiviral product candidates.

Our Scientists,  Qur scientists are engaged in drug discovery and preclinical drug development. Our scientists
have expertise in the areas of medicinal chemistry, molecular virology and pharmacology, and have substantial
experience in applying this expertise to the discovery and development of nucleosides/nucleotides, non-nucleosides
and protease inhibitors which target enzymes of the viral replication cycle.

Focused Compound Library.  Qur focused compound library contains a diverse set of structures, which have
been synthesized for the principal purpose of targeting and inhibiting viral replication. These structures consist of
various nucleosides, nucleoside analogs, nucleotides, selected non-nucleosides and other small molecule com-
pounds, including protease inhibitors. In addition to our focused library, we have engaged with other entities o
obtain rights to libraries comprised of a significant number of compounds that may have utility targeting and
inhibiting viral replication.

Target Selection. We focus on viral diseases representing large and growing market opportunities with
significant unmet medical needs. Our selection of a particular therapeutic target within those viral diseases takes
into consideration the experience and expertise of our scientific management team and the potential that our
nucieoside/nucleotide, nucleoside analog, nucleotide, and non-nucleoside and protease inhibitor libraries and those
libraries to which we have access could yield a small molecule lead. The final selection is based on the probability of
being able to generate robust medicinal chemistry structure-activity relationships to assist lead optimization and
secure relevant intellectual property rights.

Screening. 'We believe that our efficiency in selecting a lead chemical structure from our focused library and
the libraries which we access distinguishes us from our competitors. Qur ability to synthesize multiple compounds
with antiviral activity in our Montpellier, France facilities enhances early progress toward lead optimization in our
Cambridge, Massachusetts facilities.

Pharmacology, Preclinical Development and Lead Optimization. Once we have identified lead compounds,
they are tested using in vitro and in vive pharmacology studies and in vivo animal models of antiviral efficacy in our
Cambridge, Massachusetts facilities. Using in vitro studies, our scientists are able o ascertain the relevance of
intracellular activation, metabolism and protein binding. The in vivo pharmacokinetic studies identify the
percentage of oral bioavailability and whole body metabolism of the compound. The animal models provide data
on the efficacy of the compound and firmly establish a proof of concept in a biologically relevant system.
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Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, were $85.8 mil-
lion, $96.1 million and $86.6 million, respectively, and represented 54%. 63%, and 72%, respectively, of our total
operating expenses.

Collaborations
Relationship with Novartis
Overview

On May 8, 2003, we entered into a collaboration with Novartis which included the following agreements and
transactions: )

» the development and commercialization agreement, under which we collaborate with Novartis to develop,
manufacture and commercialize our HBV product candidates and our HCV and other product candidates
which they license from us;

« the supply agreement, under which Novartis manufactured for us the active pharmaceutical ingredient, or
API, for the clinical development and commercial supply of product candidates it licensed from us and the
finishing and packaging of licensed products for commercial sale;

* the stockholders’ agreement, which was subsequently amended and restated in July 2004 in connection with
the closing of our initial public offering; and

» the stock purchase transaction, under which Novartis purchased approximately 54% of our outstanding
capital stock from our then existing stockholders for $255.0 million in cash, with an additional aggregate
amount of up to $357.0 million contingently payable to these stockholders if we achieve predetermined
milestones with respect to the development of an HCV product candidate.

In each of July 2004 and October 20035, in connection with our public offerings, Novartis purchased from us
additional shares of our common stock to maintain its equity interest following each offering. Specifically, Novartis
purchased from us 5,400,000 shares of our common stock for an aggregate purchase price of $75.6 million in
connection with our July 2004 initial public offering and 3,939,131 shares of common stock in exchange for an
aggregate purchase price of $81.2 million in connection with our October 20035 public offering. Additionally, in
connection with the consummation of our initial public offering, we sold to Novartis 1,100,000 shares of common
stock for a purchase price of $.001 per share in exchange for the termination of certain stock subscription rights held
by Novartis. As of March 3, 2008, Novartis owns approximately 56% of our outstanding common stock.

Development, License and Commercialization Agreement

Designation of Products

Ags part of the development and commercialization agreement between us and Novartis, Novartis has an option
to license any of our development-stage product candidates generally 90 days after early demonstration of activity
and safety in a proof of concept clinical study. To date, Novartis has exercised that option for the following products
and product candidates:

* Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, which was transferred to Novartis pursuant to the 2007 Amendment;
* valtorcitabine, our HBV product candidate, which we no longer continue to develop; and

* valopicitabine, our HCV product candidate, which was placed on clinical hold by the FDA in July 2007
based on the overall risk/benefit profile observed in clinical testing.

In September 2007, we entered into the 2007 Amendment and the TSA. The 2007 Amendment and TSA are
effective October 1, 2007. Pursuant to the 2007 Amendment, we transferred to Novartis our development,
commercialization and manufacturing rights and obligations related to telbivudine, our drug product for the
treatment of HBV, on a worldwide basis. The royalty payments we receive will be equal to a percentage of net sales
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of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, with such percentage increasing according to specified tiers of net sales. The royalty
percentage shall vary based upon the territory and the aggregate dollar amount of net sales. Novartis shall also
be responsible for certain costs associated with the transition of third party contracts and arrangements relating to
telbivudine and certain inteliectual property prosecution and enforcement activities. Pursuant to the TSA, we will
provide Novartis with certain services relating to telbivudine through June 2008 (or later if agreed to by the parties).
We will be reimbursed by Novartis for these services.

Novartis paid us a license fee of $75.0 million in May 2003 for Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and valtorcitabine. Novartis
also provided development funding and was obligated to make milestone paymenis which could have totaled up to
$35.0 million upon achievement of regulatory approvals for Sebivo® and valtorcitabine in Europe and China. Of these
$35.0 million in milestone payments, we received payment on two of these regulatory milestones in 2007 totaling
$20.0 million. We do not expect to receive any additional regulatory milestones for telbivudine or valtorcitabine.

In March 2006, Novartis exercised its option to license valopicitabine, our lead HCV product candidate at that
time. Under the development and commercialization agreement, Novartis agreed to pay us up to $300.0 million in
license fees and regulatory milestone payments for an HCV product candidate. Of this amount and as a result of its
oplion exercise, Novartis paid us a license fee of $25.0 million, paid us an additional $25.0 million milestone
paymemnt based upon results from our phase I clinical trial and provided devetopment funding for the product
candidate. In July 2007, we announced that the FDA had placed on clinical hold in the United States our
development program of valopicitabine for the treatment of HCV based on the overall risk/benefit profile observed
in clinical testing. We subsequently discontinued the development of valopicitabine. As a result, we do not expect to
receive any additional license fees or milestone payments for valopicitabine from Novartis. :

In addition, Novartis has the exclusive option (o obtain rights to other product candidates developed by us, orin
some cases licensed to us, so long as Novartis maintains ownership of 51% of our voting stock and for a speciﬁed;
period of time thereafter.

The terms of these options, including license fees, milestone payments and payments in reimbursement of
development expenses, vary according to the disease which the product candidate treats, the stage of development
of the product candidate, the present value of future cash flows of the product candidate relative to those previously
estimated for licensed products and product candidates, and Novartis’ ownership interest in Idenix.

Development of Products and Regulatory Activities

For the product candidates Novartis chooses to license, Novartis will have the right to approve, in it§
reasonable discretion, the development budget. We will develop each licensed product in accordance with
development plan approved by a joint steering committee. The joint steering committee is comprised of an equa:]=
number of representatives of Idenix and Novartis. Novartis will also be responsible for certain of the developmen
expenses incurred in accordance with approved development budgets for our product candidates that Novartis
licenses. The collaboration arrangement conternplates several joint committees in which we and Novartis partic
ipate. We participate in these committees as a means to govern or protect our interests. The committees span the
period from early development through commercialization of product candidates licensed by Novartis.

We have primary responsibility for preparing and filing regulatory submissions with respect to any licensed
product in the United States, and Novartis has primary responsibility for preparing and filing regulatory submis+
sions with respect to any licensed product in all other countries in the world. Under certain circumstances, primary|
responsibilities for all or certain regulatory tasks in a particular country may be switched from one party to the other

Product Commercialization

We initially granted Novartis an exclusive, worldwide license to market and sell Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, valtorci
tabine and valopicitabine, subject to our commercialization rights, Pursuant to the 2007 Amendment, we transferred
all our development, commercialization and manufacturing rights to Novariis relating to telbivedine (Tyzeka®
Sebivo®). In the third quarter of 2007 we discontinued development of valtorcitabine, our HBV product candidate
Valopicitabine, our HCV product candidate, was placed on clinical hold by the FDA in July 2007 based on thg
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overali risk/benefit profile observed in clinical testing. As a result, we will not continue with the development of
these product candidates.

In accordance with the arrangements set forth in our development and commercialization agreement with
Nowvariis, we have the right to co-promote or co-market with Novartis in the United States, United Kingdom, France,
Germany, Italy and Spain any products that Novartis licenses from us. If we co-promote or co-market, in the United
States, we will act as the lead commercial party and record revenue from product sales and will share equally the
resulting net benefit or net loss with Novartis from co-promotion from the date of product launch. In the United
Kingdom, France, Germany, Italy and Spain, Novartis will act as the lead commercial party and record revenue
‘from product sales. In the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Italy and Spain, the net benefit we might realize will
increase incrementally during the first three years from the date of product launch, such that we will share equally
with Novartis the net benefit from the co-promotion beginning in the third year from the date of product launch.

In other countries, we will effectively sell products to Novartis for their further sale to third parties. Novartis
will pay us to acquire such products at a price that is determined in part by the volume of product net sales under the
terms of the supply agreement described below.

Exclusivity

Novartis has agreed that it will not market, sell or promote, or grant a license to any third party to market, sell or
promote, certain competing products. However, if Novartis seeks to engage in such activities, it must first inform us
of the competitive product opportunity and, at our election, enter into good faith negotiations with us concerning
such opportunity. If we either do not elect to enter inte negotiations with respect to such opportunity or are unable to
reach agreement within a specified period, Novartis would be free to proceed with its plans with respect to such
competing product. The competitive restrictions on Novartis terminate on a country-by-country basis on the earlier
of May 8, 2008 or the termination of the development and commercialization agreement with respect to each
particular country. :

Indemnification

Under the development and commercialization agreement, we have agreed to indemnify Novartis and its
affiliates against losses suffered as a result of our breach of representations and warranties in the development and
commercialization agreement. We made numerous representations and warranties to Novartis regarding our HBV
product and product candidate and HCV product candidate, including representations regarding our ownership of
the inventions and discoveries, If one or more of our representations or warranties were not true at the time we made
them to Novartis, we would be in breach of this agreement. In the event of a breach by us, Novartis has the right to
seek indemnification from us for damages suffered as a result of such breach. The amounts for which we could be
liable to Novartis may be substantial. For additional information on such indemnification rights, see “Stock
Purchase Agreement”, “Risk Factors — Factors Related to Our Relationship with Novartis” and “Factors Related to.
Patents and Licenses.”

Termination

Novartis may terminate the development and commercialization agreement with respect to a particular
product, product candidate or country, in its sole discretion, by providing us with six months’ written notice. If
either we or Novartis materially breach the development and commercialization agreement and do not cure such
breach within 30 days, or under certain circumstances, 120 days, or if such breach is incurable, the non-breaching
party may terminate the development and commercialization agreement:

* with respect to the particular product, product candidate or country to which the breach relates; or
* in its entirety, if the material breach is not limited to a particular product, product candidate or country.

Each party may also terminate the development and commercialization agreement in its entirety upon 30 days’
ritten notice if the other party files for bankruptey, insolvency, reorganization or the like. If Novartis terminates the
evelopment and commercialization agreement for material breach by us, or for bankruptcy, insolvency or
eorganization on our part, then Novartis may elect to retain licenses to product candidates or products, in which
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case it will remain obligated to make payments to us in amounts to be negotiated in good faith at the time of
termination. If we terminate part or atl of the development and commercialization agreement for material breach by
Novartis, or for bankruptcy, insolvency or reorganization on the part of Novartis, or if Novartis terminates the
development and commercialization agreement unilaterally in the absence of a breach by us, we may be obligated to
make payments to Novartis in amounts to be negotiated in good faith at the time of termination.

Master Manufacturing and Supply Agreement

Under the master manufacturing and supply agreement, dated May 8, 2003, between Novartis and us, which
we refer to as the supply agreement, we appointed Novartis to manufacture or have manufactured the clinical supply
of the API for each product candidate licensed under the development and commercialization agreement and certain
other product candidates. The cost of the clinical supply will be treated as a development expense, allocated
between us and Novartis in accordance with the development and commercialization agreement. We have the
ability to appoint Novartis or a third party to manufacture the commercial supply of the API based on a competitive
bid process under which Novartis has the right to match the best third-party bid. Novartis will perform the finishing
and packaging of the APIs into the final form for sale,

In June 2006, after completing a competitive bid process where Novartis had the right to match the best third-
party bid, we entered into a commercial manufacturing agreement with Novartis and a packaging agreement with
Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, an affiliate of Novartis. Under the commercial manufacturing agreement,
Novartis would manufacture the commercial supply of Tyzeka® that was intended for sale in the United States. The,
packaging agreement provided that the supply of Tyzeka® intended for commercial sale in the United States would
be packaged by Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation. As a result of the 2007 Amendment, the commercial
manufacturing agreement and supply agreement were terminated as each related to telbivudine and we will worki
with Novartis to terminate our rights and obligations to the packaging agreement. Effective October 1, 2007,
Novartis is solely responsible for the manufacture and supply of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® on a worldwide basis. No,

penalties were incurred by us as a result of the termination of these agreements. i

Stockholders’ Agreement i

In connection with Novartis™ purchase of our stock from our then existing stockholders, we and substanually|
all of our stockholders entered into a stockholders’ agreement with Novartis which was amended and restated i m
2004 in connection with our initial public offering. Under the terms of the amended and restated stockholders’
agreement, we have:

« granted Novartis, together with certain other holders of our common stock, rights to cause us to register,
under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, such shares of common stock;

+ agreed to use our reasonable best efforts to nominate for election as a director at least two designees of
Novartis for so long as Novartis and its affiliates own at least 35% of our voting stock and at least one|
designee of Novartis for so long as Novartis and its affiliates own at least 19.4% of our voting stock;

|
+ granted Novartis approval rights over a number of corporate actions that we or our subsidiaries may take asi
long as Novartis and its affiliates continue to own at least 19.4% of our voting stock; and

* required that, with certain limited exceptions, Novartis and its affiliates not acquire additional shares of our
voting stock unless a majority of our independent directors approves or requests the acquisition. These]
restrictions will terminate on May 8, 2008, uniess sooner terminated under the terms of the stockholders
agreement.

Novartis’ Stock Purchase Rights

Novartis has certain righis to acquire shares of our capital stock. Such rights are further described below under
the heading “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates.”

12




Stock Purchase Agreement

Under the stock purchase agreement, dated March 21, 2003, which we refer to as the stock purchase
agreement, among us, Novartis and substantially all holders of our capital stock as of May 8, 2003, Novartis
purchased approximately 54% of our outstanding capital stock from our stockholders for $255.0 million in cash,
with an additional aggregate amount of up to $357.0 million contingently payable to these stockholders if we
achieve predetermined development milestones with respect to an HCV product candidate. The future contingent
payments are payable in cash or, under certain circumstances, Novartis AG American Depository Shares. At
present, Novartis owns approximately 56% of our outstanding common stock.

Under the stock purchase agreement, we agreed to indemnify Novartis and its affiliates against losses suffered
as a result of our breach of representations and warranties in the stock purchase agreement. In the stock purchase
agreement, we and our stockholders who sold shares to Novartis, which include certain of our directors and many of
our officers, made numerous representations and warranties. The stock purchase agreement representations and
watranties we made to Novartis regarding our HCV and HBV product candidates and our ownership of related
inventions and discoveries are substantially the same as the representations and warranties we made to Novartis in
the development and commercialization agreement. If one or more of our representations or warranties were not
true at the time we made them to Novartis, we would be in breach of this agreement. In the event of a breach by us,
Novartis has the right to seek indemnification from us and, under certain circumstances, us and our stockholders
who sold shares to Novartis for damages suffered by Novartis as a result of such breach. The amounts for which we
could be liable to Novartis may be substantial. For additional information on such indemnification rights, see
“Development, License and Commercialization Agreement,” “Risk Factors — Factors Related to Our Relationship
with Novartis” and “Factors Related to Patents and Licenses.”

Co-operative Laboratory Agreements
CNRS and the University of Montpellier

In May 2003, we and Novartis entered into an amended and restated agreement with Le Centre National de la
Recherche Scientifique, or CNRS, and L'Universite Montpellier 11, or the University of Montpellier, pursuant to
which we worked in collaboration with scientists from CNRS and the University of Montpellier to discover and
develop technologies relating to antiviral substances. The agreement includes provisions relating to ownership and
commercialization of the technology which is discovered or obtained as part of the collaboration as well as rights
regarding ownership and use of such technology, including telbivudine, which remain in effect following
termination of the agreement. This agreement amended and restated an agreement that our subsidiary, Idenix
SARL, the University of Montpellier and CNRS had originally entered into in January 1999, Under the terms of the
agrecment, we made payments to the University of Montpellier for use of the facilities, certain improvements to the
facilities and for supplies consumed in connection with research activities. This cooperative agreement expired in
December 2006, but we retain rights to exploit the patents derived from the collaboration.

University of Cagliari

We have entered into two agreements with the University of Cagliari, the co-owner of the patent abplications
covering our HCVand certain HIV technology upon which we currently rely. One agreement covers our cooperative
research program and the other agreement is an exclusive license under these patent applications to develop and sell
the jointly created HCV and HIV product candidates. In May 2003, Novartis became a party to each of these
agreements. The cooperative research agreement includes provisions with respect to cost sharing, ownership and
commercialization of the technology which is discovered or obtained as part of the collaboration, Under the terms
of the cooperative agreement, we make payments to the University of Cagliari for use of the facilities and for
supplies consumed in connection with the research activities, This agreement has been amended to extend the term
until January 2011.

Under the terms of the license agreement with the University of Cagliari, we have the exclusive worldwide
right to make, use and sell valopicitabine and certain other HCV and HIV technology and the right to sublicense any
of those rights. Under the terms of the agreement, we assume the costs and responsibility for filing, prosecuting,
maintaining and defending the jointly owned patents. If we receive license fees or milestone payments with respect
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to technology licensed to us by the University of Cagliari, we must provide payments to the University of Cagliari,
In addition, we will be liable to the University of Cagliari for a fixed royalty payment on worldwide sales of licensed
drug products. The license agreement terminates at the expiration of all royalty payment obligations, unless
terminated earlier by us, by the muiual agreement of the parties, or by a material breach of the terms of the
agreement.

Manufacturing

We have developed the capacity to synthesize compounds in quantities ranging from miltigrams to metric tons.
Our medicinal chemists focus on small-scale synthesis that leads to the discovery of new compounds and the

analysis of structure-activity relationships for each identified compound series. In addition, these scientists aim to

design efficient synthetic routes suitable for process chemistry scale up to the level of one-kilogram batches of the
lead molecule. This material supports key preclinical studies, including proof-of-principle studies in animal

models, early pharmacokinetic assays, initial toxicology studies and formulation development. The process -

chemistry facility we maintain in Cambridge, Massachusetts allows us to accelerate these key studies. This

facility also allows us to provide non-current good manufacturing practices, or cGMP, materials in quantities up to |

one kilogram to support early toxicelogical studies and the initial development of formulations. These formulations
could then be manufactured using cGMP material. We also contract with third parties, including Novartis, for the
synthesis of material used in our toxicology studies and for formulation development.

We contract with third parties, including Novartis, for the synthesis of cGMP material used in our clinical
trials. To reduce costs and preserve manufacturing proprietary rights, we provide these manufacturers with only the
required portion of the synthetic method and a sufficient quantity of the starting or intermediate material to prepare
the quantity and quality of material necessary for the conduct of our clinical trials and related nonclinical toxicology
studies. We currently rely upon a number of third-party manufacturers for the supply of our product candidates in
buik quantities.

We have selected manufacturers that we believe comply with cGMP and other regulatory standards. We have
established a quality control and quality assurance program, including a set of standard operating procedures,
analytical methods and specifications, designed to ensure that our product candidates are manufactured in
accordance with ¢cGMP and other domestic and foreign regulations.

The process used for the manufacture of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® was robust and had been repeated by different
manufacturers on a multiple kilogram scale. We are currently pursuing the same result with respect to the other
product candidates we currently have in clinical development.

We rely upon Novartis as well as other third-party manufacturers for the dosage form of our produci and
product candidates. We do not expect to internally manufacture material for our clinical trials or undertake the
commercial-scale manufacture of our drug products.

Sales and Marketing

In accordance with the arrangements set forth in our development and commercialization agreement with
Novartis, we have the right to co-promote or co-market with Novartis in the United States, United Kingdom, France,
Germany, Italy and Spain any products that Novartis licenses from us. If we co-promote or co-market, in the
markets outside of the United States, Novartis will be primarily responsible for the marketing, distribution and sale
of products which it may license from us. In anticipation of the commercial launch of telbivudine, we established
our own commercial organization in the United States, including marketing capabilities, a field force of sales
representatives, medical scientific liaisons, and regional business managers and began building our European
commercial organization. As a direct result of the transfer of all our development, commercialization and
manufacturing rights to Novartis relating to telbivudine, on September 28, 2007 we announced a restructuring
of our operations and a workforce reduction of approximately 100 positions, including the termination of our entire
worldwide commercial organization.
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Patents and Licenses

Our policy is to pursue patents and to otherwise protect our technology, inventions and improvements that are
important to the development of our business. We also rely upon trade secrets that may be important to the
development of our business.

As a result of the transfer of all our development, commercialization and manufacturing rights to Novartis
relating to telbivudine, we also transferred to Novartis certain patent rights relating to telbivudine.
Hepatitis B Patent Portfolio and Licenses

Our hepatitis B patent portfolio includes at Jeast 7 issued U.S. patents, at least 5 pending U.S. applications, at
least 56 granted foreign patents, and at least 65 pending foreign patent applications.

Four issued U.S. patents are directed 1o methods of using telbivedine for the treatment of HBV. These patents,

which expire in 2019, are set forth below:

+ U.S. Patent No. 6,395,716 entitled “B-L-2’-Deoxy-Nucleosides for the Treatment of Hepatitis B”;

« U.S. Patent No. 6,569,837 entitled *B-L-2’-Deoxy Pyrimidine Nucleosides for the Treatment of Hepatitis B”;
« U.S. Paent No. 6,444,652 entitled “B-L-2’-Deoxy-Nucleosides for the Treatment of Hepatitis B”; and

» U.S. Patent No. 6,566,344, entitled “B-L-2’-Deoxy-Nucleosides for the Treatment of Hepatitis B”.

Applications for patent term extensions to extend the term of either of U.S. Patent No. 6,395,716 or 6,569,837,
but not both, were filed in the U.S. Patent Office. Although there is no guarantee either application will be granted
by the U.S. Patent Office, if one of the applications for term extension were granted, it would extend the term to
October 25, 2020. The four above-mentioned patents are co-owned by us, CNRS and University of Montpellier, and
under an agreement with these entities described under the caption “Collaboraticns,” we have the exclusive right to
exploit the technology.

One issued U.S. patent is directed to valtorcitabine, as well as pharmaceutical compositions that include
valtorcitabine: U.S. Patent No. 6,857,751, entitled “3’-Prodrugs of 2’-Deoxy-B-L-Nucleosides.”. This patent will
expire in 2021 absent a patent term. extension.

In June 1998, we entered into an exclusive license agreement, which we refer to as the UAB license agreement,
with the University of Alabama at Birmingham Research Foundation, or UABRF, pursuant to which we were
granted an exclusive license to the rights that the University of Alabama at Birmingham, or UAB, an entity affiliated
with UABRF, Emory University and CNRS , which we refer to collectively as the 1998 licensors, have to a 1995
U.S. patent application and progeny thereof and counterpart patent applications in Europe, Canada, Japan and
Australia that cover the use of certain synthetic nucleosides for the treatment of HBV infection. In January 2004,
February 2005 and June 2005, UABRF notified us that it intended to file a U.S. continuation patent application
claiming priority to the 1995 patent application, which itself is a continuation in part of a 1993 application that
would purportedly enable the 1998 licensors to prosecute and seek to obtain generic patent claims generally
encompassing the method of using telbivudine to treat patients infected with HBV. In July 2005, UABRF filed such
a continuation patent application,

1n February 2006, UABRF notified us that it and Emory University were asserting a claim that, as a result of the
filing of a continuation patent application in July 2005 by UABREF, the UAB license agreement covers our
telbivudine technology. UABRF contends that we are obligated to pay the 1998 licensors an aggregate of
$15.3 million comprised of 20% of the $75 million license fee we received from Novartis in May 2003 in
connection with the license of our HBV product candidates and a $0.3 million payment in connection with the
submission to the FDA of the IND pursuant 1o which we conducted clinical trials of telbivudine. We disagree with
UABRF’s contentions and advised UABRF and Emory University that we will utilize the dispute resolution
proce:ures set forth in the UAB license agreement for resolution of this dispute. Under the terms of that agreement,
if resolution cannot be achieved through negotiations between the parties or mediation, it must be decided by
binding arbitration under the rules of the American Arbitration Association before a panel of three arbitrators.
Pursuant to the terms of the dispute resolution procedure in the UAB license agreement, in September 2007 our
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CEO and the CEO of UABRF met and agreed to begin a mediation process. While the parties participated in a joint
mediation session in January 2008, no resolution of these matters has yet been reached. However, a non-binding
settlement proposal has been discussed by the parties. Such settlement proposal remains subject to several terms and
conditions, including a full release of all claims by UABRF and related entities. We do not believe that the matters
disputed by UABRF and Emory University regarding the UAB license agreement will have any eftect on either the
cooperative agreement with CNRS and the University of Montpellier or the technology licenses, including the
license for telbivudine, which have been granted to us pursuant to the cooperativé agreement.

However, if we do not settle these disputes and it is determined that the UAB license agreement does cover our
technology, we will be obligated 1o make payments to the 1998 licensors in the amounts and manner specified in the
UAB license agreement. While we dispute the demands made by UABREF, even if liability were found to exist,
UABRF’s claims, in addition to those described above would likely include payments in the aggregate amount of
$1.0 million due upon achievement of regulatory milestones, a 6% royalty on annual sales up to $50.0 million and a ‘
3% royalty on annual sales greater than $50.0 million made by us or an affiliate of ours. Additionally, if we
sublicense our rights to any entity other than one which holds or controls at least 50% of our capital stock, or if
Novartis’ ownership interest in us declines below 50% of our outstanding shares of capital stock, UABRF would
likely contend that we would be obligated to pay to the 1998 licensors 30% of all royalties received on sales by the
sublicensee of telbivudine and 20% of all fees, milestone payments and other cash consideration received from the
sublicensee with respect to telbivudine.

If we fail to perform our material obligations under the UAB license agreement, UABREF, acting for the 1998 ]
licensors, may attempt to terminate the UAB license agreement or render the license to us non-exclusive. We do not !
believe that we are in default of any of the material obligations to which we are subject under the UAB license
agreement. Any attempt to terminate the agreement would be subject to binding arbitration. In the event UABRF is
successful in terminating the license agreement as a result of a breach by us after a period of arbitration, and the |
1998 licensors obtain a valid enforceable claim that generally covers the use of telbivudine to treat HBV, it would be
necessary 1o obtain another license from the 1998 licensors. Such license may not be available on reasonable terms, i
on an exclusive basis or at all. This could materially adversely affect or preclude the ability to continue to

. . . . |
commercialize telbivudine. ‘

If the 1998 licensors were instead to render the UAB license agreement to us non-exclusive, we would not be ‘
prohibited from commercializing telbivudine to treat HBV, but a non-exclusive license could be granted to one or 1
more of our competitors by one or more of the 1998 licensors. In the event that the 1998 licensors exclusively or
nonexclusively license any claims covering the use of telbivudine to treat HBV to a competitor, we believe that such
a competitor would have to overcome substantial legal and commercial hurdles to successfully commercialize the
product. For example, we have already obtained four U.S. patents covering the use of telbivudine to-treat HBV,
which we believe a competitor would likely infringe if it sought to commercialize telbivudine. Our patent
applications are also pending or granted in Europe, Australia, Canada. and Japan, as well as numerous other
countries. Additionally, since we are the first company that took telbivudine through clinical trials, we and Novartis
will benefit from a five-year period of commercialization exclusivity in the United States that was granted by the
FDA in October 2006 and during which the agency will not grant marketing approval to any competitor to sell
telbivudine for the treatment of HBV. We also received regulatory exclusivity periods in Europe and in other
countries.

If it is determined that the UAB license agreement between us and UABRF does cover our use of telbivudine to
treat HBV, or we must otherwise rely upon a license agreement granted by the 1998 licensors to commercialize
telbivudine, we may be in breach of certain of the representations and warranties we made to Novartis under the
development and commercialization agreement and the stock purchase agreement. For a further description see
“Collaborations — Relationship with Novartis — Indemnification™ and “Risk Factors — Factors Related to Our
Relationship with Novartis™ and “Factors Related to Patents and Licenses.”

In January 2007, the Board of Trustees of the University of Alabama and related entities filed a complaint in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Alabama, Southern Division against us, CNRS and the
University of Montpellier. The complaint alleges that a former employee of UAB is a co-inventor of certain patents
in the United States and corresponding foreign patent applications related to the use of B-L-2’-deoxy-nucleosides
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for the treatment of HBV assigned to one or more of Idenix, CNRS and the University of Montpellier and which
cover the use of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® for the treatment of HBV. The University of Alabama has included a demand for
damages under various theories in its complaint, but did not specify the amount of damages that it alleges to have
incurred. In response to the complaint in March 2007, we filed a motion to dismiss based upon lack of personal
jurisdiction, In September 2007, the parties agreed to stay the action and pursue mediation relating to the disputes
associated with the license agreement and this litigation. As a result of a joint mediation session held in January
2008, a non-binding settlement has been proposed by the parties which could potentially require kdenix to make
payments to UABRF and related entities. We have assessed this settlement proposal under the provisions of FAS 5,
and recorded an expense of $1.5 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2007. If the proposed settlement is not
completed on terms acceptable to Idenix, we will resume the defense of these claims, including through the
litigation process. Accruals related to the settlement proposal may be adjusted in future periods if a settlement
agreement is not reached. We cannot ascertain with certainty the likelihood this or any settlement proposal will be
accepted by or entered into by the parties. If we are not able to reach a settlement agreement with the parties, we will
continue to vigorously defend against claims made by UABRF and related entities (see Note 2).

Hepatitis C Patent Portfolio

Qur HCV patent portfolio includes at least 10 issued U.S. patents, at least 42 pending U.S. applications, at least
38 granted foreign patents, and at least 314 pending foreign patent applications.

In the HCV patent portfolio are 8 issued United States patents: U.S. Patent No. 6,812,219; U.S. Patent
No. 6,914,054; U.S. Patent No. 7,105,493; U.S. Patent No. 7,101,861; U.S. Patent No. 7,148,206; U.S. Patent
No. 7,163,929; U.S. Patent No. 7,169,766 and U.S. Patent No. 7,157.441. The 8 above-mentioned United States
patents will expire in 2021 absent a palent term extension. We co-own these 8 patents with lhe University of

- Cagliari, which has excluswely licensed its interest to us.

HIV Patent Portfolio

Our HILV patent portfolio includes at least 3 issued U.S. patents, at least 9 pending U.S. applications, at least 4
granted foreign patents, and at least 49 pending foreign patent applications.

Of these three issued U.S. patents, U.S. Patent No. 6,635,636 will expire in 2019 and is owned by us.
U.S. Patent No. 6,545,007 will expire in 2021. U.S. Patent No. 6,710,068 will expire in 2022. U.S. Patent Nos,
6,545,007 and 6,710,068 are co-owned by us with the University of Cagliari, which has exclusively licensed its
rights to us.

We hold exclusive licenses from TherapX and Dr. Raymond Schinazi to one U.S. issued patent, U.S, Patent
No. 5,750,493 entitled “Method to Improve the Biclogical and Antiviral Activity of Protease Inhibitors”, and five
associated non-U.S. patent filings expiring on or before 2016 that cover a method of using roxythromycin, a generic
compound, to enhance the antiviral activity of protease inhibitors including for the treatment of HIV.
Competition

Our industry is highly competitive and subject to rapid technological change. Significant competitive factors in
our industry include:

» product effectiveness;

« safety;

« timing and scope of regulatory approvals;
* price of products;

* availability of supply;

* patent protection; and

* sales and marketing capabilities and resources.
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Many of the companies competing against us have substantially greater financial and other resources, In
addition, many of our competitors have significantly greater experience in testing pharmaceutical and other
therapeutic product candidates and obtaining FDA and other regulatory approvals of products for use in healthcare
and marketing and selling those products. Accordingly, our competitors may be more successful than we may be in
obtaining FDA approval for products and achieving widespread market acceptance. We also may compete with
respect to manufacturing efficiency and marketing capabilities, areas in which we have substantially less experience
than our competitors.

Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, and any future products that we successfully develop, will compete with existing and future
therapies. The key competitive factors affecting the commercial success of our producis are likely to be efficacy,
safety profile, convenience of dosing and price in comparison with available therapies.

Many organizations, including large pharmacecutical and biopharmaceutical companies as well as academic
and research organizations and government agencies, are commercializing or pursuing novel drug therapies
targeting the treatment of HBV, HCV and HIV. We are aware of at least three small molecule products that are
currently marketed in the United States and elsewhere for the treatment of chronic hepatitis B, Such therapies are
tamivudine, marketed by GlaxoSmithKline plc as Epivir-HBV®; adefovir dipoxil, marketed by Gilead Sciences,
Inc., as Hepsera®; and entecavir, marketed by Bristol-Myers Squibb Company, as Baraclude®. Pegylated interferon
alpha 2-a marketed by F. Hoffman-LaRoche & Co. is also approved for the treatment of chronic hepatitis B.
Pegylated interferon together with ribavirin is the current standard of care for the treatment of hepatitis C.
Additional companies with which we expect to compete include Abbott Laboratories, Boehringer Ingelheim
International GmbH, F. Hoffman-LaRoche & Co., Johnson & Johnson, Merck & Co., Inc., Pfizer Inc., Schering-
Plough Corporation, Human Genome Sciences, Inc., InterMune, Inc., Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Ribapharm, Inc., a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, SciClone Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Anadys
Pharmaceuticals, Inc,, Pharmasset, L.td,, and Vertex Pharmaceuticals Inc. Many of these companies and organi-
zations, either alone or with their collaborative partners, have substantially greater financial, technical and human

,vesources than we do. In addition, our competitors also include smaller private companies.

We believe that a significant number of drugs are currently under development and will become available in
the future for the treatment of HBV, HCV and HIV. We anticipate that we will face intense and increasing
competition as new products enter the market and advanced technologies become available. Qur competitors’
products may be more effective, or more effectively marketed and sold, than any product we may commercialize.
Compeiitive products may render our products obsolete or non-competitive before we can recover the expenses of
developing and commercializing any of our product candidates. We are also aware that the development of a cure or
new treatment methoeds for the diseases we are targeting could render our products non-competitive or obsolete.

Pharmaceutical Pricing and Reimbursement

In both domestic and foreign markets, sales of our products will depend in part upon the availability of
reimbursement from third-party payers. Third-party payers include government health agencies, managed care
providers, private health insurers and other organizations. These third-party payers are increasingly challenging
drug prices and are examining the cost-effectiveness of medical products and services. In addition, significant
uncertainty exists as to the reimbursement status of newly approved healthcare products. We may need to conduct
pharmacoeconomic studies to demonstrate the cost-effectivencss of our products. Any product candidates we
successfully develop may not be considered cost-effective. Adequate third-party reimbursement may not be
i:wailable to enable us to maintain price levels sufficient to realize an appropriate return on our investment in product
development. The U.S. and foreign governments continue to propose and pass legislation designed to reduce the
¢ost of healthcare. Accordingly, legislation and regulations affecting the pricing of pharmaceutical products may
change before our product candidates are approved for marketing. Adoption of new legislation could further limit
reimbursement for pharmaceutical products,

The marketability of any products we successfully develop may sutfer if the government and third-party payers
fail to provide adequate coverage and reimbursement rates for such products. In addition, an increasing emphasis on
managed care in the United States has and will continue to increase the pressure on pharmaceutical pricing.
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Regulatory Matters

In October 2006, we received approval from the FDA to market Tyzeka® in the United States. In April 2007,
Sebivo® was approved in the European Union for the treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B. To date,
Sebivo® has been approved in more than 50 countries outside the United States, including China, Switzerland andl‘
the European Union. Effective October 1, 2007, we transferred to Novartis our regulatory, development, com-
mercialization and manufacturing rights and obligations related to telbivudine (Tyzeka®/Sebivo®) on a worldwide
basis in exchange for royalty payments equal to a percentage of net sales, with such percentage increasing according
to specified tiers of net sales. The royalty percentage will vary based upon the territory and the aggregate dotlar
amount of net sales.

L,

b

Currently, we are evaluating IDX899 for the treatment of HIV in phase I clinical trials. In April 2007, we filed -
an IND for IDX899.

FDA Reguirements for Approval of Drug Products

. 1
The research, testing, manufacturing and marketing of drug products are extensively regulated by numerous- .
overnmental authorities in the United States and other countries. In the United States, drugs are subject to rigorous ¢
regulation by the FDA. The federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act and other federal and state statutes and .
egulations govern, among other things, the research, development, testing, manufacture, storage, record keeping,
abeling, promotion, marketing and distribution of pharmaceutical products. If we fail to comply with applicable :
egulatory requirements, we may be subject to a .variety of administrative or judicially imposed sanctions,:
including:

+ product seizures;

+ voluntary or mandatory recalls;

« voluntary or mandatory patient and physician notification;

+ withdrawal of product approvals;

* restrictions on, or prohibitions against, marketing our products, if approved for commercial sale;
* fines;

+ restrictions on importation of our products;

* injunctions;

* civil and criminal penalties; and

* debarment;
* suspension of review, refusal to approve pending applications.

The steps ordinarily required before a new pharmaceutical product may be marketed in the United States -
include preclinical studies, animal tests and formulation studies, the submission 1o the FDA of an IND, which must
become effective before human clinical trials may commence in the United States and adequate and well-controlled
human clinical trials to establish the safety and effectiveness of the drug for each indication for which it is being
iested. Satisfaction of FDA pre-market approval requirements typically takes several years, and the actual time
required may vary substantially based upon the type, complexity and novelty of the product candidate or disease.

overnment regulation may delay or prevent marketing of potential product candidates for a considerable period of
time and impose costly procedures upon a manufacturer’s activities. Success in early stage clinical trials does not -
assure success in later stage clinical trials. Data obtained from clinical activities is not always conclusive and may

e susceptible to varying interpretations that could delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. Even if a product
receives regulatory approval, later discovery of previously unknown problems with a product may result in
restrictions on the product or even complete withdrawal of the product from the market.

Preclinical studies include laboratory evaluation of product chemistry and formulation, as well as in vitro and -
imal studies to assess the potential safety and efficacy of the product candidate. The conduct of the preclinical
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studies and formulation of compounds for testing must comply with federal regulations and requirements. The
results of preclinical studies are submitted to the FDA, as part of the IND to justify the administration of the product
candidate to human subjects in the proposed clinical trial.

A 30-day waiting period after the filing of each IND is required prior to the commencement of clinical testing
in humans. If the FDA has not commented on or questioned the IND within this 30-day period, the proposed clinical
trial may begin. If the FDA has comments or questions, the questions must be answered to the satisfaction of the
FDA before initial clinical testing can begin.

After the commencement of clinical trials, the FDA may, at any time, impose a clinical hold on ongoing
clinical trials. If the FDA imposes a clinical hold, clinical trials cannot commence or recommence without FDA
authorization and then only under terms authorized by the FDA. Additionally, if a clinical hold is imposed on an,
ongoing clinical trial, further administration of the investigational agent to patients would not be permitted unlessi
specifically allowed by the FDA. In some instances, the IND process can result in substantial delay and expense.

Clinical trials involve the administration of the product candidate to healthy volunteers or patients under the
supervision of a qualified principal investigator. Clinical trials must be conducted in compliance with federal
regulations and requirements, under protocols detailing the objectives of the clinical trial, the parameters to be used,
in monitoring safety and the effectiveness criteria to be evaluated. Each protocol must be submitted to the FDA as/
part of the IND. The clinical trial protocol and informed consent information for patients to be enrolled in the|
clinical trial must also be approved by the institutional review board at each institution where the clinical trials will
be conducted.

Clinical trials to support NDAs for marketing approval are typically conducted in three sequential phases, but
the phases may overlap. In phase I, the initial introduction of a product candidate into healthy human subjects or
patients, a product candidate is tested to assess metabolism, pharmacokinetics and pharmacological actions and
safety, including side effects associated with increasing doses. Phase II usually involves clinical trials in a limited
subset of the intended patient population, to determine dosage tolerance and optimum dosage, identify possible
adverse effects and safety risks and provide preliminary support for the efficacy of the product candidate in the
indication being studied.

If a product candidate is found to be effective and to have an acceptable safety profile in phase 11 evaluations,
phase I11 clinical trials are undertaken to further evaluate clinical efficacy and to further test for safety within an
expanded patient population at geographically dispersed clinical trial sites. There can be no assurance that phase [,
phase II or phase III testing of our product candidates will be completed successfully within any specified time
period, if at all.

After completion of the required clinical testing, generatly an NDA is prepared and submitted to the FDA. FDA
approval of the NDA is required before marketing of the product may begin in the United States. The NDA must
include, among other things, the results of extensive clinical and preclinical studies and the compilation of data
relating to the product’s chemistry, pharmacology, manufacture, safety and effectiveness. The cost of an NDA is
substantial, both in terms of studies required to generate and compile the requisite data, as well as the mandatory
user fees submitted with the application,

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt of the NDA to determine whether the application will be accepted for
filing based on the agency’s threshold determination that the NDA is sufficiently complete to permit substantive
review. Once the submission is accepted for filing, the FDA may designate the submission for priority review.
Priority review is granted to product candidates that demonstrate a significant improvement to approved products in
terms of safety or efficacy in the treatment, diagnosis or prevention of serious or life-threatening conditions. The
FDA's decision to grant priority review is driven solely by the data submitted and cannot be assured in advance.
Under the Prescription Drug User Fee Act, or PDUFA, product candidates that are given a priority review
designation have a 6-month FDA review timeline.

After a submission is accepted for filing, the FDA begins an in-depth review of the NDA. Under federal law,
the FDA has 180 days in which to review the application and respond to the applicant, The review timeline is often
significantly extended by FDA requests for additional information or clarification regarding information already
provided in the submission. The FDA may also refer the application to an appropriate advisory committee, typically
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a panel that includes clinicians, statisticians and other experts for review, evaluation and a recommendation as to
whether the application should be approved. The FDA is not bound by the recommendation of an advisory
commitice.

If FDA evaluations of the NDA and the manufacturing facilities are favorable, the FDA may issue an approval
letter, or, in some cases, an approvable letter followed by an approval letter. Approvable letters usually contain a
number of conditions that must be met to secure final approval of the NDA. When and if those conditions have been
met to the FDA's satisfaction, the FDA will issue an approval letter. The approval letter authorizes commercial
marketing of the drug for specific indications. As a condition of NDA approval, the FDA may require post-
marketing testing and surveillance to monitor the drug’s safety or efficacy or impose other conditions. Once
granted, product approvals may be withdrawn if compliance with regulatory standards is not maintained or
problems occur following initial marketing. -

Once the NDA is approved, a product will be subject to certain post-approval requirements, including
requirements for adverse event reporting and submission of periodic reports and/or supplemental new drug
applications for approval of changes to the originally approved prescribing information, product formulation, and
manufacturing and testing requirements. Following approval, drug products are required to be manufactured and
tested for compliance with the NDA and/or compendial specifications prior to release for commercial distribution.
The manufacture and testing must be performed in approved manufacturing and testing sites complying with cGMP
requirements and subject to FDA inspection authority.

Approved drug products must be promoted in a manner which is consistent with their terms and conditions of
approval. In addition, the FDA requires substantiation of any claims of superiority of one product over another
including, in many cases, requirements that such claims be proven by adequate and well controlled head-to-head
clinical trials. To the extent that market acceptance of our product candidates may depend on their superiority over
existing therapies, any restriction on our ability to advertise or otherwise promote claims of superiority, or
requirements to conduct additional expensive clinical trials to provide proof of such claims, could negatively affect
the sales of our products and/or our expenses.

From time to time, legislation is drafted and introduced that could significantly change the statutory provisions
governing the approval, manufacturing and marketing of drug products. In addition, FDA regulations and guidance
are often revised or reinterpreted by the FDA or the courts in ways that may significantly affect our business and our
product candidates. It is impossible to predict whether legislative changes will be enacted, or FDA regulations,
guidance or interpretations changed, or what the impact of such changes, if any, may be.

If the FDA’s evaluation of the NDA submission or manufacturing facilities is not favorable, the FDA may
refuse to approve the NDA or issue a not approvable letter. The not approvable letter outlines the deficiencies in the
submission and often requires additional testing or information. The FDA ultimately may decide that the
application does not satisfy the regulatory criteria for approval.

Foreign Regulation of Drug Product Approval

Under the terms of our agreement with Novartis, we have primary responsibility for preparing and filing
U.S. regulatory submissions with respect to any product candidate which Novartis has licensed from us. Novartis
has primary responsibility for preparing and filing regulatory submissions with respect to any licensed product in all
other countries in the world. Under certain circumstances, primary responsibilities for all or certain regulatory tasks
in a particular country may be switched from one party to the other.

Europe

In the European Union, which we refer to as the EU, investigational products are subject to extensive
regulatory requirements. As in the United States, the marketing of medicinal products is subject to the granting of
marketing authorizations by relevant regulatory agencies. The grant of these marketing authorizations can involve
testing in addition to that which the FDA requires and the time required may also differ from that required for FDA
approval. In the EU, approval of new pharmaceutical products can be granted either through a mutual recognition
procedure and decentralized approval or through a centralized procedure. The processes are described below.
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Mutual Recognition Procedure and Decentralized Approval.  Anapplicant submits an application in one EU
member state, known as the reference member state, and requests the reference member state to approve the drug.
The reference member state will review the registration documents within 210 days after receipt of a valid
application. With the approved dossier and the summary of product characteristics, the applicant then requests the
mutual recognition in the concerned member states of the reference authorization of the reference member state.
Within 90 days of receipt, the concerned member states shall approve the assessment report, summary of product
characteristics, and labeting and package leaflet, and inform the reference member state accordingly. The reference
mémber state shall record the agreement of all parties, close the procedure and inform the applicant accordingly.

Each member state in which the application has been submitted shall adopt a decision in conformity with the
approved assessment report, summary of product characteristics, and the labeling and package leaflet as approved,
within 50 days after acknowledgement of the agreement. If a member state cannot approve the assessment report,
summary of product characteristics, and the labeling and package leaflet on the grounds of potential serious risk to
public health, it will give a detailed exposition of the reasons for its position to the reference member state, the other
member states concerned, and to the applicant. The points of disagreement will be referred to a coordination group
for resolution. Alternatively, the applicant could implement changes in the summary of product characteristics as
requested by a country.

Centralized Procedure. This procedure is currently mandatory for products developed by means of a
biotechnological process and optional for certain new active substances. However beginning November 2005,
medicinal products containing new active substances and for which the indication is treatment of AIDS, cancer,
neurodegenerative disorder or diabetes must be submitted via the centralized process. Additionally, beginning May
2008, the centralized procedure will also be mandatory for products which contain new active substance and for
which the indication is treatment of autoimmune diseases and other immune dysfunctions, and viral diseases. Qur
product candidates fall into the last category. ‘

Under the centralized procedure, an application is submitted to the EMEA., Two EU member states are
appointed to conduct an initial evaluation of each application, the so-called rapporteur and co-rapporteur countries.
The regulatory authorities in both the rapporteur and co-rapporteur countries each prepare an assessment report.
These reports become the basis of a scientific opinion of the Committee for Medicinal Products for Human Use, If |
this opinion is favorable, it is sent to the European Commission which drafts a decision. After consulting with the
member states, the European Commission adopts a decision and grants a marketing authorization which is vahd
throughout the EU and confers the same rights and obligations in each of the member states as a marketing
authorization granted by that member state. Several other European countries outside the EU, such as Norway and
Iceland, accept EU review and approval as a basis for their own national approval.

Asia

Until recently, submissions to regulatory authorities in Asia for marketing authorization have been primarily
based on using prior approvals in either the United States or the EU in addition to small, locally conducted studies.
Recently an increasing number of companies are conducting phase III clinical trials in several major Asian
countries such as Japan, China, Taiwan and South Korea. To conduct clinical trials in these regions, local clinical
trial applications, equivalent to INDs, must be filed in the country. Upon completion of all clinical trials, marketing
applications similar to the U.S. NDA may be submitted to and approved by the appropriate regulatory authorities
prior to commercialization.

Marketing Applications Format

As part of the International Conference on Harmonization, or ICH, standardization initiatives spearheaded by
the United States, EU and Japan, future marketing applications in these regions will be submitted as a core global
dossier known as the Common Technical Document, or CTD. While the FDA has not mandated that submissions be
made in the CTD format, it has indicated that this is its preferable submission format. In the EU and Japan, the CTD '
is the required submission format. Electronic CTDs, or e-CTDs, are currently being used and are the manner of
submission now preferred by the regulatory agencies requiring and recommending the CTD format. Non-ICH
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regions such as Eastern and Central Europe, Latin America and China have indicated that the CTD will be an
acceptable submission format.

Hazardous Materials

Our research and development processes involve the controlled use of numerous hazardous materials,
chemicals and radioactive materials and produce waste products. We are subject to federal, state and local laws
and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposing of hazardous materials and waste
products, including certain regulations promulgated by the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA. The
EPA regulations to which we are subject require that we register with the EPA as a generator of hazardous waste. We
do not expect the cost of complying with these laws and regulations to be material. While we maintain insurance, it
is possible that costs for which we may become liable as a result of any environmental liability or toxic tort claims
that may be asserted against us in connection with our use or disposal of hazardous materials, chemicals and
radioactive materials, may exceed or otherwise be excluded from such insurance coverage. Such amounts could be
substantial. '

Employees

As of December 31, 2007, we had 219 full time employees, 162 of whom were engaged in research,
development and manufacturing functions and 57 of whom were engaged in administration, finance and com-
mercialization activities,

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business faces many risks. The risks described below may not be the only risks we face. Additional risks
we do not vet know of or we currently believe are immaterial may also impair our business operations. If any of the
events or circumstances described in the following risks actually occurs, our business, financial condition or results
of operations could suffer, and the trading price of our common stock could decline. You should consider the
following risks, together with all of the other information in this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended
December 31, 2007, before deciding to invest in our securities.

Factors Related to Our Business

We have a limited operating history and have incurred a cumulative loss since inception. If we do not
generate significant revenues, we will not be profitable.

We have incurred significant losses since our inception in May 1998. We have generated limited revenue from
the sale of telbivudine (Tyzeka®/Sebivo®) to date and are unable 1o make a meaningful assessment of potential
future revenue associated with royalty payments of product sales. We will not be able to generate additional
revenues from product sales until one of our other product candidates receives regulatory approval and we or a
collaborative partner successfully introduce such product commercially. We expect to incur annual operating losses
over the next several years as we expand our drug discovery and development efforts. We also expect that the net
loss we will incur will fluctuate from quarter to quarter and such fluctuations may be substantial. To generate
product revenue, regulatory approval for products we successfully develop must be obtained and we and /or
Novartis or a future collaboration partnier must effectively manufacture, market and sell such products. Even if we
successfully commercialize product candidates that receive regulatory approval, we may not be able to realize
revenues at a level that would allow us to achieve or sustain profitability. Accordingly, we may never generate
significant revenue and, even if we do generate significant revenue, we may never achieve profitability.

We will need additional capital to fund our eperations, including the development, manufacture and
potential commercialization of our product candidates. If we do not have or cannot raise additional
capital when needed, we will be unable to develop and ultimately commercialize our product candidates
successfully.

QOur cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities balance was approximately $112.0 million at
December 31, 2007. We believe that this balance, any development funding we receive from Novartis relating
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to licensed compounds, if any, and the anticipated royalty payments associated with product sales of Tyzeka®
Sebivo® will be sufficient to satisfy our anticipated cash needs through late 2009. However, we may need or choose
to seek additiona! funding within this period of time. Our drug development programs and the potential
commercialization of our product candidates will require substantial cash to fund expenses that we will incur
in connection with preclinical studies and clinical trials, regulatory review and future manufacturing and sales and
marketing efforts. '

Our need for additional funding will depend in large part on whether:
* with respect to Tyzeka®Sebivo®, the level of royalty payments received from Novartis is significant;

* with respect to our other product candidates, Novartis exercises its option to license other product
candidates, and we receive related license fees, milestone payments and development expense reimburse-
ment payments from Novartis; and with respect to our other product candidates not licensed by Novartis, we
receive related license fees, milestone payments and development expense reimbursement payments from
third parties.

In addition, although Novartis has agreed to pay for certain development expenses incurred under development
plans it approves for products and product candidates it has licensed from us, Novartis has the right to terminate its
license and the related funding obligations with respect to any such product or product candidate by providing us
with six months written notice.

Our future capital needs will also depend generally on many other factors, including:

» the amount of revenue that we may be able to realize from commercialization and sale of product candidates,
if any, which are approved for commercial sale by regulatory authorities; !

» the scope and results of our preclinical studies and clinical trials;
* the progress of our current preclinical and clinical development programs for HCV and HIV;

* the cost of obtaining, maintaining and defending patents on telbivudine, our product candidates and our
processes; ‘

* the cost, timing and outcome of regulatory reviews;

+ the cost of re-establishing sales and marketing functions;
* the commercial potential of our product candidates;

« the rate of technological advances in our markets;

* the cost of acquiring or in-licensing new discovery compounds, technologies, product candidates or other
business assets;

* the magnitude of our general and administrative expenses;
* any costs we may incur under current and future licensing arrangements; and

» the costs of commercializing and launching other products, if any, which are successfully developed and
approved for commercial sale by regulatory authorities.

We expect that we will incur significant costs to complete the clinical trials and other studies required to enable
us to submit INDs and/or NDAs with the FDA for our HCV and HIV product candidates as we continue
development of each of these product candidates. The time and cost to complete clinical development of these
preduct candidates may vary as a result of a number of factors.

We may seek additional capital through a combination of public and private equity offerings, debt financings
and collaborative, strategic alliance and licensing arrangements. Such additional financing may not be available
when we need it or may not be available on terms that are favorable to us.

If we raise additional capital through the sale of our common stock, existing stockholders, other than Novartis,
which has the right to maintain its current level of ownership, will experience dilution of their current levet of]
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ownership of our common stock and the terms of the financing may adversely affect the holdings or rights of our
stockholders. If we are unable to obtain adequate financing on a timely basis, we could be required to delay, reduce
or eliminate one or more of our drug development programs or to enter into new collaborative, strategic alliance or
licensing arrangements that may not be favorable to us. These arrangements could result in the transfer to third
parties of rights that we consider valuable.

Our research and development efforts may not result in additional product candidates being discovered
on anticipated timelines, if at all, which could limit our ability to generate revenues.

Qur research and development programs, other than our program for NNRTIs for HIV, are at preclinical stages.
Additional product candidates that we may develop or acquire will require significant research, development,
preclinical studies and clinical trials, regulatory approval and commitment of resources before any commercial-
ization may occur. We cannot predict whether our research will lead to the discovery of any additional product
candidates that could generate revenues for us.

Our failure to successfully acquire or develop and market additional product candidates or approved
drugs would impair our ability to grow.

As part of our strategy, we intend to establish a franchise in the HCV and HIV market by developing product
candidates for each therapeutic indication. The success of this sirategy depends upon the development and
commercialization of additional product candidates that we successfully discover, license or otherwise acquire.

Product candidates we discover, license or acquire will require additional and likely substantial development,
including extensive clinical testing and approval by the FDA and applicable foreign regulatory authorities. All
product candidates are prone to the risks of failure inherent in pharmaceutical product development, including the
possibility that the product candidate will not be shown to be sufficiently safe and effective for approval by
regulatory authorities. -

Proposing, negotiating and implementing acquisition or in-license of product candidates may be a lengthy and
complex process. Other companies, including those with substantially greater financial, marketing and sales
resources, may compete with us for the acquisition of product candidates. We may not be able to acquire the rights to
additional product candidates on terms that we find acceptable, if at all. ’

Our investments are subject to general credit, liquidity, market and interest rate risks, which may be
exacerbated by the volatility in the U.S. credit markets.

Our investment portfolio included municipal auction rate securities which approximated $11.0 million as of
December 31, 2007, Auction rate securities are generally debt instruments that are structured to allow for short-term
interest rate resets but with contractual maturities that can be well in excess of ten years. At the end of each reset
peried which occurs every seven 1o 35 days, investors can sell or continue to held the securities at par. The auction
rate securities we held at December 31, 2007 reset in subsequent auctions in January 2008, In mid-February 2008,
certain of our municipal auction rate securities experienced a failed auction. As of March 11, 2008 we had
liquidated all but $4.0 million of our auction rate securities, of which $3.1 million was held at December 31, 2007,
The liquidation of these auction rate securities did not result in any losses. Since then, the continued uncertainty in
the credit markets has caused additional auctions with respect to our auction rate securities to fail, and if we had
chosen to do so, would have prevented us from liquidating certain of our holdings of auction rate securities because
the amount of these securities submitted for sale has exceeded the amount of purchase orders for these securities.
There is a risk that auctions related to our remaining auction rate securities may fail and that there could be a decline
in value of these securities or any other securities which may ultimately be deemed to be other than temporary, In the
future, should we experience additional auction failures and/or determine that these declines in value of auction rate
securities are other than temporary, we would recognize a loss in our consolidated statement of operations, which
coutd be material. In addition, any future failed auctions may adversely impact the liquidity of our investments.

25




-

-

. developed or licensed by us. Novartis has the right under certain circumstances to market and sell products thaf
- compete with the product candidates and products that we ticense to it, and any competition by Novartis could havd

‘effective, have fewer side effects, lower costs or be better marketed and sold, than any of our products. Additionally.
* products our competitors successfully develop for the treatment of HCV and HIV may be marketed prior to any

The condition of the credit markets remains dynamic. As a result, we may experience a reduction in value or
loss of liquidity with respect o our other investments. In addition, should our other investments cease paying or
reduce the amount of interest paid to us, our interest income would suffer. These market risks associated with our
investment portfolio may have an adverse effect on our financial condition.

The markets which we intend to enter are subject to intense competition. If we are unable to compete
effectively, products we successfully develop and our product candidates may be rendered noncompetitive
or obsolete.

We are engaged in segments of the pharmaceutical industry that are highly competitive and rapidly changing.
Many large pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, academic institutions, governmental agencies and other
public and private research organizations are commercializing or pursuing the development of products that target
viral diseases, including the same diseases we are targeting.

We face intense competition from existing products and we expect to face increasing competition as new
products enter the market and advanced technologies become available. For the treatment of hepatitis B infection,
we are aware of four other drug products, specifically, lamivudine, entecavir and adefovir dipivoxil, each aucleoside
analogs, and pegylated interferon, which are approved by the FDA and commercially available in the United Slalej
or in foreign jurisdictions. These products have preceded Tyzeka®/Sebivo® into the marketplace and have gaine
acceptance with physicians and patients. For the treatment of chronic hepatitis C, the current standard of care is
pegylated interferon in combination with ribavirin, a nucleoside analog. Currently, for the treatment of HI
infection, there are 24 antiviral therapies approved for commercial sale in the United States. Of these approved
therapies, seven are nucleosides, three are non-nucleosides, 11 are protease inhibitors, one is an integrase inhibitos
and two are entry inhibitors.

We believe that a significant number of product candidates that are currently under development may becomé
available in the future for the treatment of HBV, HCV and HIV infections. Our competitors’ products may be morg

HCV or HIV product we successfully develop. Many of our competitors have:

+ significantly greater financial, technical and human resources than we have and may be better equipped (g
discover, develop, manufacture and commercialize products;

» more extensive experience in conducting preclinical studies and clinical trials, obtaining regulatory
approvals and manufacturing and marketing pharmaceutical products;

» products that have been approved or product candidates that are in late-stage development; and
+ collaborative arrangements in our target markets with leading companies and research institutions.

Under certain circumstances, Novartis has the right to compete with products and product candidateq

a material adverse effect on our business.

Competitive products may render our products obsolete or noncompetitive before we can recover the expensey
of developing and commercializing our product candidates. Furthermore, the development of new treatment
methods and/or the widespread adoption or increased utilization of vaccines for the diseases we are targeting could
render our product candidates noncompetitive, obsolete or uneconomical.

With respect to Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and other products, if any, we may successfully develop and obtain approva
to commerciatize, we will face competition based on the safety and effectiveness of our products, the timing ang
scope of regulatory approvals, the availability and cost of supply, marketing and sales capabilities, reimbursemen
coverage, price, patent position and other factors. Our competitors may develop or commercialize more effective of
more affordable products, or obtain more effective patent protection, than we do. Accordingly, our competitors may
commercialize products more rapidly or effectively than we do, Wthh could adversely affect our competitivg
position and business.
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Biotechnology and related pharmaceutical technologies have undergone and continue to be subject to rapid
and significant change. Our future will depend in large part on our ability te maintain a competitive position with
respect to these technologies.

If we are not able to attract and retain key management and scientific personnel and advisors, we may
not successfully develop our product candidates or achieve our other business objectives.

The growth of our business and our success depends in large part on our ability to attract and retain key
management and research and development personnel. Our key personnel include our senior officers, many of
whom have very specialized scientific, medical or operational knowledge. The loss of the service of any of the key
members of our senior management team may significantly delay or prevent our discovery of additional product
candidates, the development of our product candidates and achievement of our other business objectives. Our ability
to attract and retain qualified personnel, consultants and advisors is critical to our success.

We face intense competition for qualified individuals from numerous pharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies, universities, governmental entities and other research institutions. We may be unable to attract and
retain these individuals, and our failure to do so’would have an adverse cffect on our business. -

Our business has a substantial risk of product liability claims. If we are unable to obtain appropriate
levels of insurance, a product liability claim against us could adversely affect our business.

Our business exposes us to significant potential product liability risks that are inherent in the development,
manufacturing and marketing of human therapeutic products. Product liability claims could result in a recall of
products or a change in the therapeutic indications for which such products may be used. In addition, product
liability claims may distract our management and key personnel from our core business, require us to spend
significant time and money in litigation or to pay significant damages, which could prevent or interfere with
commercialization efforts and could adversely affect our business. Claims of this nature would also adversely affect
our reputation, which could damage our position in the marketplace. )

For Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, product liability claims could be made against us based on the use of our product in
people. For Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and our product candidates, product liability claims could be made against us based
on the use of our product candidates in clinical trials. We have obtained product liability insurance for Tyzeka®/
Sebivo® and maintain clinical trial insurance for our product candidates in development. Such insurance may not
provide adequate coverage against potential }abilities. In addition, clinical trial and product liability insurance is
becoming increasingly expensive. As a result, we may be unable to maintain or increase current amounts of product
liability and clinical trial insurance coverage, obtain product liability insurance for other products, if any, that wé'
seek 10 commercialize, obtain additional clinical trial insurance or obtain sufficient insurance at a reasonable cost. If
we are unable to obtain or maintain sufficient insurance coverage on reasonable terms or to otherwise protect
against potential product liability claims, we may be unable to commercialize our products or conduct the clinical
trials necessary to develop our product candidates. A successful product liability claim brought against us in excess,
of our insurance coverage, if any, may require us to pay substantial amounts in damages. This could adversely affect
our cash position and results of operations.

Our insurance policies are expensive and protect us only from some business risks, which will leave us
exposed to significant, uninsured liabilities.

We do not carry insurance for all categories of risk that our business may encounter. We currently maintain
general liability, property, workers’ compensation, products liability, directors’ and officers’, and employment
practices insurance policies. We do not know, however, if we will be able to maintain existing insurance with
adequate levels of coverage. Any significant uninsured liability may require us to pay substantial amounts, which
would adversely affect our cash position and results of operations.
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If the estimates we make, and the assumptions on which we rely, in preparing our financial statements
prove inaccurate, our actual results may vary from those reflected in our projections and accruals.

Our financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America. The preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and
judgments that affect the reported amounts of our assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, the amounts of charges
accrued by us and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We base our estimates on historical
experience and on various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. There can be
no assurance, however, that our estimates, or the assumptions underlying them, will not change.

One of these estimates is our estimate of the development period to amortize license fee revenue from Novartis
which we review on a quarterly basis. As of December 31, 2007, we have estimated that the performance period

during which the development of our licensed product and product candidates will be completed is a period of

approximately ten and a half years following the effective date of the development and commercialization
agreement that we entered into with Novartis, or December 2013. If the estimated development period changes,
we will adjust periodic revenue that is being recognized and will record the remaining unrecognized license fees and
other up-front payments over the remaining development period during which our performance obligations will be
completed. Significant judgments and estimates are invelved in determining the estimated development period and
different assumptions could yield materially different financial results. This, in turn, could adversely affect our
stock price.

If we fail to design and maintain an effective system of internal controls, we may not be able to
accurately report our financial resufts or prevent fraud. As a result, current and potential stockholders
could lose confidence in our financial reporting, which could harm our business and the trading price of
our common stock.

As directed by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, the Securities and Exchange Commission
adopted rules requiring public companies to include a report in Annual Reports on Form 10-K that contains an
assessment by management of the effectiveness of the company’s internal controls over financial reporting. In
addition, the company’s registered independent public accounting firm must attest to the effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting.

We have completed an assessment and will continue to review in the future our internal contrels over financial
reporting in an effort to ensure compliance with the Section 404 requirements. The manner by which companies
implement, maintain and enhance these requirements including internal conirol reforms, if any, to comply with
Section 404, and how registered independent public accounting firm apply these requirements and test companies’
internal controls, is subject to change and will evolve over time. As a result, notwithstanding our efforts, it is
possible that either our management or our registered independent public accounting firm may in the future
determine that our internal controls over financial reporting are not effective.

A determination that our internal controls over financial reporting are ineffective could result in an adverse
reaction in the financial marketplace due to a loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial
statements, which ultimately could negatively impact the market price of our stock, increase the volatility of our
stock price and adversely affect our ability to raise additional funding.

Factors Related to Development, Clinical Testing and Regulatory Approval of Our Product Candidates

All of our product candidates are in development. Our product candidates remain subject to clinical
testing and regulatory approval. If we are unable to develop our product candidates, we will not be
successful.

To date, we have limited experience marketing, distributing and selling any products. The success of our
business depends primarily upon Novartis” ability to commercialize Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and our ability, or that of any
future collaboration partner, to successfully commercialize other products, if any, we successfully develop. We
received approval from the FDA in the fourth quarter of 2006 to market and sell Tyzeka® for the treatment of
chronic hepatitis B in the United States. In April 2007, Sebivo® was approved in the European Union for the
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treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B. Effective October 1, 2007, we transferred to Novartis all of our
development, commercialization and manufacturing rights and obligations related to telbivudine (Tyzeka®/
Sebivo®) on a world-wide basis in exchange for royalty payments equal to a percentage of net sales of
Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, with such percentage increasing according to specified tiers of net sales. The royalty percentage
will vary based upon the territory and the aggregate dollar amount of net sales. Qur other product candidates are in
~ various earlier stages of development. All of our product candidates require regulatory review and approval prior to
- commercialization. Approval by regulatory authorities requires, among other things, that our product candidates
satisfy rigorous standards of safety, including assessments of the toxicity and carcinogenicity of the product
candidates we are developing, and efficacy. To satisfy these standards, we must engage in expensive and lengthy
testing. As a result of efforts to satisfy these regulatory standards, our product candidates may not:

+ offer therapeutic or other improvements over existing drugs;

* be proven safe and effective in clinical trials;

« meet applicable regulatory standards;

* be capable of being produced in commercial quantities at acceptable costs; or
= be successfully commercialized.

Commercial availability of our product candidates is dependent upon successful clinical development and
receipt of requisite regulatory approvals. Clinical data often are susceptible to varying interpretations. Many
companies that have believed that their product candidates performed satisfactorily in clinical trials in terms of both
safety and efficacy have nonetheless failed to obtain approval for such product candidates. Furthermore, the FDA
may request from us, and the EMEA and regulatory agencies in other jurisdictions may request from Novartis,
additional information including data from additional clinical trials, which may delay significantly any approval
and these regulatory agencies ultimately may not grant marketing approval for any of our product candidates. For
example, in July 2007, we announced that the FDA had placed on clinical hold in the United States our development
program of valopicitabine for the treatment of HCV based on the overall risk/benefit profile observed in clinical
testing. We subsequently discontinued the development of valopicitabine.

If our clinical trials are not successful, we will not obtain regulatory approval for the commercial sale of
our product candidates,

To obtain regulatory approval for the commercial sale of our product candidates, we will be required to
demonstrate through preclinical studies and clinical trials that our product candidates are safe and effective.
Preclinical studies and clinical trials are lengthy and expensive and the historical rate of failure for product
candidates is high. The results from preclinical studies of a product candidate may not predict the results that will be
obtained in human clinical trials.

We, the FDA or other applicable regulatory authorities may prohibit the initiation or suspend clinical trials of a
product candidate at any time if we or they believe the persons participating in such clinical trials are being exposed
to unacceptable health risks or for other reasons. As an example, in July 2007, we announced that the FDA had
placed on clinical hold in the United States our development program of valopicitabine for the treatment of HCV
based on the overall risk/benefit profile observed in clinical testing. We subsequently discontinued the development
of valopicitabine. The observation of adverse side effects in a clinical trial may result in the FDA or foreign
regulatory authorities refusing to approve a particular product candidate for any or all indications of use.
Additionally, adverse or inconclusive clinical trial results concerning any of our product candidates could require
us to conduct additional clinical trials, result in increased costs, significantly delay the submission of applications
seeking marketing approval for such product candidates, result in a narrower indication than was originally sought
or result in a decision to discontinue development of such product candidates.

Clinical trials require sufficient patient enrollment, which is a function of many factors, including the size of
the patient populatien, the nature of the protocol, the proximity of patients to clinical sites, the availability of
effective treatments for the relevant disease, the eligibitity criteria for the clinical trial and clinical trials evaluating
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other investigational agents, which may compete with us for patient enrollment. Delays in patient enrollment can '
result in increased costs and longer development times.

We cannot predict whether we will encounter problems with any of our completed, ongoing or planned clinical
trials that will cause us or regulatory authorities to delay or suspend our clinical trials, delay or suspend patient
enrollment into our clinical trials or delay the analysis of data from our completed or ongoing clintcal trials. Delays
in the development of our product candidates would delay our ability to seek and potentially obtain regulatory
approvals, increase expenses associated with clinical development and likely increase the volatility of the price of
our common stock. '

Any of the following could suspend, terminate or delay the completien of our ongoing, or the initiation of our
planned, clinical trials:

» discussions with the FDA or comparable foreign authorities regarding the scope or design of our clinical
trials;

delays in obtaining, or the inability to obtain, required approvals from, or suspensions or termination by,
institutional review boards or other governing entities at clinical sites selected for participation in our clinical
trials:

« delays enrolling participants into clinical trials;
= lower than anticipated retention of participants in clinical trials;

» insufficient supply or deficient quality of product candidate materials or other materials necessary to conduct
our clinical trials;

* serious or unexpected drug-related side effects experienced by participants in our clinical trials; or
* negative results of clinical trials.

If the results of our ongoing or planned clinical trials for our product candidates are not available when we
expect or if we encounter any delay in the analysis of data from our preclinical studies and clinical trials:

+ we may be unable to commence human clinical trials of any HIV product candidate, HCV product
candidates or other product candidates;

« Novartis may choose not to license our product candidates and we may not be able to enter into other
collaborative arrangements for any of our other product candidates; or

« we may not have the financial resources to continue the research and development of our product candidates.

If our product candidates fail to obtain U.S. and/or foreign regulatory approval, we and our partners will
be unable to commercialize our product candidates.

Each of our product candidates is subject to extensive governmental regulations relating to development,
clinical trials, manufacturing and commercialization. Rigorous preclinical studies and clinical trials and an
extensive regulatory approval process are required in the United States and in many foreign jurisdictions prior
to the commercial sale of our product candidates. Before any product candidate can be approved for sale, we must
demonstrate that it can be manufactured in accordance with the FDA’s current good manufacturing practices, which
are a rigorous set of requirements. In addition, facilities where the principal commercial supply of a product is 10 be
manufactured must pass FDA inspection prior to approval. Satisfaction of these and other regulatory requirements is
costly, time consuming, uncertain and subject to unanticipated delays. It is possible that none of the product
candidates we are currently developing will obtain the appropriate regulatory approvals necessary o permit
commercial distribution.

The time required for FDA review and other approvals is uncertain and typically takes a number of years,
depending upon the complexity of the product candidate. Our analysis of data obtained from preclinical studies and
clinical trials is subject to confirmation and interpretation by regulatory authorities, which could delay, limit or
prevent regulatory approval. We may also encounter unanticipated delays or increased costs due to government
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regulation from future legislation or administrative action, changes in FDA policy durmg the period of product
development, clinical trials and FDA regulatory review.

Any delay in obtaining or failure to obtain required approvals could materially adversely affect our ability to
generate revenues from a particular product candidate. Furthermore, any regulatory approval to market a product
may be subject to limitations on the indicated uses for which we may market the product. These restrictions may
limit the size of the market for the product. Additionally, product candidates we successfully develop could be
subject to post market surveillance and testing.

We are also subject to numerous foreign regulatory requirements governing the conduct of clinical trials, and
we, with Novartis, are subject to numerous foreign regulatory requirements relating to manufacturing and
marketing authorization, pricing and third-party reimbursement. The foreign regulatory approval processes include

~ all of the risks associated with FDA approval described above as well as risks attributable to the satisfaction of local

regulations in foreign jurisdictions. Approval by any one regulatory authority does not assure approval by
regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions. Many foreign regulatory authorities, including those in the European
Union and in China, have different approval procedures than those required by the FDA and may impose additional
testing requirements for our product candidates. Any failure or delay in obtaining such marketing authorizations for
our product candidates would have a material adverse effect on our business. :

Our products will be subject to ongoing regulatory review even after approval to market such products is
obtained. If we fail to comply with applicable U.S. and foreign regulauons, we could lose approvals we
have been granted and our business would be seriously harmed.

Even after approval, any drug product we successfully develop will remain subject to continuing regulatory

- review, including the review of clinical results, which are reported after our product becomes commercially

available. The marketing claims we are permitied to make in labeling or advertising regarding our marketed drugs in
the United States will be limited to those specified in any FDA approval, and in other markets such as the European
Union, regulatory approvals similar to FDA approval. Any manufacturer we use to make approved products will be
subject to periodic review and inspection by the FDA or other similar regulatory authorities in the European Union
and other jurisdictions. We are required to report any serious and unexpected adverse experiences and certain
quality problems with our products and make other periodic reponis to the FDA or other similar regulatory

~authorities in the European Union and other jurisdictions. The subsequent discovery of previously unknown

problems with the product, manufacturer or facility may result in restrictions on the drug manufacturer or facility,
including withdrawal of the drug from the market. We do not have, and currently do not intend to develop, the ability
10 manufacture material at commercial scale or for our clinical trials. Qur reliance on third-party manufacturers
entails risks to which we would not be subject if we manufactured products ourselves, including reliance on such
manufacturers for regulatory compliance. Certain changes to an approved product, including the way it is
manufactured or promoted, often require prior approval from regulatory authorities before the product as modified
may be marketed.

If we fail to comply with applicable continuing regulatory requirements, we may be subject to civil penalties,
suspension or withdrawal of any regulatory approval obtained, product recalls and seizures, injunctions, operating
restrictions and criminal prosecutions and penalties, Because of these potential sanctions, we seek to monitor
compliance with these regulations.

If we are subject to unfavorable pricing regulations, third-party reimbursement practices or healthcare
reform initiatives, our business may be harmed.

The regulations governing drug product marketing authorization, pricing and reimbursement vary widely from
country to country. Some countries require approval of the sale price of a drug-before it can be marketed. In many
countries, the pricing review period begins after product marketing authorization approval is granied. In some
foreign markets, prescription pharmaceutical pricing remains subject to continuing governmental control even after
initial approval is granted. As a result, we or Novartis may obtain regulatory approval for a product in a particular
country, but then be subject to price regulations, which may delay the commercial launch of the product and may
negatively impact the revenues we are able to derive from sales of the product in that country.
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Successful commercialization of our products will also depend in part on the extent to which reimbursement
for our products and related treatments will be available from government health administration authorities, private
health insurers and other organizations. Any of our commercial products may not be considered cost effective and
reimbursement may not be available or sufficient to allow sale of our products on a competitive basis. We may need
to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studies to demonstrate to third-party payers the cost effectiveness of our
product candidates. Sales of prescription drugs depend on the availability and level of reimbursement from third-
party payers, such as government and private insurance plans. These third-party payers frequently require that drug
companies provide predetermined discounts from list prices, and third-party payers are increasingly challenging the
prices charged for medical products. If the reimbursement we receive for any of our products is inadequate in light
of development and other costs, cur profitability could be adversely affected.

We believe that the efforts of governments and third-party payers to contain or reduce the cost of healthcare
will increase pressure on drug pricing and continue to affect the business and financial condition of pharmaceutical
and biopharmaceutical companies. If we fail to obtain adequate reimbursement for respective current or future
products, healthcare providers may limit how much or under what circumstances they will prescribe or administer
them, which could reduce the demand for and use of our products or cause us to reduce the price of our products.

If we fail to comply with ongoing regulatory requirements dafter receipt of approval to commercialize a
product, we may be subject to significant sanctions imposed by the FDA, EMEA or other U.S. and
SJoreign regulatory authoerities.

The research, testing, manufacturing and marketing of product candidates and products are subject to
extensive regulation by numerous regulatory authorities in the United States and other countries. Failure to
comply with FDA or other applicable U.S. and foreign regulatory requirements may subject a company to
administrative or judicially imposed sanctions. These enforcement actions may include without limitation:

» warning letters and other regulatory authority communications objecting to matters such as promotional
materials and requiring corrective action such as revised communications to healthcare practitioners;

+ civil penalties;

* criminal penalties;

* injunctions;

» product seizure or detention;

s product recalls;

» total or partial suspension of manufacturing; and

» FDA refusal to review or approve pending new drug applications or supplements to new drug applications
for previously approved products, and/or similar rejections of marketing applications or supplements by
foreign regulatory authorities.

The imposition of one or more of these sanctions could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we violate healthcare statutes such as fraud and abuse laws, we could be subject to significant penalties
and expenses.

Commercialization efforts in which we expect at a future time period to engage in the United States are subject
to various federal and state laws pertaining to pharmaceutical promotion and healthcare fraud and abuse, including
the Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, the Prescription Drug Marketing Act, federal and state anti-kickback laws and
false claims laws. Our future efforts to comply with these laws will be time consuming and expensive.

Anti-kickback laws make it illegal for any prescription drug manufacturer to offer or pay any remuneration in
exchange for, or to induce, the referral of business, including the purchase or prescription of a particular drug. The
federal government has published regulations that identify specific safe harbors or exemptions for types of payment
arrangements that do not violate the anti-kickback statutes. We intend to align our commercialization activities to
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such safe harbors, however, there can be no assurance that such activities will not be subject to scrutiny by
‘government or private authorities. False claims laws prohibit anyone from knowingly and willingly presenting, or
causing to be presented for payment to third-party payers (including Medicare and Medicaid), claims for
reimbursed drugs or services that are false or fraudulent, claims for items or services not provided as claimed,
‘or claims for medically unnecessary items or services.

The activities in which we expect to engage relating to the sale and marketing of products, if any, that are
approved for commercialization will be subject to scrutiny under these laws and regulations. Violations may be
punishable by significant criminal and/or civil fines and other penalties, as well as the possibility of exclusion of the
approved product from governmental healthcare programs (including Medicare and Medicaid}. If the government
were 10 allege against or convict us or any of our employees of violating these laws, there could be a material
adverse effect on our business, including our stock price.

Our activities could be subject to challenge for many reasons, including the broad scope and complexity of
these laws and regulations and the high degree of prosecutonial rescurces and attention being devoted to the sales
practices of pharmaceutical companies by law enforcement authorities. During the last few years, several
companies have agreed to enter into corporate integrity agreements and have paid multi-million dollar fines
and settlements for alleged violation of these laws, and other companies are under active investigation.

We have limited marketing and sales experience, and we cannot assure you that we or our employees, directors
or agents are or will be or will act in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. If we fail to comply with
any of these laws or regulations, various negative consequences could result, including the termination of clinical
trials, the failure,to gain regulatory approval of a product candidate, restrictions on our products or manufacturing
processes, withdrawal of the approved product from the market, exclusion of the approved product from govern-
mental healthcare programs (including Medicare and Medicaid), significant criminal and/or civil fines or other
penalties, and costly litigation.

Additionally, Novartis has the right to terminate the development and commercialization agreement due to our
uncured material breach, which could include our failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to
our efforts to commercialize products that we successfully develop and receive approval to commercialize.

.If we do not comply with laws regulating the protection of the environment and health and human safety,
our business could be adversely affected.

Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, chemicals and
various radioactive compounds. Although we believe that our safety procedures for handling and disposing of these
materials comply with the standards prescribed by state and federal laws and regulations, the risk of accidental
contamination or injury from these materials cannot be eliminated. If an accident occurs, we could be held liable for
resulting damages, which could be substantial. We are also subject to numerous environmental, health and
workplace safety laws and regulations, including those governing laboratory procedures, exposure to blood-bomne
pathogens and the handling of bichazardous materials. Although we maintain workers’ compensation insurance to
cover us for costs we may incur due to injuries to our employees resulting from the use of these materials and
environmental liability insurance to cover us for costs associated with environmental or toxic tort claims that may be
asserted against us, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against all potential liabilities. Additional
federal, state, foreign and local laws and regulations affecting our operations may be adopted in the future. We may
incur substantial costs to comply with, and substantial fines or penalties if we violate any of these laws or
regulations.

Factors Related to Our Relationship with Novartis

Novartis has substantial control over us and could delay or prevent a change in corporate control.

As of December 31, 2007, Novartis owned approximately 56% of our outstanding common stock. For so long
as Novartis owns at least a majority of our outstanding common stock, in addition to its contractual approval rights,
Novartis has the ability to delay or prevent a change in control of Idenix that may be favored by other stockholders
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and otherwise exercise substantial control over all corporate actions requiring stockholder approval irrespective of

. how our other stockholders may vote, including:

the election of directors;
any amendment of our restated certificate of incorporation or amended and restated by-laws;

the approval of mergers and other significant corporate transactions, including a sale of substantially all of
our assels; or

the defeat of any non-negotiated takeover attempt that might otherwise benefit our other stockholders.

Novartis has the right to exercise control over certain corporate actions that may not otherwise require
stockholder approval as long as it holds at least 19.4% of our voting stock.

As long as Novartis and its affiliates own at least 19.4% of our voting stock, which we define below, we cannot
take certain actions without the consent of Novartis. These actions include:

the authorization or issuance of additional shares of our capital stock or the capital stock of our subsidiaries,
except for a limited number of specified issuances;

any change or modification to the structure of our board of directors or a similar governing body of any of our-
subsidiaries;

any amendment or modification to any of our organizational documents or those of our subsidiaries;
the adoption of a three-year strategic plan,;
the adoption of an annual operating plan and budget, if there is no approved strategic plan;

any decision that would result in a variance of total annual expenditures, capital or expense, in excess of 20%
from the approved three-year strategic plan;

any decision that would result in a variance in excess of the greater of $10 million or 20% of our profit or loss ‘
target in the strategic plan or annual operating plan; ‘

the acquisition of stock or assets of another entity that exceeds 10% of our consolidated net revenue, net
incame or net assets;

the sale, lease, license or other disposition of any assets or business which exceeds 10% of our net revenue,
net income oOr net assets;

the incurrence of any indebtedness by us or our subsidiaries for borrowed money in excess of $2 million;
any material change in the nature of our business or that of any of our subsidiaries;
any change in contro! of Idenix or any subsidiary; and

any dissolution or liquidation of Idenix or any subsidiary, or the commencement by us or any subsidiary of
any action under applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization or liquidation laws.

Pursuant to the amended and restated stockholders’ agreement, dated July 27, 2004, among us, Novartis and
certain of our stockholders, which we refer to as the stockholders’ agreement, we are obligated to use our reasonable
best efforts to nominate for election as a director at least two designees of Novartis for so long as Novartis and its
affiliates own at least 35% of our voting stock and at least one designee of Novartis for so long as Novartis and its
affiliates own at least 19.4% of our voting stock.

Additionally, until such time as Novartis and its affiliates own less than 50% of our voting stock, Novartis’
consent is required for the selection and appointment of our chief financial officer. If in Novartis’ reasonable
judgment our chief financial officer is not satisfactorily performing his duties, we are required to terminate the
employment of our chief financial officer.
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Furthermore, under the terms of the stock purchase agreement, dated as of March 21, 2003, among us, Novartis
and substantially all of our then existing stockholders, which we refer to as the stock purchase agreement, Novartis
1s required to make future contingent payments of up to $357.0 million to these stockholders if we achieve
predetermined development milestones with respect to an HCV product candidate. As a result, in making
determinations as to our annual operating plan and budget for the development of our product candidates, the
interests of Novartis may be different than the interests of our other stockholders, and Novartis could exercise its
approval rights in a manner that may not be in the best interests of all of our stockholders.

Under the stockholders™ agreement, voting stock means our outstanding securities entitled to vote in the
election of directors, but does not include:;

* securities issued in connection with our acquisition of all of the capital stock or all or substantiatly all of the
assets of another entity; and

* shares of common stock issued upon exercise of stock options or stock awards pursuant to compensation and
equity incentive plans. Notwithstanding the foregoing, voting stock includes up to 1,399,106 shares that
were reserved as of May 8, 2003 for issuance under our 1998 equity incentive plan.

Novartis has the ability to exercise substantial control over our strategic direction, our research and devel-
opment focus and other material business decisions. In connection with its initial purchase of our common stock,
Novartis agreed not to acquire additional shares of our voting stock unless a majority of our independent directors
approves or requests the acquisition. These restrictions will terminate on May 8, 2008,

We currently depend on Novartis for substantially all our revenues and for the commercialization of
Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and for support in the development of product candidates Novartis has licensed from us.
If our development, license and commercialization agreement with Novartis terminates, our business and,
in particular, the development of our product candidates and the commercialization of any products that
we successfully develop could be harmed.

In May 2003, we received a $75.0 million license fee from Novartis in connection with the license to Novartis
of our then HBV product candidates, telbivudine and valtorcitabine. In April 2007, we received a $10.0 million
milestone payment for regulatory approval of Sebivo® in China and in June 2007 we received an additional
$10.0 million milestone payment for regulatory approval of Sebivo® in the European Union. Pursuant to the
development and commercialization agreement, as amended, Novartis also acquired options to license valopici-
tabine and additional product candidates from us. In March 2006, Novartis exercised its option and acquired a
license to valopicitabine. In exchange we received a $25.0 million license fee from Novartis and the right to receive
up to an additional $45.0 million in license fee payments upon advancement of an HCV product candidate into
phase IH clinical trials. Assuming we continue to successfully develop and commercialize our product candidates
(other than valopicitabine), under the terms of the development and commercialization agreement, we are entitled to
receive reimbursement of expenses we incur in connection with the development of these product candidates and
additional milestone payments from Novartis. Additionally, if any of the product candidates we have licensed to
Novartis are approved for commercialization, we anticipate receiving proceeds in connection with the sales of such
products. If Novartis exercises the option to license with respect to other product candidates that we discover, or in
some cases, acquire, we are entitled to receive license fees and milestone payments as well as reimbursement of
expenses we incur in the development of such product candidates in accordance with development plans mutually
agreed with Novartis.

Under the existing terms of the development and commercialization agreement, we have the right 1o
ca-promote and co-market with Novartis in the United States, United Kingdom, Germany, ltaly, France and
Spain any products licensed by Novartis, including Tyzeka®/Sebivo®. For Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, we acted as lead
commercial party in the United States. On September 28, 2007 we entered into an amendment to the development
and commercialization agreement and a transition services agreement, both of which became effective on October 1,
2007, whereby we transferred to Novartis all of our development, commercialization and manufacturing rights and
obligations related to telbivudine (Tyzeka®/Sebivo®) on a world-wide basis in exchange for royalty payments equal
to a percentage of net sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, with such percentage increasing according to specified tiers of net
sales. The royalty percentage will vary based upon the territory and the aggregate dollar amount of net sales.
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Novartis is responsible for development and commercialization expenses relating to telbivudine after Octo-
ber 1, 2007 and is also responsible for certain costs associated with the transition of third party contracts and
arrangements relating to telbivudine and certain intellectual property prosecution and enforcement activities.
Pursuant to the transition services agreement, we will provide Novartis with certain services relating to telbivudine
through June 2008 (or later if agreed to by the parties). We will be reimbursed for these services at an agreed upon
rate.

As a result of the amendment to the development and commercialization agreement discussed above, our
master manufacturing and supply agreement, dated May 2003, and our commercial manufacturing agreement,
dated June 2006, between us and Novartis, were terminated without penalty as each related to telbivudine.

Novartis may terminate the development and commercialization agreement in any country or with respect to

any product or product candidate licensed under the development and commercialization agreement for any reason

with six months written notice. If the development and commercialization agreement is terminated in whole or in

part and we are unable to enter similar arrangements with other cotlaborators or partners, our business would be

materially adversely affected.

Novartis has the option to license from us product candidates we discover, or in some cases, acquire. If
Novartis does not exercise its option with respect to a product candidate, our development, manufacture
and/or commercialization of such product candidate may be substantially delayed or limited.

Our drug development programs and poténtial commercialization of our product candidates will require
substantial additional funding. In addition to its license of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, valtorcitabine and valopicitabine,
Novartis has the option under the development and commercialization agreement to license our other product
candidates. If Novartis elects not to exercise such option, we may be required to seek other collaboration
arrangements to provide funds necessary to enable us 1o develop such product candidates.

If we are not successful in efforts to enter into a collaboration arrangement with respect to a product candidate
not licensed by Novartis, we may not have sufficient funds to develop such product candidate internally. As a result,
our business would be adversely affected. In addition, the negotiation of a collaborative agreement is time
consuming, and could, even if successful, delay the development, manufacture and/or commercialization of a
product candidate and the terms of the collaboration agreements may not be favorable to us.

If we breach any of the numerous representations and warranties we made to Novartis under the development
and commercialization agreement or the stock purchase agreement, Novartis has the right to seek indemnifi-
cation from us for damages it suffers as result of such breach. These amounts could be substantial,

We have agreed to indemnify Novartis and its affiliates against losses suffered as a result of our breach of
representations and warranties in the development and commercialization agreement and the stock purchase
agreement. Under the development and commercialization agreement and stock purchase agreement, we made
numerous representations and warranties to Novartis regarding our HCV and HBV product candidates, including
representations regarding our ownership of and licensed rights to the inventions and discoveries relating to such
product candidates. If one or more of our representations or warranties were not true at the time we made them to
Novartis, we would be in breach of these agreements. In the event of a breach by us, Novartis has the right 1o seek
indemnification from us and, under certain circumstances, us and our stockholders who sold shares to Novartis,
which include many of our directors and officers, for damages suffered by Novartis as a result of such breach. The
amounts for which we could become liable to Novartis may be substantial.

In May 2004, we entered inlo a settlement agreement with UAB and UABREF, relating to our ownership of our
chief executive officer’s inventorship interest in certain of our patents and patent applications, including patent
applications covering our HCV preduct candidates. Under the terms of the settlement agreement, we agreed to
make payments to UABRF, including an initial payment made in 2004 in the amount of $2.0 million, as well as
regulatory milestone payments and payments relating to net sales of certain products, Novartis may seek to recover
trom us, and, under certain circumstances, us and our stockholders who sold shares to Novartis, which include many
of our officers and directors, the losses it suffers as a result of any breach of the representations and warranties we
made relating to our HCV product candidates and may assert that such losses include the settlement payments.
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Novartis could also suffer losses in connection with any amounts we become obligated to pay relating to or

'~ under the terms of any license agreement, including the UAB license agreement, or other arrangements we may be

required 1o enter into with UAB, Emory University and CNRS, each licensors under the UAB license agreement, to

commercialize telbivudine. Novartis may seek to recover from us, and, under certain circumstances, us and those of

our officers, directors and other stockholders who sold shares to Novartis, such losses and other losses it suffers as a
result of any breach of the representations and warranties we made relating to our HBV product candidates.

If we are required to rely upon the UAB license agreement to commercialize telbivudine, we will be obligated
to make certain payments to UABRF and the other licensors. Such amounts would include payments in the
aggregate amount of $1.3 million due upon the achievement of regulatory milestones, a 6% royalty on annual sales
up to $50.0 million and a 3% royalty on annual sales greater than $50.0 million made by us or an affiliate of ours.

- Additionally, if we sublicense our rights to a non-affiliate sublicensee, which is defined as any entity other than one
which holds or controls at least 50% of our capital stock, or if Novartis’s ownership interest in us declines below
50% of our outstanding shares of capital stock, we could be obligated to pay 1o UABRF 30% of all royalties received

by us from sales by the sublicensee of telbivudine and 20% of all fees, milestone payments and other cash
consideration we receive from the sublicensee with respect to telbivudine.

If we materially breach our obligations or covenants arising under the development and
commercialization agreement with Novartis, we may lose our rights to develop or commercialize our
product candidates.

|
;
| We have significant obligations to Novartis under the development and commercialization agreement. The
| obligations to which we are subject include the responsibility for developing and, in some countries, co-promoting
or co-marketing the products licensed to Novartis in accordance with plans and budgets subject to Novartis’
approval. The covenants and agreements we made when entering into the development and commercialization
agreement include covenants relating to payment of our required portion of development expenses under the
development and commercialization agreement, compliance with certain third-party license agreements, the
conduct of our clinical studies and activities relating to the commercialization of any products that we successfully
develop. If we materially breach this agreement and are unable within an agreed time period to cure such breach, the
agreement may be terminated and we may be required to grant Novartis an exclusive license to develop,
manufacture and/or sell such products. Although such a license would be subject to payment of a royalty by
Novartis to be negotiated in good faith, we and Novartis have stipulated that no such payments would permit the
breaching party to receive more than 90% of the net benefit it was entitled to receive before the agreement were
terminated. Accordingly, if we materially breach our obligations under the development and commercialization
agreement, we may lose our rights to develop our product candidates or commercialize our successfully developed
products and receive lower payments from Novartis than we had anticipated.

If we issue capital stock, in certain situations Novartis will be able to purchase shares at par value to
maintain its percentage ownership in Idenix and, if that occurs, this could cause dilution. In addition,
Novartis has the right, under specified circumstances, to purchase a pro rata portion of other shares that
wWe may issue.

Under the terms of the stockholders’ agreement, Novartis has the right to purchase at par value of $0.001 per
share, such number of shares required to maintain its percentage ownership of our voting stock if we issue shares of
capital stock in connection with the acquisition or in-licensing of technology through the issuance of up to 5% of our
~stock in any 24-month period. If Novartis elects to maintain its percentage ownership of our voting stock under the
rights described above, Novartis will be buying such shares at a price, which is substantially below market value,
which would cause dilution. This right of Novartis will remain in effect until the earlier of:

| » the date that Novartis and its affiliates own less than 19.4% of our voting stock; or

+ the date that Novartis becomes obligated under the stock purchase agreement to make the additional future
contingent payments of $357.0 million to our stockholders who sold shares to Novartis in May 2003,

In addition to the right to purchase shares of our common stock at par value as described above, Novartis has
the right, subject to limited exceptions noted below, to purchase a pro rata portion of shares of capital stock that we
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issue. The price that Novartis pays for these securities would be the price that we offer such securities to third
parties, including the price paid by persons who acquire shares of our capital stock pursuant to awards granted under
stock compensation or equity incentive plans. Novartis’ right to purchase a pro rata portion does not include;

* securilies issuable in connection with any stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend or recapitalization
that we undertake that affects all holders of our common stock proportionately;

¢ shares that Novartis has the right to purchase at par value, as described above;

+ shares of common stock issuable upon exercise of stock options and other awards pursuant to our 1998
Equity Incentive Plan; and !

* securities issuable in connection with our acquisition of all the capital stock or all or substantially all of the
assets of another entity.

Novartis’ right to purchase shares includes a right to purchase securities that are convertible into, or
exchangeable for, our common stock, provided that Novartis’ right to purchase stock in connection with options
or other convertible securities issued to any of our directors, officers, employees or consultants pursuant to any stock
compensation or equity incentive plan will not be triggered until the underlying equity security has been issued to
the director, officer, employee or consultant.

If Novartis terminates or fails to perform its obligations under the development and commercialization
agreement, we may not be able to successfully commercialize our product candidates licensed to Novartis
and the development and commercialization of our other product candidates could be delayed, curtailed
or terminated.

Under the amended development and commercialization agreement, Novartis is solely responsible for the
development, commercialization and manufacturing rights to telbivudine on a world-wide basis. We expect to
co-promote or co-market with Novartis other products, if any, that Novartis has licensed or will license from us
which are successfully developed and approved for commercialization. As a result, we will depend upon the success
of the efforts of Novartis to manufacture, market and sell Tyzeka® /Sebivo® and our other products, if any, that we
successfuily develop. However, we have limited control over the resources that Novartis may devote to such
manufacturing and commercialization efforts and, if Novartis does not devote sufficient time and resources to such
efforts, we may not realize the commercial or financial benefits we anticipate, and our results of operations may be
adversely affected.

In addition, Novartis has the right to terminate the development and commercialization agreement with respect
to any product, product candidate or country with six months written notice to us. If Novartis were to breach or
terminate this agreement with vs, the development or commercialization of the affected product candidate or
product could be delayed, curtailed or terminated because we may not have sufficient resources or capabilities,
financial or otherwise, to continue development and commercialization of the product candidate, and we may not be
successful in entering into a collaboration with another third pany.

Novartis has the right under certain circumstances lo market and sell products that compete with the
product candidates and products that we license to it, and any competition by Novartis could have a mate-
rial adverse effect on our business.

Novartis has agreed that, other than as set forth in the development and commercialization agreement, it will
not market, sell or promote certain competitive products except that:

» this agreement not to compete extends only until May 2008;

* as to any country, the agreement not to compete would terminate if Novartis terminates the development and
commercialization agreement with respect to that country; and

= if Novartis wishes to market, sell, promote or license a competitive product, it is required to inform us of the
competitive product opportunity and, at our election, enter into good faith negotiations with us concerning
such opportunity. If we either do not elect to enter into negotiations with respect to such opportunity or are
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. unable to reach agreement within a specified period, Novartis would be free to proceed with its plans with
respect 1o such competing product.

Accordingly, Novartis may under certain circumstances market, sell, promote or license competitive products.
Novartis has significantly greater financial, technical and human resources than we have and is better equipped to
discover, develop, manufacture and commercialize products, In addition, Novartis has more extensive experience in
preclinical studies and clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and manufacturing and marketing pharma-
ceutical products. In the event that Novartis competes with us, our business could be materiaily and adversely
affected.

Factors Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

If we seek to enter into collaboration agreements for any product candidates other than those licensed to
Novartis and we are not successful in establishing such collaborations, we may not be able to continue
development of those product candidates.

Our drug development programs and product commercialization efforts will require substantial additional cash
to fund expenses to be incurred in connection with these activities. While we have entered into the development and
commercialization agreement with Novartis, we may seek to enter into additional collaboration agreements with
pharmaceutical companies to fund all or part of the costs of drug development and commercialization of product
candidates that Novartis does not license. We may not be able to enter into collaboration agreements and the terms
of the collaboration agreements, if any, may not be favorable 1o us, If we are not successful in our efforts to enter into
a collaboration arrangement with respect to a product candidate, we may not have sufficient funds to develop such
product candidate or any other product candidate internally.

If we do not have sufficient funds to develop our product candidates, we will not be able to bring these product
candidates to market and generate revenue. As a result, our business will be adversely affected. In addition, the
inability to enter into collaboration agreements could delay or preclude the development, manufacture and/or
commercialization of a product candidate and could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and
results of operations because:

» we may be required to expend our own funds to advance the product candidate to commercialization;
* revenue from product sales could be delayed; or

« we may elect not to develop or commercialize the product candidate.

If any collaborative partner terminates or fails to perform its obligations under agreements with us, the
development and commercialization of our preduct candidates could be delayed or terminated.

We have entered into the development and commercialization agreement with Novartis and we may enter into
additional collaborative arrangements in the future. If collaborative partners do not devote sufficient time and
resources to any collaboration arrangement with us, we may not realize the potential commercial benefits of the
arrangement, and our results of operations may be adversely affected. In addition, if Novartis or future collaberation
partners were to breach or terminate their arrangements with us, the development and commercialization of the
affected product candidate could be delayed, curtailed or terminated because we may not have sufficient financial
resources or capabilities to continue development and commercialization of such product candidate.

QOur collaborations with outside scientists may be subject to restriction and change.

We work with chemists and biologists at academic and other institutions that assist us in our research and
development efforts. Telbivudine, valtorcitabine and valopicitabine were discovered with the research and devel-
opment assistance of these chemists and biologists. Many of the scientists who have contributed to the discovery
and development of our product candidates are not our employees and may have other commitments that would
limit their future availability to us. Although our scientific advisors and collaborators generally agree not to do
competing work, if a conflict of interest between their work for us and their work for another entity arises, we may
lose their services.
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We have depended on third-party manufacturers to manufacture products for us. If in the future we
manufacture any of our products, we will be required to incur significant costs and devote significant
efforts to establish these capabilities.

We have relied upon third parties to produce material for preclinical and clinical studies and may continue to
do so in the future. Although we believe that we will not have any material supply issues, we cannot be certain that
we will be able to obtain long term supply arrangements of those materials on acceptable terms, if at all. We also
expect to rely upon other third parties to produce materials required for clinical trials and for the commercial
production of certain of our products if we succeed in obtaining necessary regulatory-approvals. If we are unable to
arrange for third-party manufacturing, or to do so on commercially reasonable terms, we may not be able to
complete development of our products or market them.

Reliance on third-party manufacturers entails risks to which we would not be subject if we manufactured
products ourselves, including reliance on the third party for regulatory compliance and quality assurance, the
possibility of breach by the third party of agreements related to supply because of factors beyond our control and the
possibility of termination or nonrenewal of the agreement by the third party, based on its own business priorities, at a
time that is costly or damaging to us.

In addition, the FDA and other regulatory authorities require that our products be manufactured according to
current good manufacturing practice regulations. Any failure by us or our third-party manufacturers to comply with
current good manufacturing practices and/or our failure to scale up our manufacturing processes could lead 10 a
delay in, or failure to obtain, regulatory approval. In addition, such failure could be the basis for action by the FDA
to withdraw approvals for product candidates previously granted to us and for other regulatory action.

Factors Related t(; Patents and Licenses

If we are unable fo adequately protect our patents and licenses related to our product candidates, or if we
infringe the rights of others, it may not be possible to successfully commercialize products that we
develop.

Our success will depend in part on our ability to obtain and maintain patent protection both in the United States
and in other countries for any products we successfully develop. The patents and patent applications in our patent
portfolio are either owned by us, exclusively licensed to us, or co-owned by us and others and exclusively licensed to
us. Qur ability to protect any products we successfully develop from unauthorized or infringing vuse by third parties
depends substantially on our ability to obtain and maintain valid and enforceable patents. Due to evolving legal
standards relating to the patentability, validity and enforceability of patents covering pharmaceutical inventions and
the scope of claims made under these patents, our ability to obtain and enforce patents is uncertain and involves
complex legal and factual questions. Accordingly, rights under any issued patents may not provide us with sufficient
protection for any products we successfully develop or provide sufficient protection to afford us a commercial
advantage against our competitors or their competitive products or processes. In addition, we cannot guarantee that
any patents will be issued from any pending or future patent applications owned by or licensed to us. Even if patents
have been issued or will be issued, we cannot guarantee that the claims of these patents are, or will be, valid or
enforceable, or provide us with any significant protection against competitive products or otherwise be commer-
cially valuable to us.

We may not have identified all patents, published applications or published literature that affect our business
either by blocking our ability to commercialize our product candidates, by preventing the patentability of our
product candidates to us or our licensors or co-owners, or by covering the same or similar technologies that may
invalidate our patents, limit the scope of our future patent claims or adversely affect our ability to market our
product candidates. For example, patent applications in the United States are maintained in confidence for up to
18 months after their filing. In some cases, however, patent applications remain confidential in the U.S. Patent and
Trademark Office, which we refer to as the U.S. Patent Office, for the entire time prior to issuance of a U.S. patent.
Patent applications filed in countries outside the United States are not typically published until at lcast 18 months
from their first filing date. Similarly, publication of discoveries in the scientific or patent literature often lags behind
actual discoveries. Therefore, we cannot be certain that we or our licensors or co-owners were the first to invent, or
the first to file, patent applications on our product or product candidates or for their uses. In the event that a third
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party has also filed a U.S. patent application covering our product or product candidates or a similar invention, we
may have to participate in an adversarial proceeding, known as an interference, declared by the U.S. Patent Office to
determine priority of invention in the United States. The costs of these proceedings could be substantial and it is
possible that our efforts could be unsuccessful, resulting in a loss of our U.S. patent position. The laws of some
foreign jurisdictions do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as in the United States and many
companies have encountered significant difficulties in protecting and defending such rights in foreign jurisdictions.
If we encounter such difficulties in protecting or are otherwise precluded from effectively protecting our intellectual
property rights in foreign jurisdictions, our business prospects could be substantially harmed.

Since our HBV product, telbivudine, was a known compound before the filing of our patent applications
covering the use of this product candidate to treat HBV infection, we cannot obtain patent protection on telbivudine
itself. As a result, we have obtained and maintain patents granted on the method of using telbivudine as a medical
therapy for the treatment of hepatitis B infection.

Pursuant to the UAB license agreement, we were granted an exclusive license to the rights that the 1998
licensors have 10 a 1995 U.S. patent application and progeny thereof and counterpart patent applications in Europe,
Canada, Japan and Australia that cover the use of certain synthetic nucleosides for the treatment of HBV infection.

In February 2006, UABRF notified us that it and Emory University were asserting a claim that, as a result of the
filing of a continuation patent application in July 2005 by UABRF, the UAB license agreement covers our
telbivudine technology. UABRF contends that we are obligated to pay the 1998 licensors an aggregate of
$15.3 million comprised of 20% of the $75.0 million license fee we received from Novartis in May 2003 in
connection with the license of our HBV product candidates and a $0.3 million payment in connection with the
submission to the FDA of the IND pursuant to which we conducted clintcal trials of telbivudine. We disagree with
UABRF’s contentions and advised UABRF and Emory University that we will utilize the dispute resolution
procedures set forth in the UAB license agreement for resolution of this dispute. Under the terms of that agreement,
if resolution cannot be dchieved through negotiations between the parties or mediation, it must be decided by
binding arbitration under the rules of the American Arbitration Association before a panel of three arbitrators.
Pursuant to the terms of the dispute resolutions procedure in the UAB license agreement, in September 2007 the
CEOQs of UABRF and Idenix met and agreed to begin a process of mediation. While the parties participated in a joint
mediation session in January 2008, no resolution of these matters has yet been reached. However, a non-binding
settlement proposal has been discussed by the parties. Such settlement proposal remains subject to several terms and
conditions, including a full release of all claims by UABRF and related entities.

If we do not settle these disputes and it is determined that the UAB license agreement does cover our use of
telbivudine to treat HBV, we will be obligated to make payments to the 1998 licensors in the amounts and manner
specified in the UAB license agreement, While we dispute the demands made by UABRE, even if liability were
found to exist, UABRF’s claims, in addition to those described above would likely include payments in the
aggregate amount of $1.0 million due upon achievement of regulatory milestones, a 6% royalty on annual sales up
10 $50.0 million and a 3% royalty on annual sales greater than $50.0 million made by us or an affiliate of ours.
Additionatly, if we sublicense our rights to any entity other than one which holds or controls at least 50% of our
capital stock, or if Novartis” ownership interest in us declines below 50% of our outstanding shares of capital stock,
UABRF would likely contend that we would be obligated to pay to the 1998 licensors 30% of all royalties received
on sales by the sublicensee of telbivudine and 20% of all fees, milestone payments and other cash consideration
received from the sublicensee with respect to telbivudine.

If we fail to perform our material obligations under the UAB license agreement, UABREF, acting for the 1998
licensors, may attempt to terminate the UAB license agreement or render the license to us non-exclusive. We do not
believe that we are in default of any of the material obligations to which we are subject under the UAB license
agreement. Any attempt to terminate the agreement would be subject to binding arbitration. In the event UABRF is
successful in terminating the license agreement as a result of a breach by us after a period of arbitration, and the
1998 licensors obtain a valid enforceable claim that generally covers the use of telbivudine to treat hepatitis B, it
may be necessary for us to obtain another license from the 1998 licensors. Such license may not be available to us on
reascnable terms, on an exclusive basis or at all. This could materially adversely affect or preclude the commer-
cialization of telbivudine.
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If the 1998 licensors were instead to render the UAB license agreement to us non-exclusive, we would not be
prohibited from using telbivudine to treat hepatitis B, but a non-exclusive license could be granted to one or more of
our competitors by one or more of the 1998 licensors. In the event that the 1998 licénsors exclusively or non-
exclusively license any claims covering the use of telbivudine to treat HBV to a competitor, we believe that such a
competitor would have to overcome substantial legal and commercial hurdles to successfully commercialize the
product. For example, we have four U.S. patents covering the use of telbivudine to treat HBY, which we believe a
competitor would likely infringe if it sought to commercialize telbivudine. Patent applications covering the use of
telbivudine to treat HBV are also pending or have already been granted in numerous other countries. The FDA granted
approval for the commercial use of Tyzeka® on October 25, 2006 and also granted five years of marketing exclusivity,
during which period the FDA will not approve the applications of any competitors who seek approval of telbivudine
for the treatment of hepatitis B. We may also receive regulatory exclusivity periods in Europe and in other countries.

If it is determined that the UAB license agreement does cover our use of telbivudine to treat HBV, or we must
otherwise rely upon a license agreement granted by the 1998 licensors to commercialize telbivudine, we may be in
breach of certain of the representations and warranties we made to Novartis under the development and
commercialization dgreement and the stock purchase agreement. Pursuant to the terms of the development and
commercialization agreement and the stock purchase agreement, if there is a breach Novartis has the right to seek
indemnification from us, and, under certain circumstances, us and our stockholders who seld shares to Novartis, for
the losses Novartis incurs as a result of the breach. The amounts for which we could be liable to Novartis may be
substantial.

In January 2007, the Board of Trustees of the University of Alabama and related entities filed a complaint in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Alabama, Southern Division against us, CNRS and the
University of Montpellier. The complaint alleges that a former employee of UAB is a co-inventor of certain patents
in the United States and corresponding foreign patent applications related to the use of 3-L-2’-deoxy-nucleosides
for the treatment of HBV; assigned to one or more of us, CNRS and the University of Montpellier and which cover
the use of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®.

If the Board of Trustees of the University of Alabama and related entities are successful in the lawsuit against us, .
CNRS and the University of Montpellier, then UAB could obtain rights in certain patents in the United States and
corresponding foreign patent applications related to the use of B-L-2'-deoxy-nucleosides for the treatment of HBV
currently assigned to one or more of us, CNRS and the University of Montpellier and which cover the use of Tyzeka®/
Sebivo®, The University of Alabama has included a demand for damages under various theories in its complaint, but
did not specify the amount of damages that it alleges to have incusred. In response to the complaint, in March 2007, we
filed a motion to dismiss based vpon lack of personal jurisdiction. In September 2007, the parties agreed to stay the
action and pursue mediation relating to the disputes associated with the license agreement and this litigation. As a
result of a joint mediation session held in January 2008, a non-binding settlement has been proposed by the parties
which could potentially require Idenix to make payments to UABRF and related entities. We have assessed this
settlement proposal under the provisions of FAS 5, and recorded an expense of $1.5 million for the quarter ended
December 31, 2007. If the proposed settlement is not completed on terms acceptable to Idenix, we will resume the
defense of these claims, including through the litigation process. Accruals related to the settlement proposal may be
adjusted in future periods if a settlement agreement is not reached. We cannot ascertain with certainty the likelihood
this or any settlement proposal will be accepted by or entered into by the parties. If we are not able to reach a settlement
agreement with the parties, we will continue to vigorously defend against claims made by UABRF and related entities
(see Note 2).

Our initial HCV clinical product candidate, valopicitabine, is a prodrug of the active molecule NM 107, which
is converted into biologically active NM107 in the body. We believe that valopicitabine may be a new compound,
and therefore we are prosecuting patent applications directed to valopicitabine itself, as well as a method to treat
HCYV infection with valopicitabine. NM 107 was a known compound at the time that the patent applications covering
the use of this active form of valopicitabine to treat HCV infection were filed. We have been granted U.S. patents
claiming methods of treatment using NM107, each directed to treating HCV infection specifically to treating
flavivirus and pestivirus infection. We have a pending U.S. patent application covering the compound valopici- |
tabine. We cannot, however, obtain patent protection on the compound NM 107,
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Despite the fact that NM107 is a known compound, we are aware that a number of companies have filed patent
applications atiempting to cover NM 107 specifically as a compound, as well as valopicitabine, as members of broad
classes of compounds. Companies have also filed patent applications covering the use of NM 107, specifically, and
valopicitabine, generically, to treat HCV infection, or infection by any member of the Flaviviridae virus family to
which the HCV virus belongs. These companies include Merck & Co., Inc. together with Isis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
Ribapharm, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Valeant Pharmaceuticals International, Genelabs Technologies, Inc.
and Biota, Inc., a subsidiary of Biota Holdings Ltd., or Biota. We believe that we were the first to file patent
applications covering the use of these product candidates to treat HCV infection, Because patents in countries
outside the United States are awarded to the first to file a patent application covering an invention, we believe that
we are entitled to patent protection in these countries. Notwithstanding this, a foreign country may grant patent

- rights covering our product candidates to one or more other companies, either because it is not aware of our patent

filings or because the country does not interpret our patent filing as a bar to issuance of a patent to the other company
in that country. If that occurs, we may need to challenge the third-party patent 1o enforce our proprietary rights, and
if we do not or are not successful, we will need to obtain a license that may not be available at all or on commerciaily
reasonable terms. In the United States, a patent is awarded to the first to invent the subject matter. The U.S. Patent
Office could initiate an interference between us and any or all of Merck/Isis, Ribapharm, Genelabs, Biota or another
company to determine the priority of invention of the use of these compounds to treat HCV infection. If such an
interference is initiated and it is determined that we were not the first to invent the use of these compounds in
methods for treating HCV or other viral infection under U.S. law, we would need to obtain a license that may not be
available on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

A number of companies have filed patent applications and have obtained patents covering general methods for
the treatment of HBV, HCV and HIV infections that could materially affect the ability to develop and commercialize
Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, and other product candidates we may develop in the future. For example, we are aware that
Chiron Corporation, now a subsidiary of Novartis, and Apath, LLC have obtained broad patents covering HCV
proteins, nucleic acids, diagnostics and drug screens. If we need to use these patented materials or methods to
develop any of our HCV product candidates and the materials or methods fall outside certain safe harbors in the
laws governing patent infringement, we will need to buy these products from a licensee of the company authorized
to sell such products or we will require a license from one or more companies, which may not be available to us on
cominercially reasonable terms or at all. This could materially affect or preclude our ability to develop and sell our
HCYV product candidates.

If we find that any product candidates we are developing should be used in combination with a product covered
by a patent held by another company or institution, and that a labeling instruction is required in product packaging
recommending that combination, we could be accused of, or held liable for, infringement or inducement of
infringement of the third-party patents covering the product recommended for co-administration with our product.
In that case, we may be required to obtain a license from the other company or institution to provide the required or
desired package labeling, which may not be available on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

Litigation and disputes related to intellectual property matters occur frequently in the biopharmaceutical
industry. Litigation regarding patents, patent applications and other proprietary rights may be expensive and time
consuming. If we are unsuccessful in litigation concerning patents or patent applications owned or co-owned by us
or licensed to us, we may not be able 10 protect our products from competition or we may be precluded from selling
our products. If we are involved in such litigation, it could cause delays in bringing product candidates to market and
harm our ability to operate. Such litigation could 1ake place in the United States in a federal court or in the
U.S. Patent Office. The litigation could also take place in a foreign country, in either the court or the patent office of
that country. '

Our success will depend in part on our ability to uphold and enforce patents or patent applications owned or co-
owned by us or licensed to us, which cover products we successfully develop. Proceedings involving our patents or
patent applications could result in adverse decisions regarding:

= ownership of patents and patent applications;

= the patentability of our inventions relating to our product candidates; and/or
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» the enforceability, validity or scope of protection offered by our patents relating to our product candidates.

Even if we are successful in these proceedings, we may incur substantial cost and divert management time and
attention in pursuing these proceedings, which could have a material adverse effect on us.

In May 2004, we and our chief executive officer, Dr. Sornmadossi, entered into a settlement agreement with
UAB and UABREF resolving a dispute regarding ownership of inventions and discoveries made by Dr. Sommadossi
during the period from November 1999 to November 2002, at which time Dr. Sommadossi was on sabbatical and
then unpaid leave from his position at UAB. The patent applications we filed with respect to such inventions and
discoveries include the patent applications covering valopicitabine.

Under the terms of the settlement agreement, we agreed to make a $2.0 million initial payment to UABRF, as

well as other potential contingent payments based upon the commercial launch of other HCV products discovered °

or invented by Dr. Sommadossi during his sabbatical and unpaid leave. In addition, UAB and UABRF have each
agreed that neither of them has any right, title or ownership interest in these inventions and discoveries. Under the
development and commercialization agreement and stock purchase agreement, we made numerous representations
and warranties to Novartis regarding valopicitabine and our HCV program, including representations regarding our
ownership of the inventions and discoveries. If one or more of our representations or warranties were not true at the
time we made them to Novartis, we would be in breach of these agreements. In the event of a breach by us, Novartis
Jhas the right to seek indemnification from us and, under certain circumstances, us and our stockholders who sold
shares to Novartis, which include many of our directors and officers, for damages suffered by Novartis as a result of
such breach. The amounts for which we could be liable to Novartis may be substantial.

Our success will also depend in part ori our ability to avoid infringement of the patent rights of others. If it is
determined that we do infringe a patent right of another, we may be required to seek a license, defend an
infringement action or challenge the validity of the patents in court. Patent litigation is costly and time consuming.
We may not have sufficient resources to bring these actions to a successful conclusion. In addition, if we are not
successful in infringement litigation and we do not license or develop non-infringing technology, we may:

« incur substantial monetary damages;
¢ encounter significant delays in bringing our product candidates to market; and/or

+ be precluded from participating in the manufacture, use or sale of our product candidates or methods of
treatment requiring licenses.

Confidentiality agreements with employees and others may not adequately prevent disclosure of trade
secrets and other proprietary information.

To protect our proprietary technology and processes, we also rely in part on confidentiality agreements with
our corporate collaborators, employees, consultants, outside scientific collaborators and sponsored researchers and
other advisors. These agreements may not effectively prevent disclosure of confidential information and may not
provide an adequate remedy in the event of unauthorized disclosure of confidential information. In addition, others
may independently discover our trade secrets and proprietary information, and in such cases we could not assert any
trade secret rights against such parties. Costly and time-consuming litigation could be necessary to enforce and
determine the scope of our proprietary rights, and failure o obtain or maintain trade secret protection could
adversely affect our competitive business position.

If any of our agreements that grant us the exclusive right to make, use and sell our product candidates
are terminated, we and/or Novartis may be unable to develop or commercialize our product candidates.

We, together with Novartis, entered into an amended and restated agreement with CNRS and the University of
Montpellier, co-owners of the patents and patent applications covering Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and valtorcitabine. This
agreement covers both the cooperative research program and the terms of our exclusive right to exploit the results of
the cooperative research, including Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and valtorcitabine. The cooperative research program with
CNRS and the University of Montpellier ended in December 2006 although many of the terms remain in effect for
the duration of the patent life of the affected products. We, together with Novartis, have also entered into two
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agreements with the Universita degli Studi di Cagliari, which we refer to as the University of Cagliari, the co-owner
of the patents and patent applications covering our HCV preduct candidates and certain HIV preclinical product
candidates. One agreement with the University of Cagliari covers our cooperative research program and the other
agreement is an exclusive license to develop and sell the jointly created HCV and HIV product candidates. Under
the amended and restated agreement with CNRS and the University of Montpellier and the license agreement, as
amended, with the University of Cagliari, we obtained from our co-owners the exclusive right to exploit these
product candidates. Subject to certain rights afforded to Novartis, these agreements can be terminated by either
party in circumstances such as the occurrence of an uncured breach by the non-terminating party. The termination of
our rights, including patent rights, under the agreement with CNRS and the University of Montpellier or the license
agreement, as amended, with the University of Cagliari would have a material adverse effect on our business and
could prevent us from developing a product candidate or selling a product. In addition, these agreements provide
that we pay the costs of patent prosecution, maintenance and enforcement. These costs could be substantial. Our
inability or failure to pay these costs could result in the termination of the agreements or certain rights under them.

Under our amended and restated agreement with CNRS and the University of Montpellier and our license
agreement, as amended, with the University of Cagliari, we and Novartis have the right to exploit and license our
co-owned product candidates without the permission of the co-owners. However, our agreements with CNRS and
the University of Montpellier and with the University of Cagliari are currently governed by, and will be interpreted
and enforced under, French and ltalian law, respectively, which are different in substantial respects from U.S. law,
and which may be unfavorable to us in material respects. Under French law, co-owners of intellectual property
cannot exploit, assign or license their individual rights without the permission of the co-owners. Similarly, under
Italian law, co-owners of intellectual property cannot exploit or license their individual rights without the
permission of the co-owners. Accordingly, if our agreements with the University of Cagliari terminate, we
may not be able to exploit, license or otherwise convey to Novartis or other third parties our rights in our product
candidates for a desired commercial purpose without the consent of the co-owner, which could materially affect our
business and prevent us from developing our product candidates and selling our products.

Under U.S. law, a co-owner has the right to prevent the other co-owner from suing infringers by refusing to join
voluntarily in a suit to enforce a patent. Our amended and restated agreement with CNRS and the University of
Montpellier and our license agreement, as amended, with the University of Caglian provide that such parties will
cooperate 1o enforce our jointty owned patents on our product candidates. If these agreements terminate or the
parties’ cooperation is not given or is withdrawn, or they refuse to join in litigation that requires their participation,
we may not be able to enforce these patent rights or protect our markets. .

If our cooperative research agreement with the University of Cagliari is terminated, we may be unable to
utilize research results arising out of that work prior to the termination.

Qur cooperative research agreement with the University of Cagliari, as amended, grants us the exclusive right
to directly or indirectly use or license to Novartis or other third parties the results of research obtained from the
cooperative effort, in exchange for a fixed royalty. If the cooperative research agreement is terminated, our
exclusive right to use the research results will also terminate, unless those rights are also granted under a separate
license agreement. Qur cooperative agreement with the University of Cagliari currently expires in January 201! and
can only be renewed by the written consent of both parties. If the agreement is not renewed, there is no guarantee
that the University of Cagliari will agree to transfer rights to any of the research results into a separate license
agreement on termination of the research program, or that it will agree to do so on reasonable commercial terms.

Factors Related to Our Common Stock

Sales of additional shares of our common stock could result in dilution to existing stockholders and cause
the price of our common stock to decline.

Sales of substantial amounts of our common stock in the public market, or the availability of such shares for
sale, could adversely affect the price of our common stock. In addition, the issuance of common stock upon exercise
of outstanding options could be dilutive, and may cause the market price for a share of our common stock to decline.
As of March 3, 2008, we had 56,286,241 shares of common stock issued and outstanding, together with outstanding
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options to purchase approximately 6,357,788 shares of common stock with a weighted average exercise price of
$9.14 per share,

Novartis and other holders of an aggregate of approximately 37,137,061 shares of common stock have rights,
subject to certain conditions, to require us to file registration statements covering their shares or to include their
shares in registration statements that we may file for ourselves or other stockholders.

Fluctuation of our quarterly results may cause our stock price to decline, resulting in losses to you.

Our quarterly operaiing results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to fluctuate in the future. A number of
factors, many of which are not within our control, could subject our operating results and stock price to volatility,
including:

» realization of license fees and achievement of milestones under our development and commercialization
agreement with Novartis and, to the extent applicable, other licensing and collaborative agreements:

» reductions in proceeds associaled with Novartis® nght to maintain its percentage ownership of our voting
stock when we issue shares al a price below fair market value;

» adverse developments regarding the safety and efficacy of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®; or our product candidates;
= the results of ongoing and planned clinical trials of our product candidates;

+ developments in the market with respect to competing products or more generally the treatment of HBV,
HCV or HIV;

+ the results of regulatory reviews relating to the approval of our product candidates;
* the timing and success of the launch of products, if any, we successfully develop;
+ future royalty payments received by us associated with sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®;
» the initiation or conclusion of litigation to enforce or defend any of our assets; and

« general and industry-specific economic conditions that may affect our research and development
expenditures.

Due to the possibility of significant fluctvations, we do not believe that quarterly comparisons of our operating
results will necessarily be indicative of our future operating performance. If our quarterly operating resuits fail to
meet the expectations of stock market analysts and investors, the price of our common stock may decline, resulting
in losses to you.

An investment in our common stock may decline in value as a result of announcements of business
developments by us or our competitors.

The market price of our common stock is subject to substantial volatility as a result of announcements by us or
other companies in our industry. As a result, purchasers of our common stock may not be able to sell their shares of
common stock at or above the price at which they purchased such stock. Announcements which may subject the
price of our common stock to substantial volatility include announcements regarding:

* our collaboration with Novartis;

» the results of discovery, preclinical studies and clinical trials by us or our competitors;

+ the acquisition of technologies, product candidates or products by us or our competitors;

« the development of new technologies, product candidates or products by us or our competitors;

+ regulatory actions with respect to our product candidates or products or those of our competitors, including
those relating to our clinical trials, marketing authorizations, pricing and reimbursement;

« the timing and success of launches of any product we successfully develop;
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* future royalty payments received by us associated with sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®;
= the market acceptance of any products we successfully develop:

« significant changes to our existing business model;

« the initiation or conclusion of litigation to enforce or defend any of our assets; and

+ significant acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments by us or our
competitors.

In addition, if we fail to reach an important research, development or commercialization milestone or result by
a publicly expected deadline, even if by only a small margin, there could be a significant impact on the market price
of our common stock. Additionally, as we approach the announcement of important clinical data or other significant
information and as we announce such results and information, we expect the price of our common stock to be
particularly volatile, and negative results would have a substantial negative impact on the price of our common
stock.

We could be subject to class action litigation due to stock price volatility, which, if it occurs, will distract
our management and could result in substantial costs or large judgments against us.

The stock market frequently expertences extreme price and volume fluctuations. In addition, the market prices
of securities of companies in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industry have been extremely volatile and have
experienced fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of these
companies. These fluctuations could adversely affect the market price of our common stock. In the past, securities
class action litigation has often been brought against companies following periods of volatility in the market prices
of their securities. Due to the volatility in our stock price, we may be the target of similar litigation in the future.
Securities litigation could result in substantial costs and divert our management’s attention and resources, which
could cause serious harm to our business, operating results and financial condition.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 2, Properties.

We lease approximately 130,000 square feet of office and laboratory space. Our major leased properties are
described below:

Approximate Square Lease
Property Location - Feet Use Expiration Date
Cambridge, MA . . ... . ... ... ... 49,912 sq ft Office Headquarters March 2010
39,014 sq ft Office and Laboratory  December 2013
Montpellier, France ............ 35,215 sq ft Office and Laboratory April 2017

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We are currently a party (o one legal proceeding, where on January 12, 2007, the Board of Trustees of the
University of Alabama and related entities filed a complaint in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of Alabama, Southern Division against us, CNRS and the University of Montpellier. The complaint alleges
that a former employee of UAB is a co-inventor of certain patents in the United States and corresponding foreign
patent applications related to the use of B-L-2’-deoxy-nucleosides for the treatment of HBV, assigned to one or more
of us, CNRS and the University of Montpellier and which cover the use of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® for the treatment of
HBV. The University of Alabama has included a demand for damages under various theories in its complaint, but
did not specify the amount of damages that it alleges to have incurred. In response to the complaint in March 2007,
we filed a motion to dismiss based upon lack of personal jurisdiction. In September 2007, the parties agreed to stay
the action and pursue mediation relating to the disputes associated with the license agreement and this litigation. As
a result of a joint mediation session held in January 2008, a non-binding settlement has been proposed by the parties
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which could potentially require Idenix to make payments to UABRF and related entities. We have assessed the
settlement proposal under the provisions of FAS 5, and recorded an expense of $1.5 million for the quarter ended
December 31, 2007. If the proposed settlement is not completed on terms acceptable to Idenix, we will reseme the
defense of these claims, including through the litigation process. Accruals related to the settlement proposal may be
adjusted in future periods if a settlement agreement is not reached. We cannot ascertain with certainty the likelihood
this or any settlement proposal will be accepted by or entered into by the parties. If we are not able to reach a
settlement agreement with the parties, we will continue to vigorously defend against claims made by UABRF and
related entities (see Note 2).

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders.

None.

PART I

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Eguity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities.

Market Information

Our common stock has been traded on the NASDAQ Global Market under the symbol “IDIX.” On March 3,
2008 the closing price of our common stock, as reported on the NASDAQ Global Market, $5.22 per share. The
following table sets forth for the periods indicated the high and low sales prices per share of our common stock, as
reported by the NASDAQ Global Market and, prior to July 1, 2006, the NASDAQ National Market.

_High  Low
2006
First qUarter . . . ... ... ottt L. $23.87 $13.17
Second QUATTET . . . .. .. vt e $13.76 $ 7.50
TR QUATTEE . .. e e $11.21  § 8.56
Fourth quarter. . . . ... . e $1049 $ 8.05
2007
Fiest QUAer . .. ..o e $1083 $ 7.18
Second QUATET . . .. ... ottt $824 $576
Third QUAITEr . . ... .. e $607 %229
Fourth qUaner. . ... ... oo e $330 $210

Stockholders

On March 3, 2008, we had approximately 71 stockholders of record.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends on our common stock. We currently intend to reinvest our future
earnings, if any, for use in the business and do not expect to declare or pay cash dividends.

Repurchase of Securities

None.
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Item 6. Selected Consolidated Financial Data

The following selected financial data are derived from our financial statements. The consolidated statement of
operations data for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 and the consolidated balance sheet data as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006 have been derived from our audited consolidated financial statements included

elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K. This data should be read in conjunction with our audited

consolidated financial statements and related notes which are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K, and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations™
included in Item 7 below.
Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
(In thousands, except per share data}

Consolidated Statement of Operations Data:

ReVETUES . o vt e e e $ 68,028 $ 67377 $ 64,718 §$ 95389 § 29,570
Operating expenses

Costofsales. ... ... .. .. 2,001 62 — — —

Research and development .. ............... 85,839 96,080 86,590 79,979 51,477

Selling, general and administrative .. ......... 63,348 56,954 33,657 23,603 20,193

Restructuring and impairment charges . ..... ... 8,744 — — — —

Total operating expenses . .. ........... ... 159,932 153,096 120,247 103,582 71,670

Loss from operations ............ ... ........ (91,904) (85,719)  (55,529) (8,193) (42,100)
Investment and other income, net .............. 6,387 9,487 4,038 1,383 404
Gain on sale of equity securities . ... ........... 3,500 — — —_— —
Income tax benefit (expense) ................. (498) 1,145 714 566 (184}
et LO8S o ottt e e e (82,515 (75,087y  (50,777) (6,244)  (41,880)
Accretion of redeemable convertible preferred

SIOCK .o e e — — — _ {29,074)
Net loss attributable to common stockholders . .. .. $(82,515) $(75,087) $(50,777) § (6,244) $(70,954)
Basic and diluted net loss per common share. . . . . . $ (147 % (134§ (103 $ 015 § (270
Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss

per common share. . . .......... ... .. .. ... 56,169 56,005 49,305 41,369 26,232

As of December 31,
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

{In thousands)

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and cash equivalents. . . ................. $ 48260 $ 55892 $ 83,733 $ 42,083 $ 43,485
Working capital ......... ... . ... . L 72,985 110,159 167,069 70,123 30,399
Total @ssets. . ... ..o vv i e 160,540 228465 277,657 187,118 67,090
Deferred revenue, current . .. ......... ..., = — — — 107
Deferred revenue, net of current portion ......... 4,272 4,272 4,272 4,272 4,272
Deferred revenue, related party, current . . ...... .. 8,372 13,490 9,695 9,695 10,756
Deferred revenue, related party, net of current

POTLON . oLttt e e 41,861 40,471 29,089 38,779 54,239
Long-term obligations. . . .................... 13,172 2,251 2,792 3,691 4,849
Accumulated deficit . ... ... ... .. . oL (438,756) (355,941) (280.854) (230,077) (223,833)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) . ............ 68,838 142,025 206,887 109,058  (27,731)
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

This report contains “forward-looking siatements” within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. For this purpose, any statements contained herein
regarding our strategy, future operations, financial position, future revenues, projected costs and expenses,
prospects, plans and objectives of management, other than statements of historical facts, are forward-looking
statements. The words “anticipate,” “believes,” “estimates,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “will”" “would” and
similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statemenss, although not all forward-looking state-
ments contain these identifying words. Such statements reflect our current views with respect 1o future evenis. We
cannot guarantee that we actually will achieve the plans, intentions, or expectations disclosed in our forward-
looking statements. There are a number of important factors that could cause actual results or events to differ
materially from those disclosed in the expressed or implied forward-looking statements we make. These important
Jfactors include our “critical accounting policies and estimates” and the risk factors set forth below in Part I,
frem 1A — Risk Factors. Although we may elect to update forward-looking statements in the future, we specifically
disclaim any obligation 1o do sa, even if our estimates change, readers should not rely on those forward-locking
statements as representing our views as of any date subsequent to the date of this Annual Report.

LI o LT LT [T

Overview

Idenix is a biopharmaceutical company engaged in the discovery and development of drugs for the treatment of
human viral and other infectious diseases, with operations in the United States and Europe. Our current focus is on
diseases caused by hepatitis C virus, or HCV, and human immunodeficiency virus, or HIV.

Prior 10 October 1, 2007, we developed, commercialized and manufactured telbivudine for the treatment of
patients with chronic hepatitis B. Certain of these activities were done with Novartis Pharma AG, or Novartis.
Telbivudine is marketed as Tyzeka® in the United States and Sebivo® outside the United States. In April 2007,
Sebivo® was approved in the European Union for the treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B. At
December 31, 2007, Tyzeka®/Sebivo® was approved in more than 50 countries world-wide, including China.

In September 2007, we entered into an amendment to the development and commercialization agreement, which
we refer to as the 2007 Amendment. When we refer to the development and commercialization agreement, we mean .
the 2003 original agreement, 2007 Amendment and all prior amendments. We and Novartis also entered into a
transition services agreement, or a TSA, as part of the 2007 Amendment. Pursuant to the 2007 Amendment, we
transferred to Novartis cur development, commercialization and manufacturing rights and obligations pertaining to
telbivudine (Tyzeka®/Sebivo®) on a worldwide basis. Effective October 1, 2007, we began receiving royalty payments
equal to a percentage of net sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, with such percentage increasing according to specified tiers of
net sales. The royalty percentage varies based upon the territory and the aggregate dollar amount of net sales.

In conjunction with the 2007 Amendment, we announced a restructuring of our operations in which we enacted
a workforce reduction of approximately 100 positions, the majority of which had supported the development and
commercialization of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® in the United States and Europe. The restructuring was a strategic decision
on our behalf to focus our resources on our HCV and HIV discovery and development programs. In connection with
the restructuring, we recorded restructuring and impairment charges of $8.7 million in 2007, including $6.6 million
for employee severance, benefits and related costs and $2.1 million for the impairment of certain assets. We also
incurred additional charges in 2007 of $2.8 million due to accelerating depreciation on certain assets whose useful
lives were shortened due to the restructuring. We estimate that this restructuring will result in annual cost savings of
$40.0 million to $45.0 million, including associated third party and marketing costs.
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The following table summarizes key information regarding Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and our pipeline of product
candidates:

Indication Product/Product Candidates/Programs Description

HBV Tyzeka®/Sebivo®* Effective October 1, 2007, we transferred to
{(telbivudine) Novartis all of our development,
{L- nucleoside} . * commercialization and  manufacturing

rights: and  obligations related to
telbivudine  (Tyzeka®/Sebivo®) on a
worldwide basis in exchange for royalty
payments equal to a perceniage of net
sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®. Beginning in the
fourth quarter of 2007, Novartis is solely
responsible for clinical trial costs and
related  expenditures  associated  with
telbivudine. We have transitioned to
Novartis all ongoing clinical trials and
commercial activities related to telbivudine.

valtorcitabine During the third quarter of 2007, we
{L-nucleoside) discontinued development of valtorcitabine.
HCV valopicitabine (NM283) In July 2007, this program was placed on
(Nucleoside analog) clinical hold by the FDA and development of

the program was discontinued.

discovery program Preclinical evaluation of compounds from
the HCV discovery program is in progress,
This program is focused on the three primary
classes of drugs for the treatment of HCV,
which include nucleoside/nucleotide
polymerase inhibitors, protease inhibitors
and non-nucleoside polymerase inhibitors.

» Nucleoside/nucleotide polymerase The most advanced of these efforts is our
inhibitors research in next-generation nucleoside/
(IDX184 and IDX102) nucleotide polymerase inhibitors. IDX184

and IDX102 are in late stage preclinical
development. We expect to submit an IND
in the United States and a CTA in Europe for
at least one of these product candidates in
2008,

* Protease inhibitors We are evaluating multiple scaffolds in our
protease  inhibitor discovery program.
Clinical candidates from this program have
been selected and IND-enabling
pharmacology and toxicology studies are
ongoing.

= Non-nucleoside polymerase inhibitors We have an ongoing discovery effort in non-
nucleoside polymerase inhibitors.
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Indication. Product/Product Candidates/Programs

HIV IDX899 (Non-nucleoside reverse
transcriptase
inhibitor or NNRTI)

Description

In addition to our HCV discovery and
development program, we are also engaged
in efforts to develop therapeutics for the

treatment of HIV-1 from the class of
compounds known as non-nucleoside
reverse transcriptase inhibitors, or NNRTIs.
This class of drugs is being evaluated for
once-a-day oral administration. We filed an
IND for IDX899 in 2007 and completed a
phase 1 dose escalation study in healthy
volunteers, The phase 1 study was
designed to assess the safety and
pharmacekinetics of IDX899 in healthy
volunteers. In this study, IDX899 appeared
10 be well tolerated at single doses up to
1200 mg and multiple doses up to 800 mg
daily over a seven day period. No serious or
clinically significant adverse events were
reported for the 65 I1DX899-treated
volunteers in this study. One healthy
volunteer, after the 400 mg single dose
administration of this study, experienced a
single unconfirmed QTc elevation. We
believe this is not a significant clinical
finding as it is within the expected
variability of multiple QTc measurements
in a healthy volunteer study. Two
volunteers discontinued from the study due
to adverse evenits.

In May 2003, we entered into a collaboration with Novartis relating to the worldwide development and
commercialization of our product candidates. The collaboration includes the development, license and commer-
cialization agreement, as amended and the master manufacturing and supply agreement between us and Novartis.
Under the collaboration, Novartis paid us a license fee of $75.0 million for our HBV product and product candidate,
Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and valtorcitabine, respectively, provided development funding for Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and
valtorcitabine and was obligated to make milestone payments, which couid have totaled up to $35.0 million
upon the achievement of specific regulatory approvals,

Of the $35.0 million in regulatory milestone payments, we received payment on two of these regulatory
milestones in 2007. We achieved one of these regulatory milestones for $10.0 million in the first quarter of 2007
with the regulatory approval of Sebivo®in China, We recognized this regulatory milestone payment in collaboration
revenue from Novartis in 2007 as the milestone was deemed substantive. A second of these regulatory milestones
for $10.0 million was achieved in April 2007 with the regulatory approval of Sebivo® in the European Union. This
milestene was deemed not to be substantive and we recognized $4.8 million as revenue in 2007, representing the
portion of the development period that has passed, with the remaining $5.2 million recorded as deferred revenue and
recognized as revenue over the remaining development period of our licensed product candidates. We do not expect
to receive any additional regulatory milestones for telbivudine or valtorcitabine.

In March 2006, Novartis exercised its option to license valopicitabine, our lead HCV product candidate at that
time. Under the development and commercialization agreement, Novartis agreed to pay us up to $500.0 million in
license fees and regulatory milestone payments for an HCV product candidate. Of this amount and in connection
with its option exercise, Novartis paid us a license fee of $25.0 million, paid us an additional $25.0 million payment
based upon results from our phase I clinical trial and provided development funding for the product candidate, In
July 2007, we announced that the FDA had placed on clinical hold in the United States our development program of
valopicitabine for the treatment of HCV based on the overall risk/benefit profile observed in clinical testing, We
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subsequently discontinued the development of valopicitabine. As a result, we do not expect to receive any additional
license fees or milestone payments for valopicitabine from Novartis.

We initially planned to co-promote or co-market with Novartis in the United States, United Kingdom, France,
Germany, Ttaly and Spain all products Novartis licenses from us that are successfully developed and approved for
commercial sales, including Tyzeka®/Sehivo®. Effective October 1, 2007, we transferred 1o Novartis our devel-
opment, commercialization and manufacturing rights and obligations related to telbivudine (Tyzeka®/Sebivo®) ona
world-wide basis in exchange for royalty payments equal to a percentage of net sales, with such percentage
increasing according to specified tiers of net sales. The royalty percentage will vary based upon the territory and the
aggregate dollar amount of net sales. We continue to have co-promotion and co-marketing rights with Novartis in
the United States, United Kingdom, France, Germany, ltaly and Spain on all other products, with the exception of
Tyzeka®Sebivo®, that Novartis licenses from us that are successfully developed and approved for commercial
sales. Novartis has the exclusive right to promote and market these licensed products in the rest of the world.

Pursuant to the supply agreement, Novartis was appointed to finish and package licensed products for
commercial sale. Novartis was also afforded the opportunity to manufacture active pharmaceutical ingredients for
the commercial supply of licensed products if certain conditions and criteria were satisfied. In June 2006, after
completing a competitive bid process where Novartis had the right to match the best third-party bid, we entered into
a commercial manufacturing agreement with Novartis and a packaging agreement with Novartis Pharmaceuticals
Corporation, an affiliate of Novartis. Under the commercial manufacturing agreement, Novartis would manufacture
the commercial supply of Tyzeka® that was intended for sale in the United States. The packaging agreement
provided that the supply of Tyzeka® intended for commercial sale in the United States would be packaged by
Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation. As a result of the 2007 Amendment, the commercial manufacturing
agreement and supply agreement were terminated as each related to telbivudine and we will work with Novartis to
terminate our rights and obligations to the packaging agreement. Effective October 1, 2007, Novartis is solely
responsible for the manufacture and supply of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® on a worldwide basis. No penalties were incurred
by us as a result of the termination of these agreements.

In addition to the collaboration described above, Novartis purchased approximately 54% of our outstanding
capital stock in May 2003 from our then existing stockholders for $255.0 million in cash, with an additional
aggregate amount of up o $357.0 million contingently payable to these stockholders if we achieve predetermined
development milestones relating to an HCV product candidate. The future contingent payments are payable in cash
or, under certain circumstances, Novartis AG American Depository Shares. At present, Novartis owns approx-
imately 36% of our outstanding common stock. '

All of our product candidates are currently in preclinical development or clinical development. To commer-
cialize any of our product candidates, we will be required to obtain marketing authorization approvals after
successfully completing preclinical studies and clinical trials of such product candidates. Currently, Tyzeka®/
Sebivo® has received regulatory approval for the treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B in more than 50
countries around the world, including the United States, China, Switzerland and the European Union.

We started recognizing revenue from product sales associated with Tyzeka® in the United States during the
fourth quarter of 2006. To date, our revenues have been derived from: license fees and milestone payments,
development expense reimbursements received from Novartis, Tyzeka® product sales in the United States prior to
October 1, 2007, amounts associated with Sebivo® product sales outside of the United States prior to October 1,
2007, royalty payments associated with sales of Tyzeka®Sebivo®, and government grants. Effective October 1,
2007 with the recent transfer to Novartis of our development and commercial rights to telbivudine, we no longer
recognize revenue from product sales of Tyzeka® and instead we recognize royalty income associated with product
sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® We derived substantially all of our total revenues from Novartis in 2007, 2006 and 2005.
We anticipate recognizing additional revenues from our collaboration with Novartis. These revenues include
additional development expense funding for our HCV product candidate and other product candidates that Novartis
may elect to subsequently license from us, as well as, regulatory milestones and, if products are approved for sale,
commercialization milestones and revenues derived from sales by us or Novartis of our licensed product candidates. .

We have incurred significant losses since our inception in May 1998 and expect such losses to continue in the
foreseeable future. Historically, we have generated losses principally from costs associated with research and
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development activities, including clinical trial costs, and general and administrative activities. As a result of planned
expenditures for future discovery and development activities, we expect to incur additional operating losses for the
foreseeable future. We expect our near-term sources of funding to consist principally of the reimbursement of
expenses we may incur in connection with the development of our licensed product and product candidates;
potential license and other fees we may receive in connection with license agreements with third parties; and
anticipated royalty payments associated with product sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®.

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of salaries and payroll-related expenses for research
and development personnel, including stock-based compensation, fees paid to clinical research organizations and
other professional service providers in conjunction with our clinical trials, fees paid to research organizations in
conjunction with animal studies, costs of material used in research and development, costs of contract manufac-
turing consultants, occupancy costs associated with the use of our research facilities and equipment, consulting and
license fees paid to third parties, and depreciation of property and equipment related to research and development.
We incur the majority of our research and development spending on clinical, preclinical and manufacturing activity
with third-party contractors relating to the development of our product candidates. We expense internal and external
research and development costs as incurred. We expect our research and development expenses to increase from our
base level as of January 1, 2008 as we continue to engage in research activities, further develop our potential product
candidates and advance our clinical trials.

Set forth below are the direct third-party research and development expenses incurred during the period from
May 1, 1998 through December 31, 2003, and the years ended December 31, 2004, 2005, 2006 and 2007 in
connection with our preclinical studies and clinical trials of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, valtorcitabine and valopicitabine.

Period from

May 1,
1998
inception)
Disease Product/Product (’I‘;rg:lgll: Years Ended December 31,
Indication Candidute December 31, 20013 2004 2005 2006 2007 Total
(Dollars in thousands)
HBV  Tyzeka®Sebivo® ... .. $41.519 $43,483  $46,447  $36,310 $24,147  $191,906
HBV  Valtorcitabine . . ... ... 8,338 8,673 3,770 3,726 1.515 26,022
HCV  Valopicitabine. . . .. ... 8,947 7,096 12,140 11,489 6,196 45,868

$58,804 $59,252 $62.357 $51,525 $31,858  $263,796

We anticipate that we will incur significant additional direct third-party research and development expenses
prior to the commercial launch of our HCV product candidates. We expect such amounts to approximate those set
forth below:

Estimated Additional
Amount of
Direct/Third-Party
Research and
Development Expenses

Expected to
be Incurred
Prior to
Current Stage of Commercial Launch
Product Candidate Development of a Drug
IDXI02 and IDX184 . . ... ... .. preclinic‘al $200 to $500 million
Protease Inhibitor Program. . ....................... preclinical $200 o $500 million
DX . e clinical $200 to $300 million

Our current estimates of additional direct or third-party research and development expenses do not include the
cost of phase ITIb/IV clinical trials and other clinical trials that are not required for regulatory approval. We use our
employees and our infrastruciure resources across several projects, including our product discovery efforts. We do
not allocate our infrastructure costs on a project-by-project basis. As a result, we are unable to estimate the internal
costs incurred to date for our product candidates on a project-by-project basis.
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Pursuant to our development and commercialization agreement with Novartis, after it licenses a product
candidate, Novartis is obligated to fund development expenses that we incur in accordance with development plans
agreed upon by us and Novartis. The option we have granted to Novartis with respect to its exclusive right to license
our product candidates generally requires that Novartis exercise the option for each such product candidate
generally 90 days after early demonstration of activity and safety in a proof of concept clinical study. The expenses
associated with phase III clinical trials generally are the most costly component in the development of a successful
new product,

Results of Operations
| Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2007 and 2006
Revenues

Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 were as follows:
Years Ended
December 31,
2007 2006
{In thousands)

Collaboration revenue — related party

|
I
} Reimbursement of research and development costs. . ... ............... $41,933 $54,858
|

License fee revenue. . . .. .o i it e e 13,535 12,049
MilEStONe TEVEIUE . . . . . . oot ettt it ettt it 10,000 —
Royalty TEVENUE . . ... .. ettt 617 —
Product revenue —restof world . .. ....... ... ... ... ..l 46 —
Profit-sharing to related party. . .. .. ... ... .. . i i (1,380) (183)
64,751 66,724

Product sales, Met . .. vt i e e e e 3,187 424
Government Zrants . . .. . ... ... 90 229
TOtAl TEVENMUES . . . o ottt e et et e e e $68,028 367,377

Collaboration revenue-related party consists of revenue associated with our collaboration with Novartis for the
worldwide development and commercialization of our product candidates. Effective Gctober 1, 2007, as a result of

the 2007 Amendment, collaboration revenue-related party is comprised of the following:
|

» reimbursement by Novartis for expenses we incur in connection with the development and registration of our
licensed products and product candidates, net of certain qualifying costs incurred by Novartis;

« license and other fees received from Novartis for the license of HBV and HCV product candidates, net of
reductions for Novartis stock subscription rights, which is being recognized over the development period of
the licensed product candidates;

 milestone amounts from Novartis upon achievement of regulatory filings, certain marketing authorization
approvals and other milestone payments; and :

« royalty payments associated with product sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® made by Novartis.

Prior to October 1, 2007, collaboration revenue-related party that we have recognized from Novartis also
included the following:

« product revenue — rest of world which is comprised of amounts that Novartis would pay us for the supply of
licensed products in countries outside of the United States, United Kingdom, Germany, France, Spain and
[taly. These amounts were recorded as revenue at a percentage of net sales; and

» profit sharing to related party which represents the net benefit amount paid to Novartis on licensed product
sales in the United States in which we acted as the lead commercialization party. The net benefit, defined as
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net sales less cost of goods sold, was shared equally with Novartis on product sales in the United States.
These amounts due to Novartis were recorded as a reduction of collaboration revenue.

Collaboration revenue — related party decreased $2.0 million to $64.8 million in 2007, Reimbursements of
research and development costs from Novartis declined by $12.9 million in 2007 as clinical studies and clinical trial
activity came to a close in advance of the commercial launch of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® in Novemnber 2006 and as a result
of the discontinuation of our valtorcitabine and valopicitabine development activities in 2007. The lower research
and development reimbursements were offset by: (i) recognition of a $10.0 million regulatory milestone payment
received from Novartis upon achievement of marketing authorization of Sebivo?® in China in the first quarter of
2007 which was deemed substantive; (ii) increased license fee revenue due to recognition of $4.8 million of revenue
relating to a $10.0 million milestone payment received upon achievement of regulatory approval of Sebivo® in the
Euvropean Union in April 2007, offset by amounts relating to changes in the estimated development period; and
(iii) $0.6 million of royalty revenue primarily associated with product sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® made by Novartis.

The increase in product sales of $2.8 million in 2007 was due to increased market acceptance of Tyzeka® in the
United States following its launch in November 2006 and to the inclusion of a nine-month sales period in 2007 |
versus a two-month sales period in 2006. As a result of the amendment of our agreement with Novartis in September
2007, effective October 1, 2007, we no longer record product sales as revenue.

Cost of Sales

Cost of sales were $2.0 million in 2007 as compared with $0.1 million in 2006. The increase of $1.9 million is
primarily related to $1.5 million related to the non-binding settlement proposal with UABRF and related entities.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $85.8 million in 2007 as compared with $96.1 million in 2006. The
decrease of $10.3 million in 2007 was primarily due to a decrease in expenses for third party contractors, primarily
related to clinical trials of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, These expenses decreased due to the commercial launch of Tyzeka®/
Sebivo® in November 2006 and discontinuation of our development of valtorcitabine and valopicitabine in 2007.
The decrease was partially offset by increases to expand other research and development activities, primarily an
increase of salary and payroll-related expenses associated with hiring additional employees and laboratory
operating expenses.

While our operating expenses for 2008 will be considerably less than that for 2007, we expect that operating
expenses for 2009 and beyond may increase as we expand our drug discovery and development efforts. We continue
to devote substantial resources to our research and development activities, expand our research pipeline, engage in
future development activities as we continue to advance our product candidates and explore collaborations with
other entities that we believe will create shareholder value. :

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $63.3 million in 2007 as compared to $57.0 million in 2006.
The increase of $6.3 million was primarily due to an increase in professional fees; salary and other payroll-related
expenses related to the hiring of sales and marketing personnel in the United States in mid-2006 and in Europe in
carly 2007 in connection with the commercialization of Tyzeka®Sebivo®; and accelerated depreciation of
$2.8 million related to enterprise software that was no longer needed with the transition of commercialization
and development activities to Novartis effective QOctober 1, 2007,

We expect our selling, general and administrative expenses to decrease in 2008 due to the recent transfer to
Novartis of our commercialization rights to tefbivudine and to the related restructuring,
Restructuring and Impairment Charges

As described above, as a result of the 2007 Amendment, we announced a restructuring of our operations and
enacted a workforce reduction of approximately 100 positions, the majority of which had supported the devel-
opment and commercialization of Tyzeka®/Sebivo?® in the United States and Europe. In connection with the
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restructuring, we recorded restructuring and impairment charges of $8.7 million in 2007, including $6.6 million for
employee severance, benefits and related costs and $2.1 million for the impairment of certain assets,

]
Investment and Other Income, Net

Net investment income was $6.4 million in 2007 as compared with $9.5 million in 2006. The decrease in 2007
resulted from lower average cash and marketable securities balances held in 2007 due to the use of cash for
operations, and a result of lower average interest rates. Additionally, $0.4 million of the decrease related to
recording interest and penalties related to an uncertain international tax position recorded in 2007.

Gain on Sale of Equity Securities

In October 2007, we sold the equity securities we held in Pharmasset, Inc., or Pharmasset, for net proceeds of
$4.0 million and realized a gain of $3.5 million on the sale.

Income Taxes

The income tax expense was approximately $0.5 million in 2007 as compared with a tax benefit of
approximately $1.1 million in 2006, During the fourth quarter of 2007, we re-assessed an uncertain tax position
related to our international operations. As a result, we recorded $1.8 million of expense associated with this
uncertain tax position including $1.3 million associated with prior years which consisted of expense, interest and
penalties. Of the total charge recorded, $0.4 million was classified as investment and other income, net consistent
with our policy for the classification of interest and penalties. We determined that the amount related to prior years
was not material to our 2007 results. If our estimates related to this matter change, this amount may be adjusted
accordingly in future periods. We also incurred a $0.3 million increase in our accumulated deficit due to the
adoption of Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation, or FIN No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertain Tax
Positions”.

Comparison of Years Ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 -

Revenues

Revenues for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows:

2006 2005
(In thousands)

Collaboration revenue — related party

Reimbursement of research and developmentcosts. ................... $54,858 $54,718
License fee revenue. . ... ... . . e e e 12,049 9,700
Substantive milestone revenue . . ... ... .. e — —
Profit-sharing torelated party. . .. ... . ... .. . . (183) —
66,724 64,418

Product sales, met . ... ..ot e e e e e 424 —
Government grants . ... .., e 229 300
Total TeVENUES . . . . o $67.377 $64,718

The increase in revenues of $2.7 million in 2006 as compared with 2005 was primarily due to an increase in
license fee revenue from Novartis as a result of the licensing by Novartis of valopicitabine in March 2006.

Research and Development Expenses

Research and development expenses were $96.1 million in 2006 as compared with $86.6 million in 2005. The
increase of $9.5 million was primarily due to increases of $5.2 million for HCV and HIV collaborations with third
parties; $2.4 million in salary and other payroll-related expenses associated with the hiring of additional employees
for expanded research and development activities; and $2.2 million in stock-based compensation with the adoption
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of the Statement of Financial Accounting Standard, or SFAS No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment,” or SFAS
No. 123(R), on January 1, 2006. These increases were partially offset by a decrease of $3.2 million in expenses for
third party contractors, primarily related to lower clinical trial activity as a result of nearing completion of our
GLOBE study and certain phase IIIb clinical trials for telbivudine.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses were $57.0 million in 2006 as compared with $33.7 million in
2005. The increase of $23.3 million was primarily due to increases in selling and marketing expenses in preparation

of and for the commercial launch of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and an increase of $5.1 million in stock-based compensation

with the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R).

Investment and Other Income, Net

Net investment income was $9.5 million in 2006 as compared with $4.0 million in 2005, The increase was
primarily the result of higher average cash and marketable securities balances held during 2006 and to higher
interest rates in 2006. Higher average cash balances in 2006 were due to the receipt of proceeds from our public
offering in October 2005 and the license payment received from Novartis in March 2006.

Income Taxes

The income tax benefit was $1.1 million in 2006 compared with $0.7 million in 2005. The increase in the
income tax benefit was primarily due to higher research and development costs incurred by our French subsidiary in
2006 that were eligible for the research and development credit. ‘

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Since our inception in 1998, we have financed our operations with proceeds obtained in connection with
license and development arrangements and equity financings. The proceeds include license, milestone, royalty and
other payments frorm Novartis, reimbursements from Novartis for costs we have incurred subsequent to May 8, 2003
in connection with the development of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, valtorcitabine and valopicitabine, net proceeds from
Sumitomo for reimbursement of development costs, collections on sales of Tyzeka® in the United States, net
proceeds from private placements of our convertible preferred stock, net proceeds from public offerings and
concurrent private placements of our common stock in Juty 2004 and in October 2005 and proceeds from the
exercise of stock options granted pursuant to our equity compensation plans. As a result of the clinical hold the FDA
placed on our development program of valopicitabine, we discontinued the development of valopicitabine.
Therefore, we will not receive any additional license fees or other milestone payments for valopicitabine from
Novartis. As a result of the transfer to Novartis of our development and commercial rights to telbivudine in
October 2007, we will no longer recognize revenue from product sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®. During the third quarter
of 2007, we discontinued development of valtorcitabine. As a result, we will not receive any future payments for
valtorcitabine from Novartis.

We had $48.3 million and $55.9 million in cash and cash equivalents as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. We invest our excess cash balances in short-term and long-term marketable debt securities. All of our
marketable securities are classified as available-for-sale. Our investments have an effective maturity not greater
than 24 months and investments with maturities greater than 12-months are classified as non-current marketable
securities. As of December 31, 2007, we had $39.9 million in current marketable securities and $23.9 million in
non-current marketable securities. As of December 31, 2006, we had $71.3 million in current marketable securities
and $59.2 million in non-current marketable securities.

We invest our cash in instruments that meet high credit quality standards, as specified in cur investment policy.
Our investment policy also limits the amount of our credit exposure to any one issue or issuer and seeks to manage
these assets to achieve our goals of preserving principal, maintaining adequate liquidity at all times, and
maximizing returns subject to our investment policy.
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As of March 13, 2008, the fair value of cash and other investments held ai Bear, Stearns Securities Corp., or
BSSC was $39.9 million. BSSC is a separately capitalized broker/dealer subsidiary of Bear, Stearns and Co. Inc., or
Bear Stearns. On March 14, 2008, Bear Stearns announced that it had received funding from outside parties,
including the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, for a limited period of time in order to manage an ongoing
deterioration of its liquidity position. We do not believe Bear Steams’ liquidity position will affect our access to or
the fair value of our cash and other investments held at BSSC.

We held approximately $11.0 million in municipal auction rate securities at December 31, 2007. Our
investments in auction rate securities consist solely of municipal debt securities and none of the auction rate
securities in our portfolio are mortgage-backed. The auction rate securities we held at December 31, 2007 reset is
subsequent auctions in January 2008. In mid-February 2008, certain of our municipal auction rate securities
experienced failed auctions. As of March 11, 2008 we had liquidated all but $4.0 million of our auction rate
securities. of which $3.1 million was held at December 31, 2007. The liquidation of these auction rate securities did
not result in any losses. Since then, the continved uncertainty in the credit markets has caused additional auctions
with respect to our auction rate securities to fail, which prevented us from liquidating certain of our holdings of
auction rate securilies. Based on our ability to access our cash and other short-term investments, our expected
operating cash flows, and our other sources of cash, we do not anticipate the current lack of liquidity on these
investments to have a material impact on our financiul condition or results of operation. However, due to the current
lack of liquidity in these investments, we do not intend to invest in auction rate securities in the future.

Net cash used in operating activities was $70.7 miliion, $48.8 million and $56.3 million in 2007, 2006 and
2003, respectively, due primarily to the net losses for the periods, excluding stock-based compensation and other
non-cash charges adjusted for changes in working capital. The increase in cash used in operating activities in 2007
compared to 2006 was due primarily to the increase in operating expenses associated with the commercialization of
Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and to payments made in connection with the restructuring plan put in place in September 2007,
The decrease in cash used in operating activities in 2006 compared to 2005 was due primarily to the receipt of a
$25.0 million license payment from Novartis in March 2006 offset by an increase in operating expenses.

Net cash provided by investing activities was $63.0 million and $19.9 million in 2007 and 2006, respectively,
due primarily to net transfers of $66.3 million and $29.5 million, respectively, from our investment portfolio 1o
finance operating activities. The sale of our investment in the equity securities of Pharmasset provided an additional
$4.0 million of cash in 2007. The $49.1 million of net cash used in investing activities in 2005 was principally due to
the investment of a portion of the net proceeds from our public offering completed in October 2005, net of
$113.8 million in sales of marketable securities. Capital expenditures in 2007, 2006 and 2005 primarily relate to
leasehold improvements in Cambridge, Massachusetts and Montpellier, France and the implementation of com-
puter systems projects.

Net cash provided by financing activities was $0.2 million, $1.0 million and $147.5 million in 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively. The net cash provided by financing activities in 2007 and 2006 was primarily due to the exercise
of stock options by employees. The net cash provided by financing activities in 2005 was due to the net proceeds
from our public offering and concurrent private placement completed in October 2005 and the exercise of stock
options held by employees.

A summary of restructuring activity at December 31, 2007 is as follows:

Current Liability

Year Ended December 31, 2007 at December 31,

Charge Payments/Settlements 2007
(In thousands)
Employee severance, benefits and related costs . ... $6.492 $(4,654) $1,838
Contract termination and othercosts. .. ....... .. 139 (139) —_
Total ... v e $6,631 $(4,793) $1,838

In connection with the restructuring, we recorded impairment charges of $2.1 million in 2007 related to
enterprise software that was no longer needed with the transfer of telbivudine related commercialization and
development activities to Novartis.
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Set forth below is a description of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2007:

Payments Due by Period

Less One Three

Than to to After

One Three Five Five
Contractual Obligations Total Year Years Years Years
Operating [ases . ... v et e i e e $17,355  $3,228  $5.654 %4,141  $4,332
Consulting and other agreements. ... ................ 5,810 2,345 3,428 37 —
Total contractual obligations . ...................... $23,165 $5573  $9,082 $4,178 $4,332

In connection with certain of our operating leases, we have two letters of credit with a commercial bank

totaling $1.2 million which expire at varying dates through December 31, 2013,

We have certain potential payment obligations relating to our HBV and HCV product and product candidates.
These obligations are excluded from the contractual obligations table above, as further described below.

Pursuant to the license agreement, between us and UABRF, or the UAB license agreement, we were granted an
exclusive license to the rights that UABRF, Emory University and Le Centre Nationale de la Recherche
Scientifique, or CNRS, collectively the 1998 licensors, have to a 1995 U.S. patent application and progeny
thereof and counterpart patent applications in Europe, Canada, Japan and Australia that cover the use of certain
synthetic nucleosides for the treatment of HBV infection.

In February 2006, UABRF notified us that it and Emory University were asserting a claim that, as a result of the
filing of a continuation patent application in July 2005 by UABRF, the UAB license agreement covers our
telbivudine technology. UABRF contended that we are obligated to pay the 1998 licensors an aggregate of $15.3
million comprised of 20% of the $75.0 million license fee we received from Novartis in May 2003 in connection
with the license of our HBV product candidates and a $0.3 million payment in connection with the submission to the
FDA of the IND pursuant to which we have conducted clinical trials of telbivudine. We disagree with UABRF’s
contentions and advised UABRF and Emory University that we will utilize the dispute resolution procedures set
forth in the UAB license agreement for resolution of this dispute. Under the terms of that agreement, if resolution
cannot be achieved through negotiations between the parties or mediation, it must be decided by binding arbitration
under the rules of the American Arbitration Association before a pane! of three arbitrators. Pursuant to the terms of
the dispute resolution procedure in the UAB license agreement, in September 2007 our CEO and the CEO of
UABRF met and agreed to begin a mediation process. While the parties participated in a joint mediation session in
Janwvary 2008, no resolution of these matters has yet been reached. However, a non-binding settlement proposal has
been discussed by the parties. Such settlement proposal remains subject to several terms and conditions, including a
full release of all claims by UABRF and related entities. We do not believe that the matters disputed by UABRF and
Emory University regarding the UAB license agreement will have any effect on either the cooperative agreement
with CNRS and the University of Montpellier or the technology licenses, including the license for telbivudine,
which have been granted to us pursuant to the cooperative agreement,

However, if we do not settle these disputes and it were determined that the UAB license agreement does cover
our technology, we will become obligated to make payments to the 1998 licensors in the amounts and manner
specified in the UAB license agreement. While we dispute the demands made by UABREF, if a liability were found to
exist, UABRF’s claims, in addition to those described above would likely include payments in the aggregate amount
of $1.0 million due upon achievement of regulatory milestones, a 6% royalty on annual sales up to $50 miilion and a
3% royalty on annual sales greater than $50 miliion made by us or an affiliate of ours. Additionally, if we sublicense
our rights to any entity other than one which holds or controls at least 50% of our capital stock, or if Novartis’
ownership interest in us declines below 50% of our outstanding shares of capital stock, UABRF would likely
contend that we would be obligated to pay to the 1998 licensors 30% of all royalties received by us from sales by the
sublicensee of telbivudine and 20% of all fees, milestone payments and other cash consideration we receive from
the sublicensee with respect to telbivudine.

If it were determined that the UAB license agreement between us and UABRF does cover our use of
telbivudine to treat HBV, or we must otherwise rely upon a license agreement granted by the 1998 licensors to
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commercialize telbivudine, we may be in breach of certain of the representations and warranties we made in the
development and commercialization agreement and the stock purchase agreement. For a further description see
“Collaborations — Relationship with Novartis — Indemnification™ and “Risk Factors — Factors Related to Qur
Relationship with Novartis™ and “Factors Related to Patents and Licenses.”

Separately, we had a research collaboration with CNRS, one of the 1998 licensors. In May 2003, we and
Novartis entered into an amended and restated cooperative agreement with CNRS and L' Universite Montpellier, or
the University of Montpellier, pursuant 10 which we worked in collaboration with scientists from CNRS and the
University of Montpellier to discover and develop technologies relating to antiviral substances. The agreement
included provisions relating to the ownership and commercialization of the technology, which is discovered or
obtained as part of the collaboration as well as rights regarding ownership or use of such technoiogy upon
termination of the agreement. This cooperative agreement expired in December 2006. We do not believe that the
matters disputed by UABRF and Emory University regarding the UAB license agreement will have any effect on
either our cooperative agreement with CNRS and the University of Montpellier or the technology licenses,
including the license for telbivudine, which have been granted to us pursuant to the cooperative agreement.

In January 2007, the Board of Trustees of the University of Alabama and related entities filed a complaint in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Alabama, Southern Division against us, CNRS and the
University of Montpellier. The complaint alleges that a former employee of UAB is a co-inventor of certain patents
in the United States and corresponding foreign patent applications related 1o the use of B-L-2’-deoxy-nucleosides
for the treatment of HBV assigned to one or more of Idenix, CNRS and the University of Montpellier and which
cover the use of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® for the treatment of HBV. The University of Alabama has included a demand for
damages under various theories in its complaint, but did not specify the amount of damages that it alleges to have
incurred. In response to the complaint in March 2007, we filed a motion to dismiss based upon lack of personal
Jjurisdiction. In September 2007, the parties agreed to stay the action and pursue mediation relating to the disputes
associated with the license agreement and this litigation. As a result of a joint mediation session held in January ~
2008, a non-binding settlement has been proposed by the parties which could potentially require Idenix to make
payments to UABRF and related entities. We have assessed this settlement proposal under the provisions of FAS 5,
and recorded an expense of $1.5 million for the quarter ended December 31, 2007. If the proposed settlement is not
completed on terms acceptable to Idenix, we will resume the defense of these claims, including through the
litigation process. Accruals related to the settlement proposal may be adjusted in future periods if a setilement
agreement is not reached. We cannot ascertain with certainty the likelihood this or any settlement proposal will be
accepted by or entered into by the parties. If we are not able to reach a settlement agreement with the parties, we will
continue to vigorously defend against claims made by UABRF and related entities (see Note 2).

Additionally, in connection with the resolution of matters relating to certain of our HCV product candidates we
entered into a settlement agreement with UABRF which provides for a milestone payment of $1.0 million to
UABRF upon receipt of regulatory approval in the United States to market and sell certain HCV products invented
or discovered by our chief executive officer during the period from November 1, 1999 to November 1, 2000. This
settlement agreement also allows for payments in an amount equal to 0.5% of worldwide net sales of such HCV
products with a minimum sales based payment equal to $12.0 million,

Further, we have potential payment obligations under the license agreement with the University of Cagliari
pursuant to which we have the exclusive worldwide right to make, use and sell valopicitabine and certain other HCV
and HIV technology. We are liable for certain payments to the University of Cagliari if we receive from Novartis or
another collaborator license fees or milestone payments with respect to such technology.

In March 2003, we entered into a final settlement agreement with Sumitomo Pharmaceuticals Corporation or
Sumitomo, under which the rights to develop and commercialize telbivudine in Japan, China, South Korea and
Taiwan previously granted to Sumitomo were returned to us. This agreement with Sumitomo became effective upon
consummation of our collaboration with Novartis in May 2003. The settlement agreement which we entered into
with Sumitomo provides for a $5.0 million milestone payment to Sumitomo if and when the first commercial sale of
telbivudine occurs in Japan.

In October 2006, we entered into a two-year research collaboration agreement with Metabasis Therapeutics,
Inc. or Metabasis. Under the terms of the agreement, Metabasis’ proprietary liver-targeted technology would have
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been applied to centain of our compounds to develop second-generation nucleoside analog product candidates for
the treatment of HCV. In July 2007, we notified Metabasis that we would exercise our option to terminate the
research collaboration on the first anniversary of the agreement in October 2007. Prior to the termination of the
agreement, Metabasis asserted that a certain scientific milestone was met and thus a $1.0 million payment under the
collaboration agreement came due. We do not agree with Metabasis’ assessment that the scientific milestone has
been met and therefore do not believe that we have any liability for this payment and have so notified Metabasis.

We believe that our current cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities together with anticipated
royalty payments associated with product sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® will be sufficient to satisfy our cash needs
through late 2009. We also estimate that we will generate annual cost savings of $40.0 million to $45.0 mitlien as a
result of our restructuring. At any time, it is possible that we may seek additional financing. We may seek such
financing through a combination of public or private financing, collaborative relationships and other arrangements.
Additional funding may not be available to us or, if available, may not be on terms favorable to us. Further, any.
additional equity financing may be dilutive to stockholders, other than Novartis, which has the right to maintain its
current ownership level. Moreover, any debt financing, if available, may involve restrictive covenants that would:
not be favorable to us. Qur failure to obtain financing when needed may harm our business and operating resuits.

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions

We currently have no off-balance sheet transactions.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Qur discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America. The preparation of the financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that
affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our
estimates and judgments, including those related to collaborative research and development revenue recognition,
accrued expenses and stock-based compensation. We base our estimates on historical experience and on various
other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for
making judgments about the carrying value of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions.

While our significant accounting policies are more fully described in Note 2 to our consolidated financial
statements inctuded in this document, we believe the following accounting policies to be the most critical in
understanding the judgments and estimates we use in preparing our financial statements:

Collaborative Research and Development Revenue

We recognize revenues relating to our collaborative research and development arrangements in accordance
with the SEC’s Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statements,” or SAB 104,
Revenues under such collaborative research and development arrangements may include non-refundable license
fees, milestones, royaliies and research and development payments from collaborative partners.

Where we have continuing performance obligations under the terms of a collaborative arrangement, we
recognize non-refundable license fees as revenue over the specified development period during which we complete
our performance obligations. When our level of effort is relatively constant over the performance period, the|
revenue is recognized on a straight-line basis. The determination of the performance period involves judgment on
the part of our management. If this estimated performance period changes, then we will adjust the periodic revenue)
we are recognizing and will record the remaining unrecognized non-refundable license fees over the remaining|
period during which our performance obligations will be completed. Significant judgments and estimates are
invotved in determining the estimated development period and different assumptions could yield materially
different results.

To date, we have received from Novartis a $25.0 million license fee for valopicitabine, a $75.0 million license
fee for Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and valtorcitabine, and a $5.0 miilion reimbursement for reacquiring product rights from
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Sumitomo to develop and commercialize Sebivo® in certain markets in Asia. We included this reimbursement as
part of the license fee for accounting purposes because Novartis required the repurchase of these rights as a
condition to entering into the development and commercialization agreement, We also incurred approximately
$2.2 million in costs associated with the development of vatopicitabine prior to Novartis licensing valopicitabine in
March 2006 for which Novartis has reimbursed us. We have included the $10.0t million milestone payment for the
regulatory approval of Sebivo® in the European Union as part of the license fee for accounting purposes as the
milestone was deemed not to be substantive. The sum of these non-refundable payments received from Novartis,
totaling $117.2 million, has been recorded as license fees and is being recognized over the development period of
the licensed product candidates.

We review our assessment and judgment on a quarterly basis with respect to the expected duration of the
development period of our licensed product candidates. We have estimated that the performance period during
 which the development of our licensed product and product candidates will be completed is a period of
|approximately ten and a half years following the effective date of the development and commercialization
|agreement that we entered into with Novartis, or December 2013. We are recognizing revenue on the license
‘ fee payments over this period. If the estimated performance period changes, we will adjust the periodic revenue that

is being recognized and will record the remaining unrecognized license fee payments over the remaining
\developmem period during which our performance obligations will be completed. Significant judgments and
- estimates are involved in determining the estimated development period and’ different assumptions could yield
materially different results. '

Novartis has the right to purchase, at par value of $0.001 per share, such number of shares as is required to
maintain its percentage ownership of our voting stock if we issue shares of capital stock in connection with the
acquisition or in-licensing of technology through the issuance of up to 5% of our stock in any 24-month period. The
Novartis stock purchase rights will remain in effect until the eartier of the date that Novartis and its affiliates own
less than 19.4% of our voting stock or the date that Novartis becomes obligated to make contingent payments of
$357.0 million to those holders of our stock who sold shares to Novartis on May 8, 2003.

Additionally, if we issue any shares of our capital stock, other than in certain situations, Novartis has the right
to purchase such number of shares required to maintain its percentage ownership of our voting stock for the same
consideration per share paid by others acquiring our stock. Subject to certain exceptions, upon the grant of options
and stock awards under stock incentive plans, other than the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, we record, as a reduction of
the license fees and payments received from Novartis, the fair value of our common stock that would be issuable to
Novartis, less the exercise price, if any, payable by the option or award holder. The amount is attributed
proporticnately between cumulative revenue recognized as of that date and the remaining amount of deferred
revenue. These amounts are adjusted through the date that either, Novartis elects to exercise its stock subscription
rights or the right expires. These adjustments will also be attributed proportionately between cumulative revenue
recognized through the measurement date and the remaining deferred revenue.

In connection with the closing of our initial public offering in July 2004, Novartis terminated a common stock
subscription right with respect to 1,399,106 shares of common stock issuable pursuant to the 1998 Equity Incentive
Plan in connection with the exercise of stock options granted after May 8, 2003. In exchange for Novartis’
termination of such right, we issued 1,100,000 shares of our common stock to Novartis for a purchase price of
$0.001 per share. The fair value of these shares was determined to be $15.4 million at the time of issuance. As a
result of the issuance to Novartis of these shares, Novartis’ rights to purchase additional shares as a result of future
option grants and stock issuances under the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan were terminated and no additional
adjustments to revenue and deferred revenue will be required for options exercised undér this plan, Prior to the
termination of the stock subscription rights under the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as we granted options that were
subject to Novartis’ stock subscription right, the fair value of our common stock that would be issuable to Novartis,
less par value, was recorded as an adjustment of the license fee and payments received from Novartis in May 2003.
We are still subject to potential revenue adjustments relating to future grants of options and stock awards under our
2005 Stock Incentive Plan and other equity plans that our board of directors may approve and stockholders adopt.
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_telbivudine in Japan. This payment will be recorded first as a reduction of the remaining $4.3 million of deferred

As of December 31, 2007, the cumulative license fee has been reduced by $15.6 million and has been
reclassified to additional paid-in capital. Of this amount, $6.3 million has been recorded as a reduction of deferred
revenue as of Decemnber 31, 2007 with the remaining amount of $9.3 million recorded as a reduction of revenue.

The collaboration arrangement with Novartis contemplates several joint committees in which we and Novartis
participate. We participate in these committees as a means to govern or protect our interests. The committees span
the period from early development through commercialization of product candidates licensed by Novartis.

As a result of applying the provisions of SAB 101, which was the applicable revenue guidance at the time the
collaboration was entered into, our revenue recognition policy attributes revenue to the development period of the
product candidates licensed under the development and commercialization agreement. We have not attributed
revenue to our involvement in the committees following the commercialization of the licensed products as we have
determined that our participation on the committees as such participation relates to the commercialization of
product candidates is protective. Our determination is based in part on the fact that our expertise is, and has been, the
discovery and development of drugs for the treatment of human viral and other infectious diseases. Novartis, on the
other hand, has and continues to possess the considerable commercialization expertise and infrastructure necessary
for the commercialization of such drug candidates. Accordingly, we believe our obligation post commercialization
is inconsequential.

In March 2003, we entered into a final settlement agreement with Sumitomo Pharmaceuticals Corporation or
Sumitomo, under which the rights to develop and commercialize telbivudine in Japan, China, South Korea and
Taiwan previously granted to Sumitomo weére returned to us. This agreement with Sumitomo became effective upon
consummation of our collaboration with Novartis in May 2003. We repurchased these product rights for
$5.0 million. The repurchase of these rights resulted in a $4.6 million reversal of revenue that we previously
recognized under our original arrangements with Sumitomo. We recorded the remaining amount of $0.4 million as a
reduction of deferred revenue. We have also included $4.3 million in deferred revenue on our consolidated balance
sheet at December 31, 2006 representing amounts received from Sumitomo that we have not included in our
revenue to date. We are required to pay an additional $5.0 million to Sumitomo upon the first commercial sale of

revenue, with the excess recorded as an expense. If regulatory approval is not received for telbivudine in Japan, we
would have no further obligations under the settlement agreement with Sumitomo and, therefore, the $4.3 million of
remaining deferred revenue would be recognized as revenue at that time.

We recognize payments received from collaborative partners for research and development efforts that we
perform or others perform on our behalf as revenue as the related costs are incurred. We recognize such revenue
only if we believe that collection of these amounts is reasonably assured. This assessment involves judgment on our
part. If we do not believe that collection of amounts billed, or amounts to be billed to our collaborators, is reasonably
assured, then we defer revenue recognition.

We recognize revenues from milestones related to arrangements under which we have continuing performance
obligations upen achievement of the milestone if the milestone is deemed substantive. Milestones are considered
substantive if all of the following conditions are met:

+ the milestone is non-refundable;
« achievement of the milestone was not reasonably assured at the inception of the arrangement;
+ substantive effort is involved to achieve the milestone; and

+ the amount of the milestone appears reasonable in relation to the effort expended, the other milestones in the
arrangement and the related risk associated with the achievement of the milestone.

In 2007, we achieved a regulatory milestone for $10.0 million during the three months ended March 31, 2007
with the regulatory approval of Sebivo® in China. We recognized this regulatory milestone in collaboration revenue
from Novartis in association with this milestone as the milestone was deemed substantive. A second regulatory
milestones of $10.0 million was achieved in April 2007 with the regulatory approval of Sebivo® in the European]
Union. This milestone was deemed not to be substantive and we recognized $4.8 million as revenue in 2007,
representing the portion of the development period that has passed, with the remaining $5.2 million recorded as
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deferred revenue and recognized as revenue over the remaining development period of our licensed product

candidates.

Where we have no continuing involvement under a coliaborative arrangement, we record non-refundable
license fee revenue when we have a contractual right to receive the payment, in accordance with the terms of the
license agreement, and we tecord milestones when we receive appropriate notification from the cotlaborative
partner of achievement of the milestones.

In Novgmber 2002, the Emerging Issues Task Force, or EITF, reached a consensus on EITF No. 00-21,
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables,” or EITF No. 00-21. EITF No. 00-21 provides
guidance on how to account for arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of muitiple products,
services and/or rights to use assets. The provisions of EITF No. 00-21 apply to revenue arrangements entered into on
or after July 1, 2003.

Valuation and Impairment of Investments and/or Marketable Securities

The fair value of our investments and/or marketable securities is generally determined from quoted market
prices received from pricing services based upon market transactions at fair value. We also have investments in
auction rate securities that consist entirely of municipal debt securities, recorded at fair value at December 31, 2007,
which approximates cost due to their variable interest rates, which typically reset through an auction process every

' seven to 35 days. This auction mechanism generally allows existing investors to roll over their holdings and

continue to own their securities or liquidate their holdings by selling their securities at par value, Because of these
short intervals between interest reset dates, we monitor the auctions'to ensure they are successful, which provides
evidence of their approximate fair values. To the extent an auction were to fail such that the securities were deemed
not to be liquid, we would need to seek other alternatives to determine the fair value of these securities, which may
not be based on guoted market transactions. Due to the current lack of liquidity in auction rate securities, we do not
intend to invest in auction rate securities in the future.

Investments and marketable securities are considered to be impaired when a decline in fair value below cost
basis is determined to be other than temporary. We periodically evaluate whether a decline in fair value below cost
basis is other than temporary by considering available evidence regarding these investments including, among other
factors,

* the duration of the period that, and the extent to which, the fair value is less than cost basis;

+ the financial health of and business outlook for the issuer, including industry and sector performance and
operational and financing cash flow factors; and

= overall market conditions and trends.

Once a decline in fair value is determined to be other than temporary, a write-down is recorded and a new cost
basis in the security is established.. Assessing the above factors involves inherent uncertainty. Write-downs, if
recorded, could be materiaily different from the actual market performance of investments and marketable
securities in our portfolio, if, among other things, relevant informaticon related to our investments and marketable
securities was not publicly available or other factors not considered by us would have been relevant to the
determination of impairment.

Accrued Expenses

As part of the process of preparing our financial statements, we are required to estimate accrued expenses. This
process involves identifying services that third parties have performed on our behalf and estimating the level of
service performed and the associated cost incurred on these services as of each balance sheet date in our financial
statements. Examples of estimated accrued expenses include contract service fees, such as amounts due to clinical
research organizations, professicnal service fees, such as attorneys and accountants, and investigators in conjunc-
tion with preclinical and clinical trials, fees paid to contract manufacturers in conjunction with the production of
materials related to our product candidates and third party expenses relating to marketing efforts associated with
commercialization of our product and product candidates. Accruals for amounts due to clinical research
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organizations are among our most significant estimates. In connection with these service fees, our estimates are
most affected by our understanding of the status and timing of services provided relative to the actual level of
services incurred by the service providers. In the event that we do not identify certain costs that have been incurred
or we under or over-estimate the level of services or the costs of such services, our reported expenses for a reporting
period could be overstated or understated. The date on which certain services commence, the level of services
performed on or before a given date, and the cost of services is ofien subject to our judgment. We make these
judgments based upon the facts and circumstances known to us and account for these estimates in accordance with
accounting principles involving accrued expenses and income tax liabilities generally accepted in the United States.

Stock-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Statement of Financial
Accounting Standard No. 123 (revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” or SFAS No. 123(R). This Statement
replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes Accounting Principles
Board, an APB, Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees,” or APB No. 25. SFAS No. 123(R)
requires share- based transactions for employees and directors 10 be accounted for using a fair value based method
resulting in expense being recognized in our financial statements.

We adopted SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006. We applied the modified prospective method at adoption in
which stock compensation expense was determined based on fair value using the Biack-Scholes method at grant
dates for stock options. Accordingly, financial statement amounts for the periods prior to the adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R) including the year ended December 31, 2005 have not been restated to reflect the fair value
method of expensing required by SFAS No. 123(R). Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock-based awards
to employees and directors using the intrinsic value method prescribed in APB No. 25 and related interpretations.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to
Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-based Payment Awards,” or FSP FAS 123(R)-3. In accordance with FSP
FAS 123(R)-3, entities can choose to follow either the transitional guidance of SFAS 123(R) or the alternative
transition method described in FSP FAS 123(R)-3. Effective in the fourth quarter of 2006, we elected to adopt the
alternative transition method for calculating the tax effects of stock-based compensation pursuant to SFAS 123(R).
The alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of the additional
paid-in capital pool, or APIC pool or windfall, related to the tax effects of employee stock-based compensation, and
Lo determine the subsequent impact on the APIC pool and consolidated statements of cash flows of the tax effects of
employee-stock based compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption of SFAS 123(R). The adoption of
the alternative transition method resulted in no impact on our financial statements.

For purposes of estimating the fair value of stock options granted in 2007 and 2006 using the Black-Scholes
method, we have made assumptions for the inputs in the model regarding expected dividend yield, risk-free interest
rate, expected option term and expected volatility. The amounts recognized for stock-based compensation expense
could vary depending upon changes in assumptions in the model.

No dividend yield was assumed as we do not pay dividends on our common stock. The risk-free interest rate is
based on the yield of U.S. Treasury securities consistent with the expected life of the option (4.35% in 2007 and
4.78% in 2006). The expected option term (5.1 years in 2007 and 5.0 years in 2006) and expected volatility (59.5%
in 2007 and 63% in 2006) were determined by examining the expected option term and volatility of our own stock as
well as the expected terms and volatilities of similarly sized biotechnology companies.

As share-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations in 2007 and
2006 are based on awards ultimately expected to vest, it should be reduced for estimated forfeitures.
SFAS No. 123(R) requires forfeitures to be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequent
periods as options vest, if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. During 2007 and 2006, because substan-
tially atl of the Company’s stock option grants vest monthly, no forfeiture assumption was applied. In our pro forma
information required under SFAS No. 123 for the periods prior to fiscal 2006, we accounted for forfeitures as they
occurred.
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We recognize compensation expense for restricted stock sold and stock options granted to non-employees in
accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) and EITF Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equiry
Instruments that Are Issued to Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or
Services,” or EITF 96-18, EITF 96-18 requires such equity instruments to be recorded at their fair value at the
measurement date, which is generally the vesting date of the instruments. Therefore, the measurement of stock-
based compensation is subject to periodic adjustments as the underlying equity instruments vest.

Our equity incentive plans are administered by the compensation committee of our board of directors. The
compensation committee determines the type and term of each award, the award exercise or purchase price, if
applicable, the number of shares underlying each award granted and the rate at which each award becomes vested or
exercisable. Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees at an exercise price per share not less than the
fair market value per share of common stock as determined by the board of directors on the date of grant (not less
than 110% of the fair market value in the case of holders of more than 10% of our common stock) and with a term
not to exceed ten years from the date of grant (five years for incentive stock options granted to holders of more than
10% of our voting common stock). Nonqualified stock options may be granted to any officer, employee, director,
consultant or advisor at a per share exercise price in such amount as the compensation committee may determine.
The compensation committee may also grant restricted stock and other stock-based awards on terms and conditions
it may determine. These equity incentive plans are described maore fully in Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements.

For purposes of our consolidated statements of operations, we have allocated stock-based compensation to
expense categories based on the nature of the service provided by the recipients of the stock option and restricted
stock grants. We expect to continue to grant options 1o purchase common stock in the future.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, FASB Statement No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” or SFAS 157, was issued. This
statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States, or GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. This statement
applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements, the FASB having
previously concluded in those accounting prenouncements that fair value is the relevant measurement attribute,
Accordingly, this statement does not require any new fair value measurements. However, for some entities, the
application of this Statement will change current practice. The Statement is effective for financial statements issued
for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years. We are currently
evaluating the impact, if any, that this standard will have on our financial statements.

In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB Statement
No. 157" or FSP FAS 157-2. FSP FAS 157-2 defers the effective date provision of SFAS 157 for certain non-
financial assets and liabilities until fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. We are currently evaluating the
impact of adopting SFAS 157 on our financial statements.

In February 2007, FASB Statement No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial
Liabilities,” or SFAS No. 159, was issued. SFAS No. 159 includes an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115,
“Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities,” and permits entities to choose, at specified
election dates, to measure eligible items at fair value and requires unrealized gains and losses on items for which the
fair value option has been elected to be reported in earnings. This statement is effective for fiscal years beginning
after November 15, 2007. We are currently evaluating the impact, if any, that this standard will have on our financiat
statements.

In June 2007, EITF Issue No. 07-03, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Pavinent for Goods and
Services Received for Use in Future Research and Development Activities,” or EITF 07-03 was issued. EITF 07-03
provides guidance on whether nonrefundable advance payments for goods and services that will be used in research
and development activities should be expensed when the advance payment is made or when the research and
development activity has been performed. EITF 07-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15,
2007. We are currently evaluating the impact, if any, that this standard will have on our financial statements.
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On December 12, 2007, EITF Issue No, 07-01, “Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements Related 1o the
Development and Commercialization of Intellectual Property”, or EITF 07-01, was issued. EITF- 07-01 prescribes
the accounting for collaborations. It requires certain transactions between collaborators to be recorded in the
income statement on either a gross or net basis within expenses when certain characteristics exist in the
collaboration relationship. EITF 07-01 is effective for all of our coliaborations existing after January 1, 2009.
We are evaluating the impact this standard will have on our financial statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosure about Market Risk.

Market risk represents the risk of loss that may impact our financial position, operating resulis or cash flows
due to changes in interest rates. The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve capital, while
maintaining liquidity, until it is required to fund operations. To minimize risk, we maintain our operating cash in
commercial bank accounts, We invest our excess cash in high quality financial instruments, primarily money market

funds, U.S. government guaranteed debt obligations, repurchase agreements with major financial institutions and .

certain corporate debt securities with the dollar weighted average effective maturity of the portfolio less than
12 months and no security with an effective maturity in excess of 24 months. Since our investments are short term in
duration and the investments are denominated in U.S. dollars, we believe that we are not subject to any material
credit, market or foreign exchange risk exposure. We do not have any derivative financial instruments.

In addition, the fair value of our marketable securities is subject to change as a result of potential changes in
market interest rates. The potential change in fair value for interest rate sensitive instruments has been assessed on a
hypothetical 100 basis point adverse movement across all maturities. We estimate that such hypothetical adverse
100 basis point movement would result in a hypothetical loss in fair value of approximately $0.6 million to our
interest rate sensitive instruments.

We place our cash investments in instruments that meet high credit quality standards, as specified in our
investment policy. Qur investment policy also limits the amount of our credit exposure to any one issue or issuer and
seeks to manage these assets to achieve our goals of preserving principal, maintaining adequate liquidity at all
times, and maximizing returns subject to our investmeni policy.

Our investments in auction rate securities consist solely of municipal debt securities and none of the auction
rate securities in our portfolio are mortgage-backed. The auction rate securities we held at December 31, 2007 reset
is subsequent auctions in January 2008. In mid-February 2008, certain of our municipal auction rate securities
experienced failed auctions, We held approximately $11.0 million in municipal auction rate securities at Decem-
ber 31, 2007. As of March 11, 2008 we had liquidated ali but $4.0 million of our auction rate securities, of which
$3.1 million was held at December 31, 2007. The liquidation of these auction rate securities did not result in any
losses. Since then, the continued uncertainty in the credit markets has caused additional auctions with respect to our
auction rate securities to fail, which prevented us from liquidating certain of our holdings of auction rate securities.
Based on our ability to access our cash and other short-term investments, our expected operating cash flows, and our
other sources of cash, we do not anticipate the current lack of liquidity on these investments to have a material

impact on our financial condition or results of operation. However, due to the current lack of liquidity in these .

investments, we do not iniend to invest in auction rate securities in the future.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

The financial statements required by this item are incorporated by reference to the financial statements listed in
Item 15(a) of Part IV of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.

68




Item 9A. Confrols and Procedures.
IDisn::lo:)sure Contrels and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures.

Our management, with the participation of our chief executive officer and chief financial officer, evaluated the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2007. The term “disclosure controls and
procedures,” as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) vnder the Exchange Act, means controls and other
procedures of a company that are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the
reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported, within the
time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and forms, Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation,
controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by a company in the reports
that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to the company’s management,
including its principal executive and principal financial officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives and management necessarily applies
its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Based on the evaluation
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of December 31, 2007 our chief executive officer and chief financial
officer concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable
assurance level.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal contrel over financial
reporting. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under
the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, our principal executive officer and principal
financial officer and effected by our management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance
with GAAP and includes those policies and procedures that:

* pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions
and dispositions of Idenix’s assets;

* provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
staternents in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of Idenix are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of our management and directors; and

¢ provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of Idenix’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Praojections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls
may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or
procedures may deteriorate.

Our management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007. In making this assessment, our management used the criteria set forth by the Commitiee of Sponsoring
Drganizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSQ, in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on our assessment, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2007, our internal control over
financial reporting was effective based on those criteria.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007 has been audited by
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is
ncluded herein.
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Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that occurred during the quarter ended December 31, 2007 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.

70



Part 111

Certain information required by Part I11 of this Form 10-K is omitted because we plan to file a definitive proxy
statement pursuant to Regulation 14A not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annnal
Report on Form 10-K, and certain information to be included therein is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our Proxy Statement for our 2008 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders (the “2008 Proxy Statement™) under the captions “Proposal | — Election of Directors”,

“Corporate Governance”, “Compensation of Directors” and “Sections {16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting and
Compliance.”

Codes of Business Conduct

We have adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics that applies to ail of our officers and employees,
including our principal executive officer, principal financial officer, and principal accounting officer or controlter,
and persons performing similar functions. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is posted on our web site,
www.idenix.com, and is available in print to any shareholder upon request. Information regarding any amendments
o the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics will also be posted on our web site.

tem 11, Executive Compensation

The response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2008 Proxy Statement under the captions
‘Compensation of Executive Officers”, “Compensation Interlocks and Insider Participation™ and “Compensation
ommittee Report.”

The “Compensation Committee Report” contained in the Proxy Statement under the caption “Executive
ompensation” shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or “filed” with the SEC or otherwise subject to the
iabilities of Section |8 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act, nor shall it be
eemed incorporated by reference in any filing under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or the Securities Act,
r the Exchange Acl, except to the extent we specifically request that such information be treated as soliciting
aterial or specifically incorporate such information by reference into a document filed under the Securities Act or
he Exchange Act.

tem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder
Matters

The response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference 1o our 2008 Proxy Statement under the captions
Stock Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” and “‘Compensation of Executive Officers -
quity Compensation Plan Information.”

tem 13. Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and Director Independence

The response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2008 Proxy Statement under the captions
Certain Relationships and Related Transaction,” “Employment Agreements” and “Corporate Governance —
irector Independence.”

tem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The response to this Item is incorporated herein by reference to our 2008 Proxy Statement under the captions
udit Fees,” “Audit-Related Fees,” “All Other Fees” and “Pre-Approval Policies.”
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PART 1V

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Stalément Schedules

(a)(1) Financial Statements: The financial statements required to be filed as part of this Annual Report on
Form 10-K are as follows:

Page
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm. . ... ... ..o 73
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31,2007 and 2006 . . . ... ... . ooieinnunnons 74
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 ... ... 75

Consclidated Statements of Stockholders’” Equity and Comprehensive Loss for the Years Ended '
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, . .. ... ..o 76
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005. ... .. 77
Notes (o the Consolidated Financial SIIEMENtS . . . . ...\ voveoeeneereeenes e 78

{a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules. The financial statement schedules have been omitted as the infor-
mation required is not applicable or the information is presented in the consolidated financial statements or the
related notes. :

(a)(3) Exhibits. The Exhibits have been listed in the Exhibit Index immediately preceding the Exhibits filed:
as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and incorporated herein by reference. |
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Idenix Pharmaceuticals, Inc.:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of
operations, of shareholders equity and comprehensive loss and of cash flows present fairly, in all material respects,
the financial position of Idenix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the
results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007 in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, Also in our opinion, the

Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007, based on criteria established in Inrernal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COS0). The Company’s management is responsibie for
these financial statements, for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment
of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting, incltuded in Management’s Annual Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting appearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility is to express opinions on
these financial statements and on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our integrated
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstaternent and whether effective internal control over
financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits of the financial statements included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing
the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. Qur audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of
internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. OQur audits aiso
included performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our
audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinions.

| As discussed in Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed the manner in which it
accounts for share-based compensation in 2006. As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements,
the Company changed the manner in which it accounts for income tax contingencies in 2007.

A company’s intemal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting
includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (ii) provide reasonable
assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made
only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s
assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect
misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/  PrICEWATERHOUSECOOPERS LLP

Boston, Massachusetis
March 14, 2008 !
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IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2007

2006

(In thousands,
except share data)

ASSETS
Current assets: ‘
Cashand cash equivalents . ... ... ... .. ... . . . . . . $ 48260 § 55892
Restricted cash . .. . .. .. e 411 411
Marketable SeCUrbIES . . . . . e e e e e e e 39,862 71,251
AcCOunts receivable, Nel. . . .. . .. . e e e e e e — 509
Receivables from related party .. ... ... e 11,196 12,035
Income taxes receivable . . . .. ... e 224 201 |
INVenIOrY . e — 400
Prepaid expenses and other current assets. . . . ... ... .. L e 3,766 6,906
TOtal CUMTENE ASSELS. . . . o oot e e e et e o e e e e 103,719 147,605
Intangible asset, Met. . . . . . L e e e 13,548 —
Property and equipment, Net. . .. ..o ot e e 15.460 17.448
Restricted cash, non-cumrent . . . .. .. .. L s 750 750
Marketable seeurities, NON-CUITENL. . . . . .. .. . . et e it e e 23,882 59,208
Income t1axes receivable, DON-CURTERL. . . . . . . . i ittt e e e e e e e e e 2,296 2,060
IV IMENl . . . o e e — 500
L0 1 1 i o L1 £ 883 894
Total assets . ... . e 3 160,540 5 228,465
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable .. ....... . ... . o e $ 5372 § 6811
ACCrUCd BXPENSES . . .ttt i e e e e 16,437 15,679
Payables torelated party. . . .. oo — 939
Deferred rent .. ... ... e 338 338
Deferred revenue, related Pary . . ... ... .. . e e 8,372 13,490
Income taxes payable. . .. . . L e e e e e 215 189
Total current labilities . . . . .. ... ... e 30,734 37.446
Long-term obligations . . . . .. ... ... e 13,172 2,251
Deferred rent, net of current portion . ... .. ... . i e e e 1,663 2,000
Deferred revenue . .. . .. .. e e 4272 4,272
Deferred revenue, related party, net of current portion . ... ... .. ... ... . i 41,861 40,471
Total liabilities. . . . . ... e e 91,702 86,440
Commitments and contingencies (Note 13 and 19)
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock, $0.001 par value; 125,000,000 and 75,000,000 shares authorized at
December 31, 2007 and 2006; 56,189.467 and 56,091,632 shares issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively . . ... ... ... ... ... ... 56 56
Additional paid-in capital . .. ... ... e 306,800 497,778
Deferred compensation. . . .. ... ... . e — (106
Accumulated other comprehensive income . . . .. .. ... ... . 738 238
Accumulated deficit. . . . ... . (438,756} (355,941
Total stockholders” Cquity . . .. . i e e e e 68,838 142,025
Total liabilities and stockholders” equity ... ... .. ... ... . . . $ 160,540  § 228,465

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands, except per share data)

Revenues:
License fees and collaborative research and development - related
PAIY © ottt e e e e e e $ 64751 $ 66,724 $ 64418
Product sales, net . .. . ... 3,187 424 —
Government research grants. . . ....... ... ... .. . oL, 90 229 300
Total tevenues . ... . . e 68,028 67,377 64,718
Operating expenses: 7
Costofsales. .. ... it e e 2,001 62 —
Research and development ... ... ... .. ... ..., 85,839 96,080 86,590
Selling, general and administrative. . .. ... ... ... ... L, L. 63,348 56,954 33,657
Restructuring and impairment charges . . ............ ... ... ... .. 8,744 — —
Total operating eXpenses. . . .. ..ottt it 159,932 153,096 120,247
Loss from Operations . ... ... ... . ..ot ineeae (91,904) (85,719) (55,529
Investment and other income, net .. ......... .. .. ... .., 6,387 9,487 4,038
Gain on sale of equity securities . . ... ..t e 3,500 — —
Loss before inCOME taXes . .. .ot i e i i ettt et e (82,017) (76,232) (51,491
Income tax (expense) benefit. . ... ... ... . L L L. (498) 1,145 714
Netloss . ... i i e e S $(82,515) §(75,087) $(50,777)
Basic and diluted net loss per commonshare. ..................... $ (14 $ (134 % (1.03)
.Shares used in computing basic and diluted net loss per common share ... 56,169 56,005 49,365

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)
Cash flows from operating activities: '
Nt lo8s . . e $(82,515) $ (75,087 $ (50,777}
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities: ' .
Depreciation and amortization. .. .. .......... LA ' B955 3,463 2,066
Stock-based compensation eXpense .. ... ... ... 8,731 8,637 1,388
Impairment charges . . . . .. ... . e 2,113 — —_
Gain on sale of equity SeCUrities . . ... ... ..ot (3,500} — —
Accrued interest on marketable securities . ... ... ... .. . L. 338 (1,319) (991)
L 11T 128 12 3
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivables. . .. ... e e 509 (509) —_
Receivables fromrelated party . . . .. ... .. .. 839 1,688 2,520
Inventory . . . e e 400 (400) —
Prepaid expenses and other current assets . . ... ..o ov it n i PR 3,311 (753) (2,992)
Income taxes receivable .. ... ....... PP e (82) (1,347 (576)
L0 1 g T 10 1,076 (26)
Accounts payable . . . ... ... ... e e {1,468) 1,146 1,154
ACCTUBH EXPEISES. . . ottt e e e e e e (3,596) {982) 1,718
Payables torelated party . . . ....... ... ... ... .. i (773) 939 —
Deferred tenl . . . . . e e e (338) (28) 360
Deferred revenue, related party. . . ... ... .. L (3.618) 15,189 (9,697)
Income taxes payable . .. .. ... .. L e (10 (7 (104)
Long-term oBligations. . . .. .. .. ... .. 0o (113) (541} (865)
Net cash used in operating activities . ... ... ... .. . L L. {70,679 (48,833) (56,319
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of property and equipment .. ....... ... ... .. . .. i (7,299) (9,561) (6,586)
Purchases of marketable securities. . . ... ... .. .. . . (92,702  (243,011)  (155,963)
Sales and maturities of marketable securities . .. ............ ... . .. 159,017 272,496 113,824
Proceeds from sale of equity securities of Pharmasset, Inc . . .......... ... .. 4,000 — —
Restricted deposits . . ... ... L — — @11)
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities .. ............... 63.016 19,924 (49.136)
‘Cash flows from financing activities:
Net proceeds from sale of common stock in public offerings and private
placements, net of offering Costs .. ... .. i e — — 145,433
Proceeds from exercise of common stock optiens .. .. ......... ... .. ..., 205 902 2,018
Proceeds from issuance of common stock torelated party . ... ............. —_ 54 —
Net cash provided by financing activities. . .. ......... ... ........ 205 956 147,451
Effect of changes in exchange rates on cash and cash equivalents. .. ........... (174) 112 (346)
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents. . . .. .................. (7,632) (27,841) 41,650
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year .. ...... ... ... .. ... ... ... 35,892 83,733 42,083
Cash and cash equivalents atend of year. . ........... ... ... .. ... ... ... $ 48,260 $ 55892 3§ 83,733
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Taxes PAId . o vttt e e e e e $ 196 8§ 144 3 53
Supplentental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:
Value of shares of common stock contingently issuable or issued to related
PAILY . . e e 192 25 9)
Accrued proposed settlement amount. .. ... ... .. L. e 15,000 — —_




IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Business

Idenix Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (together with its consolidated subsidiaries, the “Company”) is a biopham{a-
ceutical company engaged in the discovery and development of drugs for the treatment of human viral and other
infectious diseases, The Company’s current focus is on diseases caused by hepatitis C virus (“HCV™) and human
immunodeficiency virus (“HIV™). .

Effective May &, 2003, Novartis Pharma AG (“Novartis”), a subsidiary of Novartis AG, acquired a majority
interest in the Company’s cutstanding stock and the operations of the Company have been consolidated in the -
financial statements of Novartis since that date. Since May 2003, Novartis has had the ability to exercise control
over the Company’s strategic direction, research and development activities and other material business decisions
(Note 3).

In October 2006, the Company received approval from the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (“FDA™) to
market its first product, Tyzeka® (telbivudine), for the treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B in the United
States. In territories outside the United States, telbivudine is marketed as Sebivo®. In April 2007, Sebivo® was
approved in the European Union for the treatment of patients with chronic hepatitis B. To date, Sebivo® has been
approved in more than 50 countries outside the United States, including China, Switzerland and the European

. Union.

In July 2007, the Company anncunced that the FDA had placed on clinical hold in the United States
development program of valopicitabine (“NM283™) for the treatment of HCV based on the overall risk/benefit
profile observed in clinical testing. The Company subsequently discontinued the developmeant of valopicitabine.

In September 2007, the Company entered into an amendment to the development, license and commercial-
ization agreement dated as of May 8, 2003 between the Company and Novartis (the “2007 Amendment”, and the
2007 Amendment and all prior amendments, the “Development Agreement’™). In September 2007, the Company
and Novartis also entered into a transition services agreement (the “TSA™}. Pursuant to the 2007 Amendment, the
Company transitioned to Novartis all of its development, commercialization and manufacturing rights and
obligations to telbivudine (Tyzeka®/Sebivo®) on a worldwide basis. Effective October 1, 2007, the Company
began receiving royalty payments equal to a percentage of net sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, with such percentage
increasing according to specified tiers of net sales. The royalty percentage will vary based upon the territory and the
aggregate dollar amount of net sales.

In conjunction with the 2007 Amendment, the Company announced a restructuring of its operations in which
the Company entered into a plan to enact a workforce reduction of approximately 100 positions, the majority of
which had supported the development and commercialization of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® in the United States and Europe
{Note 10). The restructuring was a strategic decision on behalf of the Company to focus its resources on its HCV and
HIV discovery and development programs.

The Company is subject to risks common to companies in the biopharmaceutical industry including, but not
limited to, the successful development of products, clinical trial uncertainty, regulatory approval, fluctuations in
operating results and financial risks, potential need for additional funding, protection of proprietary technology and
patent risks, compliance with government regulations, dependence on key personnel and collaborative partners,
competition, technological and medical risks and management of growth.
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IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Significant accounting policies applied by the Company in the preparation of its consolidated financial
staternents are as follows:

Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements reflect the operations of the Company and its wholly
owned subsidiaries. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and use assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the dates of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results
couid differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all highly liquid investments purchased with a maturity date of 90 days or less at the
date of purchase to be cash equivaients.

In connection with certain operating lease commitments of the Company (Note 13), the Company issued
letters of credit collateralized by cash deposits that are classified as restricted cash on the consolidated balance
sheets. Restricted cash amounts have been classified as current or non-current based on the expected release date of
the restrictions.

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk primarily consist of
cash and cash equivalents, marketable securities, and receivables from related party. The Company invests its
excess cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities in debt instruments and interest bearing accounts at major
U5, financial institutions. Accordingly, management believes these investments are subject to minimal credit and
market risk and are of high credit quality.

At December 31, 2007 and 2006, all of the Company’s receivables from related party were due from Novartis.
At December 31, 2006, accounts receivable were from product sales of Tyzeka®. Revenue from Novartis
represented substantially all of total revenues for the years ended Diecember 31, 2007, 2006 and 2003, respectively.

Marketable Securities

The Company invests its excess cash balances in short-term and iong-term marketable debt securities, The
Company classifies all of its marketable securities as available-for-sale. The Company reports available-for-sale
investments at fair value as of each balance sheet date and includes any unrealized gains and, 1o the extent deemed
temporary, losses in stockholders’ equity. If any adjustment to fair value reflects a decline in the value of the
investment, the Company considers-available evidence to evaluate whether the decline is “other than temporary”
and, if so, marks the investment to market through a charge to the consolidated statement of operations. Realized
gains and losses are determined on the specific identification method and are included in investment income. The
Company classifies its marketable securities with remaining maturities of 12 months or less as current marketable
securities exclusive of those categorized as cash equivalents. The Company classifies its marketable securities with
remaining maturities greater than 12 months as non-current marketable securities. '
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IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

The fair value of the Company’s investments is generally determined from quoted market prices received from
pricing services based upon market transactions at fair value. In addition, investments in auction rate securities
which consist entirely of municipal debt securities are recorded at fair value, which has historically approximated
¢ost due to their variable interest rates, which typically reset through an auction process every seven to 35 days. This
auction mechanism generally allows existing investors to roll over their holdings and continue to own their
securities or liquidate their holdings by selling their securities at par value. Because of these short intervals between
interest reset dates, the Company monitors the auctions to ensure they are successful, To the extent an auction were
to fail and the securities were not liquid, the Company would seek other alternatives to determine the fair value of
these securities which may not be based on quoted market transactions,

Investments are considered to be impaired when a decline in fair value below cost basis is determined to be
other than temporary. The Company periodically evaluates whether a decline in fair value below cost basis is other
than temporary using available evidence regarding the Company’s investments. In the event that the cost basis of a
security significantly exceeds its fair value, the Company evaluates, among other factors, the duration of the period
that, and extent to which, the fair value is less than cost basis, the financial health of and business outlook for the
issuer, including industry and sector performance, and operational and financing cash flow factors, overall market '
conditions and trends, and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment. Once a decline in fair value is |
determined to be other than temporary, a write-down is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations and a |
new cost basis in the security is established. There were no unrealized losses in investments which were deemed to

be other than temporary during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, marketable securities, accounts
receivable, receivables from related party, accounts payable and accrued expenses, are carried in the consolidated
financial statements at amounts that approximated their fair value as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 due to the
short-term nature of these items.

Inventory

Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or market with cost determined under the first-in, first-out (“FIFO™)
method. The Company periodically reviews its inventory for excess or obsolete inventory and writes down obsolete
inventory to its estimated net realizable value. At December 31, 2007, the Company did not have any inventory as
the Company, in September 2007, entered into the 2007 Amendment in which the Company transferred to Novartis
development, commercialization and manufacturing rights and obligations pertaining to telbivudine (Tyzeka®/
Sebivo®) on a worldwide basis, At December 31, 2006, the Company did not have any inventory associated with
products that did not receive regulatory approval.

Investment

At December 31, 2006, the Company held a long-term investment in equity securitics of Pharmasset Inc.
{“Pharmasset’™), a biotechnology company. The Company held an ownership interest of less than 20% and did not
have the ability to exercise significant influence over Pharmasset. During the quarter ended June 30, 2007,
Pharmasset completed an initial public offering allowing their stock to be publicly traded and the Company began
classifying this investment as available for sale in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 115, “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” (“*SFAS No. 1157), In accordance
with SFAS No. 115, all available-for-sale securities are recorded at fair market value and, to the extent deemed
temporary, unrealized gains and losses are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in
stockholders’ equity, net of related tax effects. Realized gains and losses and declines in value, if any, judged
to be other than temporary on available for sale securities are reported in other income (expense). Prior to the initial
public offering, the Company recorded this investment under the cost method of accounting. The Company owned
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IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

333,333 shares of Pharmasset with a value of $4,053,000 at September 30. 2007 which included an unrealized gain
of $3.553,000 that was recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income at September 30, 2007, In October
2007, the Company sold all its ownership in Pharmasset and realized a gain of $3,500,000. :

Tatangible Asset

The Company's intangible asset was recorded in the fourth quarter of 2007 and relates to a settlement proposal
which includes a full release of all claims by the University of Alabama at Birmingham Research Foundation
(“UABRF”}, an affiliate of the University of Alabama at Birmingham (*UAB”) and related entities as described
more fully in Note 13 below.

The Company is amortizing the $15,000,000 accrued proposed settlement payment to UABRF and related
entities over the period of the expected economic benefit of the related asset. The amount of amortization each
period is determined as the greater of straight line or economic consumption. Amortization expense pertaining to
the asset was $1,452,000 for the year ended December 31, 2007, which included amounts attributable to prior
period and was recorded in cost of sales. There was no expense for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. As
of December 31, 2007, accumulated amortization was $1,452 (000. Amortization expense for this asset is
anticipated to be $1,161,000 per year through 2012 and $7,743,000 through the remaining term of the expected
economic benefit of the asset. However, if the proposed settlement is not completed on terms acceptable to the
Company, the Company will resume its defense of the claims, including through the litigation process.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the
estimated useful life of each of the assets, except for leasehold improvements which are amortized using the
'straight—line method over the shorter of the asset life or the related lease term. Lipon disposal of property and
-equipment, the related cost and accumulated depreciation is removed from the accounts and any resulting gain or
loss is included in the results of operations.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Company evaluates the recoverability of its property and equipment and other long-lived assets when
circumstances indicate that an event of impairment may have occurred in accordance with the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 144, “Accounting for the Impairment of Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets” (“SFAS No. 144”). Impairment is measured based on the difference between the carrying value
of the related assets or businesses and the discounted future cash flows of such assets or businesses. No impairment
was recognized for any of the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005. During the year ended December 31, 2007
as a result of the Company’s restructuring announced in September 2007, the Company recorded accelerated
depreciation expense of $2,792,000 on certain enterprise software assets that would no longer be used following the
transition of commercialization and development activities to Novartis. The Company also recorded an impairment
charge of $2,113,000 during the year ended December 31, 2007 for certain enterprise software assets that were
recorded in construction-in-progress and which now will not be placed into service as a result of the restructuring.

Revenue Recognition

The Company records revenue provided that there is persuasive evidence that an arrangement exists, the price
is fixed or determinable and collectability is reasonably assured. The Company records revenue earned under
collaborative research and development arrangements, product sales and government rescarch grants.

Collaborative Research and Development Revenue — Revenue related to collaborative research and devel-
opment arrangements includes nonrefundable license fees, milestones, royalties and collaborative research and
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IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

development funding from the Company’s collaborative partners. Where the Company has continuing performance
obligations under the terms of a collaborative arrangement, nonrefundable license fees are recognized as revenue
over the specified development period as the Company completes its performance obligations. When the
Company’s level of effort is relatively constant over the performance period, the revenue is recognized on a
straight-line basis. The determination of the performance period involves judgment on the part of management.
Payments received from collaborative partners for research and development efforts by the Company are
recognized as revenue over the contract term as the related costs are incurred, net of any amounts due to the
collaborative partner for costs incurred during the period for shared development costs. Revenues from milestones
related to an arrangement under which the Company has continuing performance obligations, if deemed sub-
stantive, are recognized as revenue upon achievement of the milestone. Milestones are considered substantive if all
of the following conditions are met: the milestone is nonrefundable; achievement of the milestone was not
reasonably assured at the inception of the arrangement; substantive effort is involved to achieve the milestone; and
the amount of the milestone appears reasonablé in relation Lo the effort expended, the other milestones in the
arrangement and the related risk associated with achievement of the milestone. If any of these conditions is not met,
the milestone payment is deferred and recognized as license fee revenue as the Company completes its performance
obligations.

Where the Company has no continuing involvement under a collaborative arrangement, the Company records
nonrefundable license fee revenue when the Company has the contractual right to receive the payment, in |
accordance with the terms of the license agreement, and records milestones upon appropriate notification to the
Company of achievement of the milestones by the collaborative partner.

In November 2002, the Emerging [ssues Task Force (“EITF”) reached a consensus on EITF Issue No. 00-21,
“Accounting for Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables” (“EITF No. 00-21"}. EITF No, 00-21
provides guidance on how to account for arrangements that involve the delivery or performance of muitiple
products, services and/or rights 1o use assets. The provisions of EITF No. 00-21 apply 1o revenue arrangements
entered into on or after July 1, 2003.

The Company entered into a collaboration arrangement with Novartis in May 2003. The collaboration
arrangement contemplates several joint committees in which the Company and Novartis participate. The Company
participates in these commitiees as a means to govern or protect its interests. The committees span the period from
early development through commercialization of product candidates licensed by Novartis,

As a result of applying the provisions of SAB 101, which was the applicable revenue guidance at the time the
collaboration was entered into, the Company’s revenue recognition policy attributes revenue to the development
period of the product candidates licensed under the Development Agreement. The Company has not attributed
revenue to its involvement in the committees following the commercialization of the licensed products as the
Company has determined that its participation on the committees as such participation relates to the commer-
cialization of product candidates is protective. The Company’s determination is based in part on the fact that its
expertise is, and has been, the discovery and development of drugs for the treatment of human viral and other
infectious diseases. Novartis, on the other hand, has and continues to possess the considerable commercialization
expertise and infrastructure necessary for the commercialization of such drug candidates. Accordingly, the
Company believes its obligation post commercialization is inconsequential,

Product Sales — Product sales consist of sales of Tyzeka® in the United States. Revenues from product sales
are recognized when the product is shipped and title and risk of ownership has been transferred to the customer,
typically upon delivery. Product sales are recorded net of any applicable allowances for sales returns, trade term
discounts, early pay discounts, government-related rebates, such as Medicaid, managed care discounts, vouchers,
coupons, patient assistance programs and other allowances. The Company estimates its deductions from product
sales at the time of sale based on a number of factors, including historical experience of Novartis and industry
knowledge updated for changes in facts, where appropriate. Prior to October 1, 2007, the Company had a
commercial collaboration profit-sharing arrangement with Novartis on Tyzeka® sales in the United States. In this
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IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

arrangement, the Company co-promoted Tyzeka® with Novartis in the United States, but the Company had primary
responsibility for U.S. commercialization. As a result, the Company recorded net product sales and related
production costs for the Company's U.S. commercial collaboration in the statement of operations on a gross basis
since the Company had the inventory and credit risk, and met the criteria as a principal in the transaction. The
Company recorded the U.S. commercial collaboration profit-sharing expense with Novartis as a reduction of
collaboration revenue-related party. '

In September 2007, the Company amended its Development Agreement with Novartis (Note 3} in which
Novartis assumed sole responsibility for product sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® on a worldwide basis beginning on
October 1, 2007. As a result, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company no longer recorded product sales
of Tyzeka®. .

Government Research Grant Revenue — Government research grants that provide for payments to the
Company for work performed are recognized as revenue when the retated expense is incurred and the Company
has obtained governmental approval to use the grant funds for these expenses.

Research and Development Expenses

All costs associated with internal research and development and external research and development services,
including pre-clinical and clinical trial studies are expensed as incurred. Research and development expenses
include costs for salaries, employee benefits, subcontractors, facility related expenses, depreciation, license fees
and stock-based compensation related to employees involved in the Company’s research and development.

Patents

All costs to secure and defend patents are expensed as incurred.

Share-Based Compensation

In December 2004, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB™) issued SFAS No. 123 (revised
2004) “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123(R)”). This Statement replaces SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for
Stock-Based Compensation,” and supersedes Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, or APB No. 25,
“Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees.” SFAS No. 123(R) requires share-based transactions for employees
and directors to be accounted for using a fair value based method thaf results in expense being recognized in the
Company's financial statements.

The Company adopted SFAS No. 123(R) an January 1, 2006, The Company applied the modified prospective
method at adoption in which stock compensation expense was determined based on fair value using the Black-
Scholes method at grant dates for stock options. Accordingly, financial statement amounts for the periods prior to
the adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), including the year ended December 31, 2005, have not been restated to reflect the
fair value method of expensing. Prior to January 1, 2006, the Company accounted for its stock-based awards to
employees and directors using the intrinsic method prescribed in APB No. 25 and related interpretations.

In November 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position FAS 123(R)-3, “Transition Election Related to
Accounting for Tax Effects of Share-based Payment Awards,” or FSP FAS 123(R)-3. In accordance with FSP
FAS 123(R)-3, entities can choose to follow either the transitional guidance of SFAS 123(R) or the alternative
transition method described in FSP FAS 123(R)-3. Effective in the fourth quarter of 2006, the Company elected to
adopt the alternative transition method for calculating the tax effects of stock-based compensation pursuant to
SFAS 123(R). The alternative transition method includes simplified methods to establish the beginning balance of
the additional paid-in capital pool, or APIC pool or windfall, related to the tax effects of employee stock-based
compensation, and to determine the subsequent impact on the APIC pool and consolidated statements of cash flows
of the tax effects of employee-stock based compensation awards that are outstanding upon adoption of
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IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC.
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Continued)

SFAS 123(R). The adoption of the alternative transition method resulted in no impact on the Company’s financial
statements.

The Company recognizes compensation expense for stock options granted to non-employees in accordance
. with the requirements of SFAS No. 123(R) and EITF Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments that Are
Issued ro Other than Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services” (“EITF 96-18").
EITF 96-18 requires such equity instruments to be recorded at their fair value at the measurement date, which is
generally the vesting date of the instruments. Therefore, the measurement of stock-based compensation is subject to
periodic adjustments as the underlying equity instruments vest.

Foreign Currency

The functional currencies of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries are the locat currency or the U.S. dollar.
When the functional currency of the foreign subsidiary is the local currency, assets and liabilities of the foreign
subsidiary are translated into U.S. dollars at the rates of exchange in effect at the end of the accounting period.
Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. Net gains and losses resulting
from foreign currency translation are included in other comprehensive loss which is a separate component of
stockholders’ equity. When the functional currency of the foreign subsidiary is the U.S. dollar, a combination of
current and historical exchange rates are used in remeasuring the local currency transactions of the foreign
subsidiary. Nonmonetary assets and liabilities, including equity, are remeasured using historical exchange rates.
Monetary assets and liabilities are remeasured at current exchange rates. Revenue and expense amounts are
remeasured using the average exchange rate for the period. Gains and losses resulting from foreign currency
remeasurements are included in the consolidated statement of operations. Net realized gains and losses from
foreign currency transactions are included in the consolidated statement of operations,

Income Taxes
a

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized based on the expected future tax consequences, using current
tax rates, of temporary differences between the financial statement carrying amounts and the income tax basis of
assets and liabilities. A valuation allowance is applied against any net deferred tax asset if, based on the weighted
available evidence, it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized (Note 14).
The Company records liabilities for tax contingencies if it is probable that the Company has incurred a tax liability
and the liability or the range of loss can be reasonably estimated.

In June 2006, the FASB published FASB Interpretation (“FIN”) No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertain Tax
Positions,” (“FIN No. 48™). FIN No. 48 requires that a tax position meet “a more likely than not” threshold for the
benefit of the uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements. This threshold is to be met
assuming that the tax authorities will examine the uncertain tax position. FIN No. 48 contains guidance with respect
to the measurement of the benefit that is recognized for an uncertain tax position, when that benefit should be
derecognized, and other matters. The Company adopted the provisions of FIN No. 48 effective January 1, 2007.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) 1s comprised of net loss and certain changes in stockholders’ equity that are
excluded from net loss. The Company includes foreign currency translation adjustments for subsidiaries in which
the functional currency is not the U.S. dollar and unrealized gains and losses on marketable securities in other
comprehensive income (loss). The consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity and comprehensive loss reflect
total comprehensive loss for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005.
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Net Income (Loss) per Commaon Share

The Company accounts for and discloses net income (loss) per common share in accordance with
SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Share” (“SFAS No. 128”). Under the provisions of SFAS No. 128, basic net
income (loss) per common share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders by
the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted net income {loss) per
comunon share is computed by dividing net income (loss) available to common stockholders by the weighted
average number of common shares and dilutive potential common shares then outstanding. Potential common
shares consist of common shares issuable upon the assumed exercise of outstanding stock options (using the
treasury stock method), issuance of contingently issuable shares subject to Novartis subscription rights (Note 3) and
restricted stock awards.

Segment Reporting

SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information™ (“SFAS No. 1317),
requires companies to report information about the annual financial statements of operating segments. It also
establishes standards for related disclosures about products and services, geographical areas and major customers.
Management of the Company, which uses consolidated financial information in determining how to allocate
resources and assess performance, has determined that it operates in only one reporiable segment.

3. Novartis Relationship
Overview

In May 2003, the Company entered into a collaboration with Novartis relating to the worldwide development
and commercialization of the Company’s product candidates. The collaboration includes the Development
Agreement.

In September 2007, the Company entered into the 2007 Amendment and the TSA. The 2007 Amendment and
TSA are effective as of October 1, 2007. Pursuant to the 2007 Amendment, the Company transferred to Novartis all
of its development, commercialization and manufacturing rights and obligations related to telbivudine, the
Company’s drug product for the treatment of hepatitis B virus (“HBV™), on a worldwide basis. Telbivudine is
marketed as Tyzeka® in the United States and as Sebivo® in the rest of the world. The Company will receive royalty
payments equal to a percentage of net sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, with such percentage increasing according to
specified tiers of net sales. The royalty percentage shall vary based upon the territory and the aggregate dollar
amount of net sales. Novanis is responsible for development and commercialization expenses relating to
telbivudine beginning on October 1, 2007. Novartis shall also be responsible for certain costs associated with
the transition of third party contracts and arrangements relating 1o telbivedine and any intellectual property
prosecution and enforcement activities. Pursuant to the TSA, the Company will provide Novartis with certain
services relating to telbivudine through June 2008 (or later if agreed to by the parties). The Company will be
reimbursed by Novartis for these services.

As part of the Development Agreement, Novartis paid the Company a license fee of $75,000,000 for its HBV
product and product candidate, Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and valtorcitabine, respectively, provided development funding
for Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and valtorcitabine and was obligated to make milestone payments which could have totaled
up to $35,000,000 upon the achievement of certain regulatory approvals, as well as additional commercial
milestone payments. Of these $35,000,000 in milestone payments, the Company received payment on two of these
regulatory milestones in 2007 totaling $20,000,000. One of these regulatory milestones for $10,000,000 was
achieved in the quarter ended March 31, 2007 with the regulatory approval of Sebivo® in China. The Company
recognized this regulatory milestone as collaboration revenue from related party during the quarter ended March 31,
2007 as the milestone was deemed to be substantive, The second regulatory milestone for $10,000,000 was
achieved in April 2007 with the regulatory approval of Sebivo® in the European Union. This milestone was deemed

1
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not to be substantive and the Company has included this milestone as part of the license fee and is being recorded as
collaboration revenue from related party over the remaining development period of the Company’s licensed product
candidates.

As part of the Development Agreement, Novartis also acquired an option to license the Company’s HCV and
other product candidates. In March 2006, Novartis exercised its option to license valopicitabine, the Company’s
lead HCV product candidate at that time. As a result, Novartis paid the Company a license fee of $25,000,000 in
March 2006 and provided development funding for valopicitabine. Under the development agreement, Novartis -
agreed to pay the Company up to $500,000,000 in additional license fees and regulatory milestone payments for an
HCYV product candidate. In July 2007, the Company announced that the FDA had placed on clinical hold in the
United States the Company’s development program of valopicitabine for the treatment of HCV based on the overall -
risk/benefit profile observed in clinical testing, The Company subsequently discontinued the development of
valopicitabine. As a result, the Company is not expected to receive any additional license fees or milestone '
payments for valopicitabine from Novartis.

Under the Development Agreement, the Company has granted Novartis an exclusive worldwide license to :
market and seli Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, valtorcitabine and valopicitabine, subject to the Company’s commercialization |
rights. The Company will grant Novartis similar licenses at a future amount to be determined with respect to any
other product candidates for which Novartis exercises its option to license. The Company initially retained the right
to co-promote or co-market licensed products in the United States, United Kingdom, France, Germany, Italy and
Spain. Under the 2007 Amendment, the Company transferred to Novartis all of its development, commercialization
and manufacturing rights and obligations related to telbivudine (Tyzeka®/Sebivo®) on a worldwide basis in
exchange for royalty payments equal to a percentage of net sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo®, with such percentage
increasing according to specified tiers of net sales. The royalty percentage will vary based upon the territory and the
aggregate dollar amount of net sales.

The Company is reimbursed by Novartis on a quarterly basis for expenses it incurs in connection with the
development and registration of its licensed products and product candidates. Effective October 1, 2007, Novartis is
solely responsible for clinical trial costs and related expenditures associated with telbivudine. The Company will be
reimbursed by Novartis for approved costs associated” with telbivudine for certain agreements that will be
transitioned to Novartis under the TSA. '

Simultaneously with the initial collaboration described above, Novartis purchased approximately 54% of the
Company’s outstanding capital stock from the Company’s then existing stockholders for $255,000,000 in cash, with
an additional aggregate amount of up to $357,000,000 contingently payable to these stockholders if the Company
achieves predetermined development milestones relating to an HCV product candidate. As of December 31, 2007,
Novartis owned approximately 56% of the Company’s cutstanding stock.

To date, the Company has received from Novartis a $25,000,000 license fee for valopicitabine, a $75,000,000
license fee for Tyzeka®/Sebivo® and valtorcitabine, offset by $75,000 in interest costs, and a $3,000,000
reimbursement for reacquiring product rights from Sumitomo to develop and commercialize Sebivo® in certain
markets in Asia. The Company included this reimbursement as part of the license fee for accounting purposes
because Novartis required the repurchase of these rights as a condition to entering into the Development
Agreement. The Company also incurred approximately $2,250,000 in costs associated with the development of
valopicitabine prior to Novartis licensing valopicitabine in March 2006 for which Novartis reimbursed the
Company. The Company has included the $10,000,000 milestone payment for the regulatory approval of Sebivo®
in the European Union as part of the license fee for accounting purposes as the milestone was deemed not to be
substantive, The sum of these non-refundable payments received from Novartis, totaling $117,175,000, has been
recorded as license fees and is being recognized over the development period of the licensed product candidates.

The Company reviews its assessment and judgment on a quarterly basis with respect to the expected duration
of the development period of its licensed product candidates. During the quarter ended December 31, 2007, the
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Company has estimated that the performance period during which the development of its licensed product and
product candidates will be completed is a period of appreximately ten and a half years following the effective date
of the Development Agreement that the Company entered into with Novartis, or December 2013. The Company is
recognizing revenue on the license fee payments over this period. If the estimated performance period changes, the
Company will adjust the periodic revenue that is being recognized and will record the remaining unrecognized
license fee payments over the remaining development period during which the Company’s performance obligations
will be completed. Significant judgments and estimates are involved in determining the estimated development
period and different assumptions could yield materially different results.

1

Stockholders® Agreement

In connection with Novartis™ purchase of stock from the Company’s stockholders, the Company, Novartis and
substantially all of the Company’s stockholders entered into a stockholders’ agreement which was amended and
restated in 2004 in connection with the Company’s initial public offering of its common stock (“Stockholders’
Apgreement”). The Stockholders” Agreement provides, among other things, that the Company will use its
easonable best efforts to nominate for election as a director at least two designees of Novartis for so long as
ovartis and its affiliates own at least 35% of the Company’s voting stock and at least one designee of Novartis for
so long as Novartis and its affitiates own at least 19.4% of the Company’s voting stock. As long as Novartis and its
affiliates continue to own at least 19.4% of the Company’s voting stock, Novartis will have approval rights over a
umber of corporate actions that the Company may take, including the authorization or issuance of additional
hares of capital stock and significant acquisitions and dispositions.

Subject to certain exceptions, Novartis and its affiliates have contractually agreed not to acquire prior to May &,
008, additional shares of the Company’s voting stock unless a majority of the independent board members waive
uch contractual provision. Acquisitions of the Company’s voting stock by exercise of Novartis’ stock purchase
ights under the Stockholders’ Agreement or acquisitions of voting stock to maintain a 51% ownership interest in
e Company’s fully diluted common stock, exclusive of any shares formerly held by Novartis BioVentures, Ltd.,
e specifically excepted from this restriction.

ovartis’ Stock Purchase Rights

Novartis has the right to purchase, at par value of $0.001 per share, such number of shares as is required to
aintain its percentage ownership of the Company’s voting stock if the Company issues shares of capital stock in
onnection with the acquisition or in-licensing of technology through the issuance of up to 5% of the Company’s
tock in any 24-month period. These purchase rights of Novartis remain in effect until the earlier of: a) the date that
ovartis and its affiliates own less than 19.4% of the Company’s voting stock; or b} the date that Novartis becomes
bligated to make the additional contingent payments of $357,000,000 to holders of the Company’s stock who sotd
shares to Novartis on May 8, 2003,

If the Company issues any shares of its capital stock, other than in certain situations, Novartis has the right to
urchase such number of shares required to maintain its percentage ownership of the Company’s voting stock for
¢ same consideration per share paid by others acquiring the Company’s stock. Upon the grant of options and stock
wards under stock incentive plans, with the exception of the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, the fair value of the
ompany’s common stock that would be issuable to Novartis, less the exercise price, if any payable by the option or
ward holder, is recorded as a reduction of the license fees associated with the Novartis collaboration. The amount
s attributed proportionately between cumulative revenue recognized through that date and the remaining amount of
eferred revenue. These amounts will be adjusted through the date that Novartis elects to purchase the shares to
aintain its percentage ownership based upon changes in the value of the Company’s common stock and in
ovartis’ percentage ownership. These adjustments will also be attributed proportionately between cumulative
evenue recognized through the final measurement date and the remaining deferred revenue.
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In connection with the closing of the Company’s initial public offering in July 2004, Novartis terminated a
common stock subscription right with respect to 1,399,106 shares of common stock issuable by the Company as a
result of the exercise of stock options granted after May 8, 2003 pursuant to the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan. In
exchange for Novartis’ termination of such right, the Company issued 1,100,000 shares of common stock to
Novartis for a purchase price of $0.001 per share. The fair value of these shares was determined to be $15,400,000 at
the time of issuance. As a result of the issuance of these shares, Novartis’ rights to purchase additional shares as a
result of future option grants and stock issuances under the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan are terminated, and no
additional adjustments to revenue and deferred revenue will be required. Prior to the termination of the stock
subscription rights under the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as the Company granted options that were subject to this
stock subscription right, the fair value of the Company’s common stock that would be issuable to Novartis, less par
value, was recorded as an adjustment of the license fee and payments received from Novartis. The Company
rernains subject to potential revenue adjustments with respect to grants of options and stock awards under its stock
incentive plans other than the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan.

As of December 31, 2007, Novartis stock subscription rights have reduced the license fees by an aggregate of
$15,643,000 which has been recorded to additional paid-in capital. Of this amount, $6,314,000 has been recorded as
deferred revenue as of December 31, 2007 with the remaining amount of $9,329,000 recorded as a reduction of
revenue.

Manufacturing and Packaging Agreements

In June 2006, after completing a competitive bid process where Novartis had the right to maich the best third-
party offer, the Company entered into a commercial manufacturing agreement (“Manufacturing Agreement”) with
Novartis and a packaging agreement (*Packaging Agreemem”) with Novartis Pharmaceuticals Corporation, an
affiliate of Novartis. Under the Manufacturing Agreement, Novartis would manufacture the commercial supply of
Tyzeka® that was intended for sale in the United States. The Packaging Agreement provided that the supply of
Tyzeka® intended for commercial sale in the United States will be packaged by Novartis Pharmaceuticals
Corporation.

As a result of the 2007 Amendment, the Manufacturing Agreement was terminated as it relates to telbivudine
and the Company will work with Novartis to terminate the Company’s rights and obligations to the Packaging
Agreement. Effective October 1, 2007, Novartis is solely responsible for the manufacture and supply of Tyzeka®/
Sebivo® on a worldwide basis. No penalties were incurred by the Company as a result of the termination.

Product Sales Arrangements

In connection with the Novartis license of product candidates under the Development Agreement, the
Company has retained the right to co-promote or co-market all licensed products in the United States,
United Kingdom, France, Germany, [taly and Spain. In the United States, the Company will act as the lead party
and record revenue from product sales and share equally the net benefit from co-promotion from the date of product
launch. In the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Italy and Spain, Novartis would act as the lead party, record
revenue from product sales and will share with the Company the net benefit from co-promotion and co-marketing.
The net benefit was defined as net product sales minus related cost of sales. The amount of the net benefit that would
be shared with the Company would start at 15% for the first 12-month period following the date of launch,
increasing to 30% for the second 12-month period following the date of taunch and 50% thereafter. In other
countries, the Company would effectively sell products to Novartis for their further sale to third parties. Novartis
would pay the Company for such products at a price that is determined under the terms the Company’s supply

- agreement with Novartis.

In October 2006, the Company received approval from the FDA to market its first product, Tyzeka®, in the
United States. The Company recognized $3,187,000 and $424,000 in net sales from Tyzeka® during the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively, after receiving FDA approval. Sebivo® also has been approved in a
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number of jurisdictions, including Switzerland, China, South Korea and Canada. There were no sales of Sebivo® in
territories outside of the United States during the year ended December 31, 2006.

In September 2007, the Company amended its Development Agreement with Novartis in which Novartis
assumed sole responsibility for product sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® on a worldwide basis beginning on October 1,
2007. As a result, beginning in the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company no longer recorded product sales of
Tyzeka®.

The Company recognized $617,000 in royalty income from Novartis’ sales of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® during the
year ended December 31, 2007.

4. Public Offerings of Common Stock
Public Offering of Common Stock
In October 2005, the Company completed a public offering in which:
¢ the Company issued and sold 7,278,020 shares of its common stock; and
* certain stockholders sold 942,507 shares of the Company’s commeon stock.

The net proceeds to the Company were approximately $145,400.,000, after deducting underwriting discounts
and commissions and offering expenses. Of the shares offered and sold by the Company, 3,939,131 shares were sold
to Novartis. In November 2005, the underwriters exercised the over allotment option associated with this offering
resulting in the sale by the selling stockholders of 1,130,387 additional shares of the Company’s common stock.
The Company did not receive any proceeds from the sale of shares by the selling stockholders.

5. Net L.oss Per Common Share

The following sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common share:

Years Ended December 31,
2007 2006 2005
(In thousands, except per share data)

Basic and diluted net loss per common share:

12 O T $(82,515) $(75,087) $(50,777)
Basic and diluted weighted average number of common shares

OUEStANding . . ... . e e 56,169 56,005 49,395
Basic and diluted net loss per common share. ... ................. $ (147 % (134 % (1.03)

The following common shares were excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per common share
ecause their effect was antidilutive:
Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
(In thousands)

OPHONS .« . e e 5712 4,387 3,584
Contingently issuable shares to related party ... .. .................. 790 77 26
Restricted SIOCK . . . .o i i i e e e e — — 11

Marketable Securities

The Company invests its excess cash with large U.S. based financial institutions and considers its investment
ortfolio and marketable securities available-for-sale as defined in SFAS No. 1135, “Accounting for Certain
nvestments in Debt and Equity Securities.” Accordingly, these marketable securities are recorded at fair value,
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which is based on quoted market prices. The fair values of available-for-sale investments by type of security,
contractual maturity and classification in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006 are as
follows:

December 31, 2007

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains Losses Market Value

(In thousands)

Type of security:

Money market funds. . ...... $21,702 5 — § — $21,702
Commercial paper. ......... 1,993 — — 1,993
Corporate debt securities. . . . . 56,361 15 (109 56,267
Municipal bonds . . ....... .. 1,990 — — 1,990
Auction rate securities. . .. ... 11,050 — — 11,050
Accrued interest . .. ... ... .. 763 - = 763

$93,859 $ 15 $(109) $93,765

December 31, 2006

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized
Amortized Cost Gains 1L.osses Market Value

(In thousands)

Type of security:

Money market funds.. ... ... $ 13,940 $ — $— $ 13,940
Commercial paper. ......... 5,988 — — 5,988
Corporate debt securities. . . . . 111,486 17 (53) 111,450
U.8. Treasury securities and

obligations of U.S.

government agencies . . .. .. 9,176 2 an 9,167
Taxable auction rate

securitieS. . . ............ 8,511 14 {(2) 8,523
Accrued interest .. ......... 1,371 — — 1.371

$150,472 $ 33 $(66) $150,439
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006
(In thousands)
Contractual maturity:

Maturing inone yearorless. ........ ... ... ... .. 569,883 $ 91,231
Maturing after one year through two years . ............. ... ... 4,490 16,310
Maturing after two years through ten years . . .................. 7,274 24,922
Maturing after ten years . . ... ... L e e e 12,118 17,976

$93,765 $150.439

Included in the table above are taxable auction rate securities, At December 31, 2007 and 2006, approximately
$11,050,000 and 38,511,000, respectively, of the Company’s investments in marketable securities were auction rate
securities. These auction rate securities consisted entirely of municipal debt securities, and were classified as long
term based on coniractual maturity. These investments were recorded at fair value, which approximates cost due to
their variable interest rates, which typically reset through an auction process every seven to 35 days. As of
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December 31, 2007, $8,700,000 of these municipal auction rate securities were rated AAA/Aaa with the remaining
$2,350,000 being rated Aa3/AA or better, by investments rating agencies. Despite the long-term nature of their stated
contractual maturities, the Company expects to have the ability to quickly liquidate these securities. In the event that a
future auction is not able to be completed due to sell orders exceeding buy orders, the Company may not have the
~ ability to quickly liquidate these investments. In the event that access to investments in these securities is necessary,
'~ the Company will not be abie to do so until a future auction is successful, the issuer redeems the cutstanding securities,
i a buyer is found outside the auction process, or the securities mature. For all of the Company’s auction rate securities

the underlying maturity date is in excess of one year and can be as far as 38 years in the future.

In mid-February 2008, certain of the Company’s municipal auction rate securities experienced a failed
auction. The Company’s investment portfolio included municipal auction rate securities of $11,050,000 as of
December 31, 2007. As of March 11, 2008, the Company had liquidated all but $4,000,000 of the Company’s
auction rate securities, of which $3,100,000 was held at December 31, 2007. The liquidation of these auction rate
securities did not result in any losses.

v

As of March 13, 2008, the fair value of cash and other investments held at Bear, Stearns Securities Corp., or
BSSC was $39,882,000. BSSC is a separately capitalized broker/dealer subsidiary of Bear, Stearns and Co. Inc., or
Bear Stearns. On March 14, 2008, Bear Stearns announced that it had received funding from outside parties,
including the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, for a limited period of time in order to manage an ongoing
deterioration of its liquidity position. The Company does not believe Bear Stearns’ liquidity position will affect its
access to or the fair value of its cash and other investments held at BSSC.

December 31, December 31,
2007 2006

(In thousands)

Classification in balance sheets: ‘ ‘

Cash equivalents ., . ... .. vt i it $30,021 $ 19,980
Marketable securities . .. ... ... ... .. o e 39,862 71,251
Marketable securities, non-current. . . . ... ... ottt 23,882 59,208

$93,765 $150,439

The cash equivalent amounts of $30,021,000 and $19,980,000 at December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively,
are included as part of cash and cash equivalents on the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company has
the ability to hold its marketable securities to their effective maturities.

7. Receivables from Related Party

Receivables from related party consist of the following:

December 31,
2007 2006
(In thousands)

Unbilled receivables from related party . . ...........oviiinnnn ... $11,196  $12,035

Unbilled receivables from related party represent amounts under collaborative arrangements in the normal
course of business for reimbursement of development, regulatory and marketing expenditures that have not been
billed at December 31, 2007 and 2006. The reimbursement of development and regulatory expenditures is billed
quarterly. All related party receivables are due from Novartis.
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8. Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment consists of the following:

Estimated
Uﬂf{: ! December 31,
(Years) 2007 2006
) (In thousands)
Office equipment. . ... ... ... .o oii i 5 $ 67 § 7l
Scientific equipment . . .. . ... . ... Lo 7 6,958 5,738
Computer equipment and software. . ... .. ...... ... . ... ... 2 3,787 4,005
Enterprise software . ... ... ... . . e 5 2,599 2,307
Office FUITIURE . . . . . . e e e e e e e e as 7 1,575 1,045
Trade showbooths .. ..... ... ... ... ... .. ... ... ... 2 — 382
Leasehold improvements . . ... ... ..ot * 11,043 7,540
CONSIrUCLION-TN-PIOZIESS « . .« o i v e et e et et e e e 60 3,944
26,089 25,632

Less — accumulated depreciation ........................ (10,629) (8,184)

$ 15460 $17448

* Shorter of asset life or lease term.

Depreciation and amortization expense related to property and equipment for the years ended December 31,
2007, 2006 and 2005 was $7,503,000, $3.463,000, and $2,066,000 respectively. Construction-in-progress consists
primarily of build-out costs of office and laboratory space and computer software projects.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, as a result of the Company's restructuring announced in September
2007, the Company accelerated depreciation expense of $2,792,000 on certain enterprise software assets that would
no longer be used following the transfer of commercialization and development activities to Novartis. The
Company also recorded an impairment charge of $2,113,000 during the year ended December 31, 2007 for certain
enterprise software assets that were recorded in construction-in-progress and which now will not be placed into
service as a resuit of the restructuring.

9. Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

2007 2006
(In thousands}
Research and development Contract COSIS ... .o vvvnven v ennonronerene- $ 2,050 $ 5502
Payroll and benefits ............. e e 4,23] 5,676
License fees . . .. i e e e e e 1,000 1,000
Professional fees. . ... ... i e e e e e 1,309 753
RESIUCIUIING . . . . oo e e e e et i e e et as 1,838 —
Accrued proposed seftlement amount .. ... ... .. ... .. 4,000 —
10711 =1 O 2,009 2,748

$16,437  $15,679
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Accrued license fees represent amounts owing to Microbiologica for the right to use certain manufacturing
technology and patents (Note 19).

The accrued restructuring liability represents costs associated with the Company’s announcement in Sep-
tember 2007 that it would restructure its operations with the transfer of development, commercialization and
manufacturing rights of telbivudine and obligations related to Novartis (Note 10).

10, Restructuring and Impairment Charges

On September 28, 2007, the Company announced a restructuring of its operations as a result of an agreement
with Novartis in which the Company would transfer to Novartis all development, commercialization and man-
ufacturing rights and obligations related to telbivudine (Tyzeka®Sebivo® ) on a worldwide basis effective
October 1, 2007. As a result, the Company entered into a plan to enact a workforce reduction of approximately
100 positions, the majority of which had supported the development and commercialization of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® in
the United States and Europe. The restructuring was a strategic decision on behalf of the Company to focus its

resources on its HCV and HIV discovery and development programs.

iabilit
Year Ended December 31,2007 ot Deeembar 31

I Charge Payments/Settlements 2007

| (In thousands}
Employee severance, benefits and related costs. ...  $6,492 $(4,654) - $1,838
Contract termination and other costs. .. ......... _ 139 (139 =
Total ... $6,631 $(4,793) $1,838

In connection with the restructuring, the Company recorded impairment charges of $2,113,000 in 2007 related
to enterprise software that was no longer needed with the transfer of telbivudine related commercialization and
development activities to Novartis.

11. Common Stock

Each share of common stock entitles the holder to one vote on all matters submitted to a vote of the Company’s
stockholders. Common stockholders are entitled to receive dividends, if any, as may be declared by the Board of
Directors.

In December 2005, the stockholders approved an amendment to the Company's restated certificate of
incorporation increasing the authorized number of shares of the Company’s capital stock from 60,000,000 shares
of common stock to 75,000,000 shares of common stock. The amendment to the Company’s restated certificate of
incorporation became effective in January 2006.

In May 2007, the stockholders approved an amendment to the Company’s restated certificate of incorporation
increasing the authorized number of shares of the Company’s capital stock from 75,000,000 shares of common
stock 1o 125,000,000 shares of common stock. The amendment to the Company’s restated certificate of incor-
poration became effective in June 2007,

Novartis and certain holders of the Company’s commeon stock are party to the Stockholders’ Agreement. The
terms of the stockholders’ agreement generally provide for registration rights in favor of Novartis and such other
stockholders and certain approval rights in favor of Novartis with respect to corporate actions that might be taken by
the Company.

12. Equity Incentive Plans and Share-Based Compensation

In May 1998, the Company adopted the 1998 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended (‘1998 Plan”), which
provides for the grant of incentive stack options, nonqualified stock options, stock awards and stock appreciation
rights. The Company initially reserved 1,468,966 shares of common stock for issuance pursuant to the 1998 Plan.
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‘The Company subsequently amended the 1998 Plan and reserved an additional 3,600,000 shares of common
stock for issuance under the 1998 Plan.

In July 2004, the Comipany adopted the 2004 Stock Incentive Plan (2004 Plan™). The 2004 Plan provided for
the grant of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance share
awards and restricted and unrestricted stock awards for the purchase of an aggregate of 800,000 shares of common
stock. '

In June 2005, the Company’s stockholders approved the 2005 Stock Incentive Plan (2005 Plan™). The 2005 '

Plan allows for the granting of incentive stock options, non-qualified stock options, stock appreciation rights,
performance share awards and restricted stock awards (“Awards™). The 2005 Plan, as approved by the Company’s

stockholders, provided for the authorization of Awards covering an aggregate of 2,200,000 shares of common stock .

plus 800,000 shares previously authorized for issuance under the 2004 Plan. In connection with the Company’s
public offering in October 2005, the Company’s Board of Directors reduced the number of shares of common stock
reserved for issuance under the 2005 Plan to 1,400,000 shares. In March 2006, the Company's Board of Directors
authorized the restoration of the reserve of 1,600,000 shares for issuance under the 2005 Plan. In May 2007, the
Company’s stockholders approved an amendment to the 2005 Plan increasing the number of shares of common
stock thereunder from 3,000,000 to 6,000,000 shares.

The equity incentive plans are administered by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors. The
Compensation Committce determines the type and term of each award, the award exercise or purchase price, if
applicable, the number of shares underlying each award granted and the rate at which each award becomes vested or
exercisable. Incentive stock options may be granted only to employees of the Company at an exercise price per
share of not less than the fair market value per share of common stock as determined by the Board of Directors on
the date of grant (not less than 110% of the fair market value in the case of holders of more than 10% of the
Company’s voting common stock) and with a term not to exceed ten years from date of grant (five years for
incentive stock options granted to holders of more than 10% of the Companys voting common stock). Nonqualified
stock options may be granted to any officer, employee, director, consultant or advisor at a per share exercise price in
such amount as the Compensation Committee may determine. The Compensation Committee may also grant
restricted stock and other stock-based awards on such terms and conditions as it may determine.
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The following table summarizes option activity under the equity incentive plans:

‘ Number of Number Weighted
Options Available of Options Average

' - for Future Grant Quistanding Exercise Price
" Outstanding, December 31, 2004, . .. .. . . R 749,258 3,161,790  $ 7.50
Granted ... ... ... . 1,167,750 $20.27
Exercised . .......... ... 0 {590,618 § 342
Cancelled . . .. oo (154,600)  $10.67
Outstanding, December 31,2005................ 338,608 3,584,322 $12.20
Granted ........ ... .. .., 1,373,187 $14.50
Exercised ... ...... ... .. i {263,804) $ 342
Cancelled . . ........ . . i ‘ (306,944) $17.84
Outstanding, December 31, 2006. . ........ D 869,869 4,386,761 $13.05
Granted ......... ... . . . . e 2,568,956 $ 5.19
Exercised ... ... ..ot (97,335) $ 2.09
Cancelled........... e e (1,145,593) $12.36
Outstanding, December 31,2007................ 2,446,506 5,712,289 $ 983
Exercisable, December 31,2006 . ... ............ 2,483,361 $11.16
Exercisable, December 31,2007 ................ 3,298,337 §11.78

The weighted average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005
was $2.83, $8.38 and $13.96, respectively. The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the years ended
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 was $710,000, $2,816,000 and $10,404,000, respectively. The intrinsic value
was calculated as the difference between the market value and the exercise price of the shares at the date of exercise.
The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options outstanding at December 31, 2007 and 2006 was $686,000 and
$4,288,000, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of stock options exercisable at December 31, 2007 and 2006
was $397,000 and $4,263,000, respectively. '

At December 31, 2007 the options vested and unvested expected to vest aggregated 4,959,854, At Decem-
ber 31, 2007, the weighted average exercise price was $10.39, the weighted average remaining contractual term was
7.5 years and the aggregate intrinsic value was $583,000 for these options.

As a result of adopting SFAS No. 123(R) on January 1, 2006, the Company’s net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2006 is $8,393,000 or $0.15 per share on a basic and diluted basis higher than if the Company had
continued to account for employee stock-based compensation expense under APB No. 25.

The following table shows stock-based compensation e;(pense as reflected in the Company’s consolidated
statements of operations:

Years Ended December 31,

2007 2006 2005
: {In thousands)
Research and development ... ....... ... ... ..... ........... $3,005 $2,892 § 722
Selling, general and administrative .. ......................... 4,758 5,745 666
Restructuring and impairment . . ... ... .. ... i 968 — —
Total stock-based compensation expense .. ................... $8,731 $8,637 $1,388
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The Company has an aggregate of $10,129,000 of stock compensation as of December 31, 2007 remaining to

be amortized over a weighted average expected term of 3.3 years. The weighted average remaining contractual term
of the options outstanding at December 31, 2007 is 7.76 years.

The assumptions used are as follows:
2007 2006 2005

Expected dividend yield. .. .. ...... ... o i — — —

Risk-TTee iNerest Fate. . . .o oottt e e o e et e et 435% 4.78% 3.94%
Expected option term (in Years) . ... ...t ni i 5.1 5.0 5.0
Expected volatility . . .. ... .. e 59.5% 63.0% 83.0%

|
|

No dividend yield was assumed as the Company does not pay dividends on its common stock. The risk-free !
interest rate is based on the yield of U.S. Treasury securities consistent with the expected life of the option. The -
expected option life and expected volatility were determined by examining the expected option life and expected
volatilities of similarly sized biotechnology companies as well as expected life and expected volatility of the
Company’s stock. |

Share-based compensation expense recognized in the consolidated statements of operations for the years
ended December 31, 2007 and 2006 is based on awards ultimately expected to vest and is reduced for estimated
forfeitures. SFAS No. 123(R) requires forfeitures 1o be estimated at the time of grant and revised, if necessary, in
subsequent periods as options vest, if actual forfeitures differ from those estimates. During the years ended
December 31, 2007 and 2006, because substantially all of the Company's stock option grants vest monthly, stock-
based employee compensation expense includes the actual impact of forfeitures. In the Company’s pro forma
information required under SFAS No. 123 for the periods prior to fiscal 2006, the Company accounted for
forfeitures as they occurred.

The following table illustrates the effect on net loss and net loss per share as if the Company had applied the
fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 to stock options for employees for the year ended December 31,
2005:

Year Ended
December 31, 2005

(In thousands,
except per share data}

Net 1055 —— 48 TEPOITEA. v\ v vt e e ettt e e $(50,777)
Add stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net

O8S o v i e e e e e e 1,388
Deduct stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based

MEtHOA . . .t e e e e (7,216)
Net 1055 — pro fOIma . ..ottt it e e e $(56,605)
Net loss per common share (basic and diluted)

ASTEPOTIEd . . . .t ittt e e e $ (1.03)

Pro fOrma . oot e e e e e (1.15)
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13. Commitments and Contingencies
Lease Arrangements

The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment under operating leases. The Company’s lease
arrangements have terms through the year 2017. Total rent expense under operating leases was approximately
$3,550,000, $2,688,000 and, $1,905,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
Future minimum payments under lease arrangements at December 31, 2007 are as follows:

Operating

Year Ending December 31, Leases
{Iln thousands)

2008 . . e e e e $ 3228
200 e e 3,332
2000 . e e e e e 2,322
00000 P 2,092
002,00 D 2,049
2013 and thereafter . . ... ... L e e 4,332

| oMl . L $17.355

‘ In October 2003, the Company entered into an operating lease commitment for office and laboratory space in
Cambridge, Massachusetts. The term of the lease is for ten years, expiring in December 2013. The lease agreement
provided for a landlord allowance of $1.561,000 to be paid to the Company to finance a portion of capital
improvements to the facility. This landlord allowance was recorded as deferred rent which is being amortized as a
reduction of rent over the ten-year lease term. In connection with this operating lease commitment, a commercial
| bank issued a letter of credit in October 2003 for $750,000 collateralized by cash held with that bank. The letter of
- credit expires in December 2013

In April 2005, the Company entered into a lease agreement for office and laboratory space in Montpellier,
France. The term of the lease is for 12 years, expiring in April 2017 but is cancellable by either party after six years.
The lease agreement also includes an option entitling the Company to purchase the building at any time after
April 16, 2011. The purchase option extends until the expiration of the lease term.

In June 2005, the Company entered into a lease agreement for additional office space in Cambridge,
Massachusetts, The Company entered into amendments to this lease agreement in July 2006 and September
2006 10 lease additional office space in the same building. The term of the lease for all office space being rented
under this lease agreement and its amendments expires in March 2010. The lease agreement also includes an option,
exercisable by the Company not later than nine months prior to the expiration of the initial term, to extend the term
of the lease for one additional 48-month period and with rights of first offer with respect to certain expansion space
on two of the floors that the Company occupies. The Company also has been provided allowances totaling
$1,211,000 to finance a portion of capital improvements to the facility. These allowances have been recorded as
deferred rent which is being amortized as a reduction of rent over the lease term. In connection with this operating
lease commitment, a commercial bank issued a letter of credit in May 2005 for $411,000 collateratized by cash we
have on deposit with that bank. The letter of credit expires in May 2008.

Legal Contingencies

Hepatitis C Product Candidates

In May 2004, the Company and, in an individual capacity, its Chief Executive Officer {(“CEQ"), entered into a
settlement agreement with UAB and its affiliate, UABREF, to resolve a dispute among these parties. In March 2004,
the Company and, in an individual capacity, its CEQ, filed a lawsuit against UABRF in the United States District
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Court, District of Massachusetts, seeking declaratory judgment regarding the Company’s ownership of inventions
and discoveries made during the period from November 1999 to November 2002 (“Leave Period”) by the CEO and
the Company’s ownership of patents and patent applications related to such inventions and discoveries. During the
Leave Period, while acting in the capacity of the Company’s Chief Scientific Officer, the CEO was on sabbatical
from November 1999 to November 2000 (“Sabbatical Period™) and then unpaid leave prior to resigning in
November 2002 from his position as a professor at UAB.

As a part of the settlement agreement, UAB and UABRF agreed that neither UAB nor UABRF has any right,
title or ownership interest in the inventions and discoveries made or reduced to practice during the Leave Period or
the related patents and patent applications. In exchange, the Company made a $2,000,000 payment to UABRF in
May 2004. The Company also dismissed the pending litigation and agreed to make certain future payments to
UABRE. These future payments consist of: (i) a $1,000,000 payment upon the receipt of regulatory approval to
market and sel] in the United States a product which relates to inventions and discoveries made by the CEO during
the Sabbatical Period; and (ii) payments in an amount equal to 0.5% of worldwide net sales of such products with a
minimum sales based payment to equal $12,000,000. The sales based payments (including the minimum amount)
are contingent upon the commercial launch of products that relate to inventions and discoveries made by the CEO
during the Sabbatical Period. The minimum amount is due within seven years after the later of the commercial -
launch in the United States or any of the United Kingdom, France, Germany, Italy or Spain, of a product that: (i) has |
within its approved product label a use for the treatment of HCV; and (i) relates to inventions and discoveries made
by the CEO during the Sabbatical Period, if sales based payments for such product have not then exceeded '
$12,000,000. At that time, the Company will be obligated to pay to UABREF the difference between the sales based
payments then paid to date for such product and $12,000,000. The Company has no amounts accrued or payable
under this settlement agreement at December 31, 2007 as the Company has had no sales of products relating to these
inventions and discoveries by the CEQ.

Hepatitis B Product

In addition to the Leave Period matter noted above, the Company was notified in January 2004, February 2005
and June 2005, that UABRF believes that patent applications which the Company has licensed from UABRF can be
amended to obtain broad patent claims that would generatly cover the method of using telbivudine to treat HBV. In
July 20035, UABRF filed this continuation patent application.

In February 2006, UABRF notified the Company that it and Emory University were asserting a claim, thatas a
result of filing a continuation patent application in July 2005 by UABRF, the UAB license agreement covers the
Company’s telbivudine technology and that the Company is obligated to pay to UABRF, Emory University and Le
Centre Nationale de la Recherché Scientifique (“CNRS™) (collectively, the “1998 licensors™) an aggregate of
$15,300,000, comprised of 20% of the $75,000,000 license fee that the Company received from Novartis in May
2003 in connection with the license of its HBV product candidates and a $300,000 payment in connection with the
submission to the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDXA’) of the investigational new drug application
(*IND") pursuant to which the Company conducted its clinical trials of telbivudine. The Company disagrees with
the assertion made by UABRF and Emory University and is actively defending against these assertions. Under the
terms of the license agreement, the dispute will be resolved by arbitration under the rule of the Amencan
Arbitration Association before a panel of three arbitrators if the parties are unable to reach agreement after a period
of negotiation and mediation. Pursuant to the terms of the dispute resolutions procedure in the UAB license
agreement, in September 2007 the CEOs of UABRF and the Company met and agreed to begin a mediation process.
Pursuant to the terms of the dispute resolution procedure in the UAB license agreement, in September 2007 the
Company’s CEO and the CEQ of UABRF met and agreed to begin a mediation process. While the parties
participated in a joint mediation session in January 2008, no resolution of these matters has yet been reached.
However, a non-binding settlement proposal has been discussed by the parties. Such settlement proposal remains
subject to several terms and conditions, including a full release of all claims by UABRF and related entities. The
Company does not believe that the matters disputed by UABRF and Emory University regarding the UAB Ilcense
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1greement will have any effect on either the cooperative agreement with CNRS and the University of Montpellier or
the technology licenses, including the license for tetbivudine, which have been granted to the Company pursuant 1o
the cooperative agreement.

However, if we do not settle these disputes and it is determined that the license agreement does cover the
Company’s telbivudine technology, the Company will become obligated to make payments to the 1998 licensors in
the amounts and manner specified in the license agreement. While the Company disputes the demands made by
UABREF, even if liability were found to exist, UABRF’s claims, in addition to those described above would likely
nrclude payments in the aggregate amount of $1,000,000 due upon achievement of certain regulatory milestones, a
5% royalty on annual sales up to $50,000,000 and a 3% royalty on annual sales greater than $50,000,000 made by
the Company or any affiliate of the Company. Additionally, if the Company sublicenses its rights to any entity other
than one which holds or controls at least 50% of its capital stock, or if Novartis' ownership interest in the Company
declines below 50% of the Company’s outstanding shares of capital stock, UABRF would likely contend that the
Company is obligated to pay lo the 1998 licensors 30% of all royalties received on sales by the sublicensee of
elbivudine and 20% of all fees, milestone payments and other cash consideration received from the sublicensee
with respect to telbivudine.

In January 2007, the Board of Trustees of the University of Alabama and related entities filed a complaint in
the United States District Court for the Northern District of Alabama, Southern Division against the Company,
CNRS and the University of Montpellier. The complaint alleges that a former employee of UAB is a co-inventor of
vertain patents in the United States and corresponding foreign patent applications related to the use of B-L-2'-
Jeoxy-nucieosides for the treatment of HBV assigned to one or more of the Company, CNRS and the University of
Montpellier and which cover the use of Tyzeka®/Sebivo® for the treatment of HBV, The University of Alabama has
ncluded a demand for damages under various theories in its complaint, but did not specify the amount of damages
hat it alleges to have incurred. In response to the complaint in March 2007, the Company filed a motion to dismiss

ased upon lack of personal jurisdiction. In September 2007, the parties agreed to stay the aclion and pursue
nediation relating to the disputes associated with the license agreement and this litigation. As a result of a joint
mediation session held in January 2008, a non-binding settlement has been proposed by the parties which could
otentially require the Company to make payments to UABRF and related entities. The Company has assessed this
eitlement proposal under the provisions of FAS 5, and recorded a related liability for the quarter ended

ecember 31, 2007. If the proposed settlement is not completed on terms acceptable to the Company, the
Company will resume its defense of these ¢laims, including through the litigation process. Accruals related to the
iettlement proposal may be adjusted in future periods if a settlement agreement is not reached. The Company
annot ascertain with certainty the likelihood this or any settlement proposal will be accepted by or entered into by
he parties, If the Company is not able to reach a settlement agreement with the parties, it will continue to vigorously
efend against claims made by UABRF and related entities.

ndemnification

The Company has agreed to indemnify Novartis and its affiliates against losses suffered as a result of any
reach of representations and warranties in the Development Agreement. Under the Development Agreement and
he stock purchase agreement (the “Stock Purchase Agreement”), the Company made numerous representations
nd warranties to Novartis regarding its HBV and HCV product candidates, including representations regarding the
ompany’s ownership of the inventions and discoveries described above. If one or more of the representations or
varranties were not true at the time they were made to Novartis, the Company would be in breach of one or both of
hese agreements. In the event of a breach by the Company, Novartis has the right to seek indemnification from the
“ompany and, under certain circumstances, the Company and its stockholders who sold shares 1o Novartis, which
nclude many of its directors and officers, for damages suffered by Novartis as a result of such breach. While it is
ossible that the Company may be required to make payments pursuant to the indemnification obligations it has
nder the Development Agreement, the Company cannot reasonably estimate the amount of such payments or the
ikelihood that such payments would be required.
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14. Income Taxes

The components of loss before income taxes and of income tax expense (benefit) for the years ended

December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005 are as follows;
2007 2006 2005
{In thousands)

Loss before income taxes

.S e e $(82,210)  $(61,877)  $(26,400)
FOTEIEN . ..ot i i 193 (14,355)  (25,091)
$(82,017) $(76,232) 3(51,491)
Income tax expense (benefit) A
Current
Federal — U.8 . ... .. i e S (257 $ 48 % —_
State— US. ... ... . .. e 176 135 51
Foreign .. ... ..o 579 (1,232) (765)
498 (1,145) (714)
Deferred
Federal — U.S . . . .t e e 3 — % — 3 —
State — ULS . .. e — — —
FOreign ... ... e e — — —
Total income tax expense (benefit) ................. $ 498 (1,145 $ (714) |
|

The Company’s recognized income tax expense (benefit) consists of amounts incurred by the Company and itsl_
U.S. and various foreign subsidiaries. The foreign income tax expense in 2007 was due to $1,400,000 of expensd
recorded as a result of re-assessing an uncertain tax position related to the Company’s international operations
offset by French research and development credits. The foreign income tax benefits in 2006 and 2005 were due ta
amounts that the Company’s French subsidiary has received or is expected to receive for certain research and
devetopment credits. Foreign subsidiaries performed services for the Company and are reimbursed for these costs,
plus a profit margin,

Under current laws of the Cayman Islands, there are no income or other Cayman Island taxes payable by the
Company, its Cayman Island subsidiary or the Company’s stockholders and therefore there are no Cayman Island
loss carryforwards available to offset future taxes. Since the domestication of the Company to the United States in
May 2002, losses incurred by the Company have been shared between the Company and its Cayman subsidiary.
with losses incurred in the United States available to offset future taxes. As a result of an election to treat the
Cayman subsidiary as part of the U.S. tax group, all losses incurred by the Cayman subsidiary after July 31, 200¢
will be attributed to the United States.
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The components of the Company’s net deferred taxes were as follows at December 31:

2007 2006
(In thousands)
Depreciation . ... ..... ...t e e -8 132§ (337
~ Development-contracts . . ... 1,909 2,740
Nonqualified stock options . . ... ... ... . 3,350 1,788
Deferred licensing income . .. ... ... i e 16,320 10,644
Accrued expenses and other .. ......... ...t it 3,586 1,244
Capitalized research costs. . ... .. ... ... . .. 28,842 32,986
Research and development credits. . .. ... .. ... . i, 5,555 5,555
Foreign tax credit carryforward . .. ... ... .. o oo ol 1,326 877
Net operating carryforwards . . ... ... ... .. i e 64,204 41,045
Valuation allowance . . ... ... i i e (125,224)  (96,542)
Deferred tax aSSL. . . v\ vttt it e e e e e $ — —

The Company’s effective income tax rate differs from the statutory federal income tax rate as follows:
2007 2006 2005

Federal statutory rate benefit . . ... ... ... . ... .. . i i (34Y% (34Y% (34)%
Foreign tax expense (benefit). . ... ... ... i i — () (2)
State tax benefit, net of federal benefit. . ... ... . ... ... ... L. 4y {10 (6)
PErMANENT BTN & . . o v e e e e e e e e e i 35 (a3
Foreign rate differentials .. ... ... ... .. e — 7 17
Valuation allowance . . ... ittt e 38 72 37
Effective INCOME BaX Tal8 . . . o v vttt e e e e e e e e e e e e e e 1% (D)% _(1)%

As of December 31, 2007, the Company had U.S. federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $156,000,000 and $187,000,000 respectively, which may be available to offset future federal and
state income tax liabilities. The federal net operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2022 and the state net
operating loss carryforwards begin to expire in 2008. The Company has foreign net operating loss carryforwards of
approximately $4,300,000, which have no expiration date. Approximately $7,400,000 of the net operating loss
carryforwards available for federal and state income tax purposes relate to exercises of employee stock options, the
tax benefit of which, if realized, will be credited to additional paid-in capital. The Company has federal and state tax
credits of approximately $4,622,000 and $2,759,000, respectively. The federal research and development credits
begin to expire in 2022, and the state credits begin to expire in 2016. The Company also has foreign tax credit
carryforwards of $1,326,000, which begin to expire in 2016.

During the year ended December 31, 2005, the Company filed elections with the Internal Revenue Service to
capitalize various research and development expenses incurred by the Company prior to its domestication in the
United States for tax years ending December 31, 1998 through May 30, 2002. The effect of these elections is that the
Company inherited tax basis as a result of its domestication transaction in May 2002 and is required to amortize
these costs over a ten year period. Included in the company’s net deferred 1ax assets is $4,370,000 relating to these
COsts.

During the year ended December 31, 2006, the Company filed an election with the Internal Revenue Service to
treat the Cayman Island subsidiary as a disregarded entity for tax purposes. The result of this election preduced a
taxable dividend in the amount of $31,963,000. Due to the size of the taxable loss in the current year, this dividend
did not create a tax liability for tax purposes. As a result of the election, approximately, $80,000,000 of tax basis
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relating to previously capitalized research costs carried over into the U.S. tax group. This increase is reflected in thq
capitalized research costs line of the net deferred taxes schedule.

As required by SFAS No. 109 “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS No. 109”) management of thg
Company has evaluated the positive and negative evidence bearing upon the realization of its deferred tax assets
which are comprised principally of net operating loss carryforwards, deferred licensing income, capitalized
research costs and research and development credit carryforwards. Management has determined that it is morg
likety than not that the Company will not realize the benefits of federal, state and foreign deferred tax assets and, ag
a result, a valuation allowance of $125,224,000 has been established at December 31, 2007.

Due to the extent of international transactions in which the Company is engaged, there is a risk that tax
authorities in the US or other jurisdictions in which the Company conducts business could challenge the nature o
these transactions, The Company periodically assesses its exposures related to the provision for income taxes anc
appropriately accrues taxes for contingencies that may result in potential tax obligations. The Company believes the
accruals are necessary to appropriately reflect tax obligations that may arise out of current and future audits. The
ultimate resolution of tax matters is unpredictable and could result in tax liabilities that differ significantly from the
amounts which have been provided by the Company.

Ownership changes, as defined in the Internal Revenue Code, may limit the amount of net operating loss
carryforwards that can be utilized annually 10 offset future taxable income. Subsequent ownership changes could
further affect the limitation in future years.

In June 2006, the FASB published FIN No. 48. This Interpretation seeks to reduce the significant diversity i
practice associated with recognition and measurement in the accounting for income taxes. It applies to all tax
positions reported in accordance with SFAS 109. FIN No. 48 requires that a tax position meet *‘a more likely thar
not” threshold for the benefit of the uncertain tax position to be recognized in the financial statements. This
threshold is to be met assuming that the tax authorities will examine the uncertain tax position. FIN No. 48 contains
guidance with respect to the measurement of the benefit that is recognized for an uncertain tax position, when tha
benefit should be derecognized, and other matters. The Company has adopted the provisions of FIN No. 48 effectivg
January 1, 2007.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows (in thousands):

Balance at Janvary 1,2007.............. e e e e e e $7934
Additicns based on tax positions related to the current perdod ................... L 459
Additions for tax positions of prior periods . . ... ... ... .. 1,324
Reductions for tax positions for closing of statute of limitations. . . .. ................ (6,877)
SetlemMENS . . ... e e s —
Balance at December 31, 2007 . . .. .t e e $ 2,840

The total amount of unrecognized tax benefits was $7,934,000 and $2,840,000 at January !, 2007 and
December 31, 2007, respectively. Of this amount, $1,416,000 will impact the effective tax rate if uttimately realized
and $1,424,000 would be offset be an increase in the valuation allowance on deferred tax assets. Upon adoption of
FIN No. 48, the Company has recorded an adjustment of $300,000 to decrease its opening retained earnings and
$7.400,000 as a reduction of gross deferred tax assets since the Company’s gross deferred tax assets have been
offset by a valuation allowance, this amount has not been reflected in the Company’s financial statements.

During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company re-assessed an uncertain tax position related to its inter-
national operations. As a result, the Company recorded $1,800,000 of expense associated with this uncertain tax
position including $1,280,000 associated with prior years which consisted of expense, interest and penalties. Of the
total charge recorded, $415,000 was classified in investment and other income, net consistent with the Company’s
policy for classification of interest and penalties. The Company determined that the amount related to prior years
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was not material to its 2007 results. If estimates related to this matter change, this amount may be adjusted
accordingly in future periods.

The open tax years by major jurisdiction are: (1) the yea'rs ended December 31, 2004 through 2006 for the
United States and (2) the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 for France.

During the year ended December 31, 2007, an uncertain tax position relating to the tax year ended
December 31, 2003 has been reversed due to the closing of the statute of limitations. The effect of this adjustment
was to increase the federal income tax benefit by $273,000 and increase the gross deferred tax assets by $6,600,000.'

As of January 1, 2007, the Company had accrued $343,000 of interest and penalties relating to uncertain tax
positions. During the fourth quarter of 2007, the Company accrued $415,000 of interest and penalties related to an
uncertain tax position, The Company accounts for interest and penalties related to its uncertain tax positions as part
of investment and other income, net. .

15. Employee Benefit Plans

The Company maintains a retirement savings plan under Section 401¢k}) of the Internal Revenue Code
(“401(k) Plan™). The 401(k) Plan allows participants to defer a portion of their annual compensation on a pre-tax
basis and covers substantially all U.S. employees of the Company who meet minimum age and service
requirements. :

Contributions to the 401(k) Plan may be made by the Company at the discretion of the Board of Directors. In
December 2006, the Board of Directors authorized a resolution requiring the Company to match 25% of employee
contributions up to 6% of participants” annual compensation beginning in 2007. The Company made contributions
totaling $213,000 to the 401(k) Plan in December 31, 2007.

The Company is required by statute to maintain a defined benefit plan for its employees in France. The
Company has recorded $205,000 in long-term obligations for the liability associated with this benefit plan.

16. Related Party Transactions

In connection with the Development Agreement entered into between the Company and Novartis, the
Company has generated revenues from Novartis from license payments and reimbursements of certain research and
development expenses in the amount of $64,751,000, $66,724,000 and $64,418,000 for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. All amounts included in receivables from related party at December 31,
2007 and 2006 are due from Novartis. The amount included in payables to related party of $939,000 to Novartis at
December 31, 2006 represents amounts owing to Novartis for markéting costs and profit-sharing arrangements in
connection with the Company’s collaboration with Novartis. The Company also included $50,233,000,
$53,961,000 and $38,784,000 in deferred revenue as of December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, relating
to license fees received from Novartis.

In connection ‘with the 2007 Amendment, the Company transferred its inventory of Tyzeka® (approximately
$836,000) and outstanding accounts receivable (approximately $744,000) to Novartis in October 2007. In
December 2007, Novartis paid the Company approximately $1,580,000 for the full value of the assets transferred.
Novartis has the right to recover any payment made to the Company for inventory that is not sold by Novartis before
its expiration date. At December 31, 2007, the Company believes that the inventory purchased by Novartis will be
sold prior to its expiration date. o

" Effective May 31, 2004 to June 7, 2005, the Company had on its board of directors a pariner in the law firm of
Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP. The Company retains Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP as
its corporate counsel. The Company incurred legal expenses of $120,000 during the year ended December 31, 2005
for services rendered by Wilmer Cutler Pickering Hale and Dorr LLP during the period in which such law firm
partner was on the Company’s Board of Directors. The partner is no longer on the Company’s Board of Directors.
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17. Segment Reporting

The Company operates in a single segment and has no organizational structure dictated by product lines,
geography or customer type. The following table presents total long-lived assets by geographic area as of]
December 31, 2007 and 2006:

2007 2006
(In thousands)
United SEAIES . . . . e e $11,530 $14,198
BUTOPE. ..o oot e FE S 3,930 3,250

$15460  $17,448

18. Licensing Agreements
UAB Research Foundation

In June 1998, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with UABRF pursuant to which the
Company acquired the rights to use and commercialize, including by means of sublicense, certain technology and
to make, use or sell licensed products. The agreement was subsequently amended in June 1998 and July 1999, The
Company made a nonrefundable $100,000 license fee payment to UABRF in 1998 which was recorded as research
and development expense.

The agreement requires the Company to make, for each significant disease indication for which licensed
technology is used, payments aggregating $1,300,000 if certain regulatory milestones are met. Of such amount,
two-thirds is payable in cash and one-third is payable in shares of the Company’s common stock. Additionally, i
commercialization is achieved for a licensed product, the Company will be required to pay a royalty with respect to
annual net sales of licensed products by the Company or an affiliate of the Company at the rate of 6% for net sales up
to $50,000,000 and at the rate of 3% for net sales in excess of $50,000,000. If the Company enters into a sublicense
arrangement with an entity other than one which controls at least 50% of the Companys capital stock, the Company
would be required to remit to UABRF 30% of all royalties received by the Company on sales of the licensed product
by the sublicensee. The Company is also required to pay to UABRF 20% of all license fees, milestone payments and
other cash consideration the Company receives from the sublicensee with respect to the licensed products. The
Company is required to reimburse UABRF for costs UABRF incurs in connection with the prosecution, main-
tenance and protection of patent applications and patents associated with the licensed technology.

19. Collaborative Agreements and Contracts
Le Centre National de la Recherche Scientifique and L’Universite Montpellier 11

Effective January 1, 1999, the Company entered into a Cooperative Agreement with Le Centre National de la
Recherche Scientifique (“*CNRS”) and L’ Universite Montpellier II (“University of Montpellier”) pursuant to which
the Company acquired a license to certain antiviral technology. The Company is required to make royalty payments
to the University of Montpellier upon commercialization of any products resuiting from the licensed technology,
which technology covers teibivudine among other things. The Company was also required to provide personnel and
is required to make payments to the University of Montpellier for supplies and improvement and use of the
facilities. The Company incurred expenses of approximatety $215,000 and $221,000 for the years ended
December 31, 2006 and 2003, respectively, in connection with this agreement. This agreement expired in
December 2006 but the Company retains rights to exploit the patents derived from the collaboration.

Universita di Cagliari

In January 1999, the Company entered into a Cooperative Antiviral Research Activity Agreement, as amended
with the Dipartimento di Biologia Sperimentale “Bernardo Loddo” dell’Universita di Cagliari (“University of
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Cagliari”) pursuant to which the Company acquired an exclusive license to certain antiviral technoiogy. The
Company is required to make royalty payments to the University of Cagliari upon commercialization of any
| products resulting from the licensed technology. The Company is also required to provide personnel and to make
| payments to the University of Cagliari for services rendered by the University of Cagliari and for use of its facility.

The term of this agreement extends through January 2011. The Company incurred expenses of approximately

$230,000, $267,000 and $122,000 for the years ended December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, in

connection with this agreement.

In December 2000, the Company and University of Cagliari also entered into a license agrecment pursuant to
which the Company was granted an exclusive license under certain patent rights resulting from specified research
activities. In May 2003, the Company, the University of Cagliari and Novartis entered into an amendment of these
agreements, pursuant to which Novartis was granted the right, under certain circumstances, to prosecute and
enforce patents resulting from the research activities, and to assume the Company’s rights under the agreement if
the agreement terminates due to an uncured breach of the agreement by the Company. In October 2005, the
Company and the University of Cagliari amended such agreements in a manner that will require certain payments to
the University of Caglian if the Company receives license fees or milestone payments in connection with a
sublicense by the Company of technology covered by the agreements between the University of Cagliari and the
Company. As a result of the license by Novartis of valopicitabine and the payment of a $25,000,000 license fee to
the Company (Note 3), the Company made a payment to the University of Cagliari in the amount of $250,000 in the
quarter ended June 30, 2006. The payment has been recorded as deferred license fees and is being amortized to
expense on a straight-line basis over the related development period.

Su‘mimmo Pharmaceuticals Co., Ltd.

The Company entered into collaborative agreements with Sumitomo Pharmaceuticals Co., Lid. (“Sumitomo™)
in 2001, in connection with the development and commercialization in the territories of lapan, the People’s
Republic of China (“China™), the Republic of China (“Taiwan™) and the Republic of Korea (“*South Korea”) of
telbivudine, a product candidate for the treatment of HBV infection at that time. In connection with this
arrangement, the Company and Sumitomo agreed to share certain direct third-party expenses of development
of telbivudine.

In March 2003, the Company entered into a final settlement agreement with Sumitomo under which the rights
to develop and commercialize telbivudine in Japan, China, South Korea and Taiwan previously granted to
Sumitomo were returned to the Company. This agreement with Sumitomo became effective upon consummation
of the Company’s collaboration with Novartis in May 2003. The Company repurchased these product rights for
$5,000,000 and as a result of this payment the Company reversed approximately $4,571,000 of revenue previously
recognized in original arrangements with Sumitomo with the remaining amount recorded as a reduction of deferred
revenue.

The Company also has recorded $4,272,000 included in deferred revenue on its consolidated balance sheet at
each of December 31, 2007 and 2006 representing amounts received from Sumitomo that have not been included in
revenue to date. The Company must pay an additional $5,000,000 to Sumitomo upon the first commercial sale of
telbivudine in Japan. This payment will be recorded first as a reduction of the remaining $4,272,000 of deferred
revenue, with the excess recorded as an expense. If regulatory approval is not received for telbivudine in Japan, the
Company would have no further obligations under the settlement agreement with Sumitomo and, therefore, the
$4,272,000 of remaining deferred revenue would be recognized as revenue at that time,

Microbiologica Quimica E Farmaceutica Ltda

In May 2003, the Company finalized an agreement with Microbioclogica Quimica E Farmaceutica Lida.
(“Microbiologica”) in which Microbiologica granted to the Company a license o use certain of Microbiologica’s
manufacturing technology and patents for the treatment of hepatitis B infection. The Company is obligated to pay
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Microbiologica $7,000,000 in total for this license. The Company is required to pay the license fee over a five-year
period commencing in January 2004 with a payment of $2,000,000 and continuing each year thereafter through
January 2009 with annual payments each in the amount of $1,000,000. Since there was no alternative use for this
technology, the net present value of these payments using an implied interest rate of 3.63% was approximately
$6,300,000 and was recorded as research and development expense during the year ended December 31, 2003, The
Company has a liability of $1,964,000 and $2,895,000 under this agreement as of Décember 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. '

Metabasis Therapeutics, Inc.

In October 2006, the Company entered into a two-year research collaboration agreement with Metabasis
Therapeutics, Inc. (“Metabasis”). Under the terms of the agreement, Metabasis’ proprietary liver-targeted tech-
nology was to be applied to certain of the Company’s compounds to develop second-generation nucleoside analog
product candidates for the treatment of HCV. As part of the agreement, the Company provided a $2,000,000 upfront
payment to Metabasis in November 2006 and would provide certain amounts of development funding. Including .
the upfront payment, the Company has incurred $1,299,000 and $2,110,000 in research and development expenses
related to this collaboration during the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006. If a lead candidate was identified, '
the Company would have assumed development responsibility and Metabasis would have been cligible to receive !
payments upon achievement of predetermined clinical development and regulatory milestones. For any resulting
marketed products, the Company would have retained full commercial rights and pay Metabasis a royalty based on
net sales of the product.

In July 2007, the Company notified Metabasis that it would exercise its option to terminate the research
collaboraticn on the first anniversary of the agreement in October 2007. Prior to the termination of the agreement,
Metabasis asserted that a certain scientific milestone was met and thus a $1,000,000 payment under the collab-
oration agreement came due. The Company does not agree with Metabasis’ assessment that the scientific milestone
has been met and therefore does not believe that it has any liability for this payment and has so notified Metabasis.

20. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

First Second Third Fourth Total
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter Year
(In thousands, except per share amounts)

2007
Total revenues . .........c.ouiiinnnnnn. $24806 $19,732 $10,888 $12,602 3 68,028
Total operating expenses. .. ................ 38,464 44,574 43,530 33,364 159,932
Netloss ... .o e (11,569)  (22,902) (30,549) (17,495) (82,515)
Basic and diluted net loss per commen share. . . . 0.21) 0.41) (0.54) (0.31) (147
2006 |
Total revenues .............cooiiiin..n. $ 13,111 $19313 $19,645 $15308 3 67,377 |
Total operating expenses. ... ............... 32,708 37,025 42,007 41,356 153,096
Netloss . .......... ... .. i, (17,182)  (14,609)  (19,715)  (23,581) (75,087);
Basic and diluted net loss per common share. . . . {0.31) (0.26) (0.35) 0.42) (1.34)|

21. Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, FASB Statement No. 157, "Fair Value Measurements,” (“SFAS No. 157") was issued.
This statement defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally accepted
accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”) and expands disclosures about fair value measurements.
This statement applies under other accounting pronouncements that require or permit fair value measurements, the
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FASB having previously concluded in those accounting pronouncements that fair value is the relevant measurement

attribute. Accordingly, this statement does not require any new fair value measurements. However, for some

entities, the application of this Statement will change current practice. The statement is effective for financial

statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and interim periods within those fiscal years

except for items that are recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least
“annually) which SFAS No. 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after
- November 15, 2008 and interim periods within those fiscal years. The Company is currently evaluating the
! impact, if any, that this standard will have on its financial statements.

‘ In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. FAS 157-2, “Effective Date of FASB Statement
' No. 157" or FSP FAS 157-2. ESP FAS 157-2 defers the effective date provision of SFAS 157 for certain non-
‘ financial assets and liabilities until fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008. The Company is currently
‘ evaluating the impact of adopting SFAS 157 on its financial statements.

‘ In February 2007, FASB Staternent No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial

- Liabilities” (“SFAS No. 159"} was issued. SFAS No. 159 includes an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115,

| “Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities” and permits entities (o choose, at specified

| election dates, to measure eligible items at fair value and requires unrealized gains and losses on items for which the

| fair value option has been elected to be reported in earnings. This Statement is effective for fiscal years beginning
after November 135, 2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, that this standard will have on its
financial statements.

In June 2007, EITF Issue No. 07-03, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance Payment for Goods and
Services Received for Use in Future Research and Development Activities” (“EITF 07-03"} was issued. EITF 07-03
provides guidance on whether nonrefundable advance payments for goods and services that will be used in research
and development activities should be expensed when the advance payment is made or when the research and
development activity has been performed. EITF 07-03 is effective for fiscal vears beginning after December 15,
2007. The Company is currently evaluating the impact, if any, that this standard will have on its financial
statements.

On December 12, 2007, EITF Issue No. 07-01, “Accounting for Collaborative Arrangements Related to the
Development and Commercialization of Intellectual Property”, or EITF (7-01, was issued. EITE- 07-01 prescribes
the accounting for collaborations. It requires certain transactions between collaborators to be recorded in the
income statement on either a gross or net basis within expenses when certain characteristics exist in the
collaboration relationship. EITF 07-01 is effective for all of the Company’s collaborations existing after January 1,
2009. The Company is evaluating the impact this standard will have on its financial statements.

107




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 3 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has
duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

IDENIX PHARMACEUTICALS, INC,

/s/  JEAN-PIERRE SOMMADOSSI

Jean-Pierre Sommadossi
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Date: March 14, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following

persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

{Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ RonaLb C. RENaAUD, JR. . Chief Financial Officer and Treasurer March 14, 2008

Ronald C. Renaud, Jr. {Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer)

fs/  CHARLES CRAMB - Director March 14, 2008
Charles Cramb

/s WaynE HOCKMEYER Director March 14, 2008
Wayne Hockmeyer

/s THomas HopGsoN Director March 14, 2008
Thomas Hodgson

fs/  NorMmaN Payvson Director March 14, 2008
Norman Payson

/s/  RoperT PELZER Director March 14, 2008
Robert Pelzer

fs/  Denise PoLLARD-KNIGHT Director March 14, 2008
Denise Pollard-Knight

- fs/  EmmanueL PUGINIER Director March 14, 2008

Emmanuel Puginier

/st PamMiELA THOMAS-GRAHAM Director March 14, 2008
Pamela Thomas-Graham
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2005 Stock Incentive Plan
2004 Siwock Incentive Plan
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Incentive Plan

Employment Agreement, dated as of
May 6, 2003, by and between the
Registrant and Jean-Pierre Sommadossi

Employment Agreement, dated July 28,
2003, by and between the Registrant and
Guy Macdonald
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Guy Macdonald
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Employment Letter, dated January 7,
2007, by and between the Registrant and
Douglas L. Mayers, M.D.
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by and between the Registrant and Ronald
C. Renaud, Jr.

Additional Exhibits

Subsidiaries of the Company

Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP,
an independent registered public
accounting firm

Certification of Chief Executive Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) of
the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

Certification of Chief Financial Officer
pursuant to Rule 13a-14{a)/15d-14(a) of

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended

Incorporated by Reference to

Form *

10-K for
12/31/2004

8-K
S-1 Amendment 2
5-1 Amendment 2

§-1

S-1

8-K

8-K

10-K for
12/31/2005

8-K

8-K

8-K
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SEC
Exhibit Filing File
No. Date Number

10.29 3/17/2005  000-49839
10.4 6/13/2005  000-49839
10.32 5/28/2004 333-111157
10.1 5/28/2004 333-111157
10.5 12/15/2003  333-111157
10.10 §2/15/2003 333-111157
10.3 9/8/2006  000-49839
10 .1 10/22/2007  000-49839
10.48 3/16/2006  000-49839
10.1 9/8/2006  000-49839
10.1 5/8/2007  000-49839
10.1 6/19/2007  000-49839




Incorporated by Reference to

SEC
Exhibit Exhibit Filing File
Number Description Form No. Date Number

*

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer *
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

* File herewith

# Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement filed as an exhibit to this report pursuant to
Items 15(a) and 15(c) of Form 10-K

+ Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions, which portions have been separately filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual seport contains “forward-logking statements” within the meaning of The Private Secunties Litigation Reform Act of 1995,
Such forward-looking statements ¢an be identified by the use of forward-looking terminology such as “expect,” “may,” “plans,”
“anticipates,” “preliminary.” “will,” or similar expressions, or by express or implied statements with respect to the company’s clinical
development programs or commercialization activities in HIV or hepatitis C, or any potential pipetine candidates and expectations
with respect {0 additional milestong payments, potential payments related to a settlement proposal, assessment of uncertain tax
positions and cash balances at the end of 2008. Such forward-looking statements invotve known and unknown risks, uncentainties
and other factors that may cause actual results to be materially different from any future resuits, performance or achievements
expressed ar imphied by such statements. There can be no guarantees that historical sales of Tyzeka/Sebivo will in any way suggest
future rovalty payments or royalty rates owed to the company, or that the company will advance any clinical product candidate or
other component of its potential pipeline to the clinic, to the regulatory process or to commercialization. in particular, management's
expeciations could be affacted by unexpected regulatory actions or delays; uncertainties relating to, or unsuccessful resufts of,
clinical trials, including additional data relating to the ongeing clinical trials evaluating its product candidates; the company’s
ability 10 obtain additional funding required to conduct its research, development and commercialization activities; the comparny’s
dependance on its collaboration with Novartis Pharma AG; changes in the company’s business plan or objectives; the ability of the
company to attract and retain qualified personnel; competition in general; and the company’s ability to obtain, maintain and enforce
patent and other intelectual property protection for its product candidates and its discoveries. These and other risks which may
impact management’s expectations are described in greater detall under the caption “Risk Factors” in the company’s annual report
on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 as Hled with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) and other filings
that the company makes with the SEC.

Information contained within the stockhoider information section of this repart 15 as of March 31, 2008.
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